Microparticles Derived from Stimulation of Human Umbilical Endothelium

Dissertation submitted by Elzette le Roux in accordance with the requirements for the degree MMedSc.

Supervisor: Prof SM Meiring

Miss E le Roux Department of Haematology and Cell Biology, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of the Free State Bloemfontein

Associated Professor and Head of Research, Co-supervisor: Prof MJ Coetzee Head of Department of Heamatology and Cell Biology Department of Haematology and Cell Biology, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of the Free State Bloemfontein

UNIVERSITY OF THE FREE STATE UNIVERSITEIT VAN DIE VRYSTAAT YUNIVESITHI YA FREISTATA



DECLARATION

This dissertation is submitted for obtaining an MMedSc degree in Molecular Biology. I declare that this dissertation and study was submitted and performed independently by myself and has not been previously submitted or published for any other degree at the University of the Free State. I also declare that there were no conflicts of interests throughout the performance of the study. The copyright of this dissertation belongs to the University of the Free State.

Elzette le Roux

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my study leader, Professor Meiring, for all the support, guidance, opportunities and motivation throughout my studies. It is very much appreciated. Thank you to the department of Haematology and Cell Biology for the wonderful facilities, helpful staff and for the opportunity to embark on my studies at the University of the Free State. Special thanks to Ms C Du Randt for the assistance and support with the flow cytometry, as well as to the friendly staff at the University of the Witwatersrand and the opportunity to use of the facilities there. Thank you to my parents, my family and friends for keeping me motivated throughout the challenges during my studies, it is a privilege to have such a great support system. I truly appreciate all the encouragement and guidance from everybody. All thanks go to God for the inspiration and every opportunity that made this possible.

"The most inconsequential to man can have the most momentous impact. It is the small things in life that are often underestimated, overlooked or disregarded that make the biggest differences."

"Humans habitually envisage themselves as part of the bigger things in life. It is the bigger things in life that are sometimes very small..."

"Indeed, You have made my days *as* handbreadths, And my age *is* as nothing before You; Certainly every man at his best state *is* but vapor. Selah"

Psalm 39:5 (King James Bible)

CONTENTS:

| | Page |
|---|------|
| Declaration | I |
| Acknowledgements | II |
| Contents | III |
| Abbreviation list | IV |
| List of figures and tables | V |
| i List of figures | V |
| ii List of tables | VI |
| 1 Introduction | 1 |
| 2 Literature Review | 2 |
| 2.1 Introduction to microparticles | 2 |
| 2.2 Origin of microparticles | 2 |
| 2.2a Sources of microparticles | 2 |
| 2.2b Conditions for microparticle formation | 2 |
| 2.2c Microparticle formation | 3 |
| 2.2d Endothelial microparticle formation upon stimulation | 5 |
| 2.2e Contents of endothelial microparticles | 6 |

Contents

| 2.3 The role of endothelial microparticles in inflammation | 8 |
|---|----|
| 2.3a The role of interleukin-6 in inflammation, thrombosis and microparticle formation | 11 |
| 2.3b The role of interleukin-8 in inflammation, thrombosis and microparticle formation | 12 |
| 2.3c The role of tumour necrosis factor alpha in inflammation, thrombosis and microparticle formation | 13 |
| 2.4 Endothelial microparticles in haemostasis and thrombosis | 15 |
| 2.4a The role of tissue factor in inflammation, thrombosis and microparticle formation | 16 |
| 2.4b The role of thrombin in inflammation, thrombosis and microparticle formation | 17 |
| 2.5 Microparticle-associated thrombotic disorders | 22 |
| 3 Aim and objectives | 24 |
| 4 Materials and methodology | 25 |
| 4.1 Procedure outline | 25 |
| 4.2 Cell cultures | 26 |
| 4.2a Coating of Petri dishes | 26 |
| 4.2b Cell culturing | 26 |
| 4.2c Subculturing | 27 |

Contents

| 4.3 Stimulation of endothelial cells | 27 |
|--|----|
| 4.4 Quantification of endothelial microparticles | 29 |
| 4.5 Von Willebrand factor antigen levels in microparticles | 32 |
| 4.6 ADAMTS-13 antigen levels in microparticles | 33 |
| 4.7 Microparticle-dependent thrombin generation assay | 33 |
| 4.8 Von Willebrand factor multimer analysis | 34 |
| 4.9 Statistical analysis | 36 |
| 5 Results | 37 |
| 5.1 Quantification of microparticles | 37 |
| 5.2 Endothelial microparticle von Willebrand factor antigen levels | 38 |
| 5.3 Endothelial microparticle ADAMTS-13 antigen levels | 39 |
| 5.4 Thrombin generation of endothelial microparticles | 41 |
| 5.5 Multimeric analysis of endothelial microparticles | 44 |
| 6 Discussion | 47 |
| 6.1 Human umbilical vein endothelial cells | 47 |
| 6.2 Microparticle isolation | 48 |
| 6.3 Inflammatory stimuli | 49 |
| 6.3a Interleukin-6 | 49 |
| 6.3b Tumour necrosis factor alpha and interleukin-8 | 50 |

| 6.4 Coagulation stimuli | 51 |
|---------------------------------------|----|
| 6.4a Tissue factor | 51 |
| 6.4b Thrombin | 52 |
| 6.5 Combination stimuli | 53 |
| 6.5.1 Combinations with thrombin | 54 |
| 6.5.2 Combinations with tissue factor | 55 |
| 7 Conclusion | 57 |
| 8 Future studies | 58 |
| 9 Abstract | 60 |
| 10 Opsomming | 62 |
| 11 References | 64 |
| 12 Addendum | 88 |

ABBREVIATION LIST

| ADAMTS-13 | A Disintegrin and Metalloprotease with Thrombospondin Type 1 Motif Number 13 | |
|--------------|---|--|
| ADAMTS-13:Ag | ADAMTS-13 Antigen | |
| APC | Activated Protein C | |
| ATP | Adenosine Triphosphate | |
| AUC | Area Under the Curve | |
| DAF | Decay-Accelerating factor | |
| DNA | Deoxyribonucleic Acid | |
| eNOS | Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase | |
| EPC | Endothelial Protein C | |
| EPCR | Endothelial Protein C Receptor | |
| ER | Endoplasmic Reticulum | |
| ERG | E-Twenty Six (ETS) Related Gene | |
| FIX | Factor IX | |
| FVa | Activated Factor V | |
| FVII | Factor VII | |
| FVIIa | Activated Factor VII | |
| FVIII | Factor VIII | |
| FVIIIa | Activated Factor VIII | |
| FX | Factor X | |
| FXa | Activated Factor X | |
| FBS | Foetal Bovine Serum | |
| HRP | Horseradish Peroxidase | |
| HUVEC | Human Umbilical Vein Endothelial Cells | |

| ICAM-1 | Intercellular Cell Adhesion Molecule-1 | | |
|----------|--|--|--|
| IL-1β | Interleukin-1β | | |
| IL-6 | Interleukin-6 | | |
| IL-8 | Interleukin-8 | | |
| iNOS | Inducible Nitric Oxide Synthase | | |
| JNK | C-Jun NH2 Terminal Kinase | | |
| LSGS | Low Serum Growth Supplement | | |
| МАРК | Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase | | |
| mRNA | Messenger RNA | | |
| miRNA | Micro RNA | | |
| MMP | Matrix Metalloproteinases | | |
| NF-κβ | Nuclear Factor κβ | | |
| NO | Nitric Oxide | | |
| OPD | Ortho-phynylenediamine | | |
| P13K/AKT | Phosphatidylinositol-3-Kinase and Protein Kinase B | | |
| PAI | Plasminogen Activator Inhibitor | | |
| PAR | Protease-Activated Receptor | | |
| PBS | Phosphate Buffered Saline | | |
| PC | Phosphtidylcholine | | |
| PE | Phosphatidylethanolamine | | |
| PECAM-1 | Platelet Endothelial Cell Adhesion Molecule-1 | | |
| PMT | Photomultiplier Tube | | |
| PS | Phosphatidylserine | | |
| RIP-1 | Receptor-Interacting Protein | | |
| rRNA | Ribosomal RNA | | |
| RNA | Ribonucleic Acid | | |
| | | | |

| ROCK | Rho-Associated Coiled-Coil Forming Kinase |
|---------|---|
| ROS | Reactive Oxygen Species |
| S | Sphingomyelin |
| STAT | Signal Transducers and Activators of Transcription |
| TAFI | Thrombin-Activatable Fibrinolysis Inhibitor |
| TGA | Thrombin Generation Assay |
| TF | Tissue Factor |
| TFPI | Tissue Factor Pathway Inhibitor |
| ТМ | Thrombomodulin |
| TNF-α | Tumour Necrosis Factor Alpha |
| TRADD | Tumour Necrosis Factor Receptor-1 Associated Death Domain Protein |
| TRAF | Tumour Necrosis Factor Receptor-Associated Factor |
| TRAIL | Tumour Necrosis Factor- α -Related Apoptosis-Inducing Ligand |
| TRAIL-R | TRAIL Receptor |
| TTP | Thrombotic Thrombocytopenic Purpura |
| ULVWF | Ultra-Large Von Willebrand Factor |
| uPA | Urokinase-Type Plasminogen Activator |
| uPAR | Urokinase-Type Plasminogen Activator Receptor |
| VCAM-1 | Vascular Cell Adhesion Molecule-1 |
| VEGF | Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor |
| VEGFR | Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Receptor |
| VWF | Von Willebrand Factor |
| VWF:Ag | VWF Antigen |

LIST OF TABLES AND FIGURES

| List of Figures | | Page |
|-----------------|--|------|
| Figure 1a | An illustration of a resting cell undergoing membrane remodelling in order to form a microparticle | 4 |
| Figure 1b | An illustration of an activated cell undergoing membrane remodelling and microparticle formation | 5 |
| Figure 2 | The role of endothelial microparticles in inflammatory and coagulatory processes and the different factors involved | 9 |
| Figure 3 | The effect of thrombin/thrombomodulin on the coagulation and fibrinolytic cascades | 18 |
| Figure 4a | An FL-1 vs.SS dot plot to illustrate the different bead regions for 0,5 μ m(A), 0,9 μ m(B) and 3 μ m (C) beads | 30 |
| Figure 4b | An illustration of the count histogram for 0,5µm (E) beads | 31 |
| Figure 4c | An illustration of the dot plot for the 0,9µm (F) beads and the region of interest (G) for gating and microparticle quantification | 31 |
| Figure 5 | Percentage increase/decrease in relative microparticle numbers after different treatments of HUVEC (mean +/- standard deviation) | 37 |
| Figure 6 | Percentage increase/decrease in microparticle VWF:Ag levels after different treatments of HUVEC (mean +/- standard deviation) | 38 |

| Figure 7 | Percentage increase/decrease in microparticle ADAMTS-13:Ag levels after different treatments of HUVEC (mean +/- standard deviation) | 40 |
|-----------|---|----|
| Figure 8a | Endothelial microparticle thrombin generation of TNF- α -treated HUVEC | 42 |
| Figure 8b | Endothelial microparticle thrombin generation of thrombin and TNF- α -treated HUVEC | 43 |
| Figure 8c | Endothelial microparticle thrombin generation of TF- treated HUVEC | 43 |
| Figure 8d | Endothelial microparticle thrombin generation of TNF- α -and TF-treated HUVEC | 44 |
| Figure 9a | Endothelial microparticle VWF multimeric analysis after different treatment of HUVEC | 45 |
| Figure 9b | Endothelial microparticle VWF multimeric analysis after different combined treatments | 46 |

List of Tables

| Table 1 | A summary of proteins/factors expressed by endothelial- derived microparticles and its association with different cellular processes. | 7 |
|---------|--|----|
| Table 2 | Statistical significance of the mean relative increase/decrease (%) in microparticle numbers after the different treatments | 37 |
| Table 3 | Statistical significance of the mean increase/decrease in microparticle von Willebrand factor antigen levels after the different treatments | 39 |
| Table 4 | Statistical significance of the mean increase/decrease in microparticle ADAMTS-13 antigen levels after the different treatments | 41 |
| Table 5 | Peak thrombin concentrations and AUC of thrombin generated by endothelial microparticles after treatment with inflammatory and coagulation stimuli | 42 |

1 INTRODUCTION

Microparticles are currently a very novel and exciting field of haemostasis research and may be implemented as a treatment or as diagnostic agents in the near future. There is still a lot to be learned about the role of microparticles in inflammatory and thrombotic disorders. Microparticles are formed from a variety of cells. Endothelial dysfunction is proposed as one of the main triggers of aberrant endothelial microparticle formation.

Conditions such as inflammation and thrombosis alter endothelial microparticle formation. Therefore, inflammatory or cardiovascular disorders such as sepsis, atherosclerosis and thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura may also alter microparticle formation. It is unfortunately not yet clear whether these endothelial microparticles are the consequence or the cause of these disorders.

The processes of inflammation and thrombosis are closely related. Inflammatory cytokines and coagulation stimuli activate endothelial microparticle formation. They also influence protein secretion of endothelial cells and of endothelial microparticles. A protein that plays a role in both these conditions is von Willebrand factor (VWF), the endothelium's first defence against bleeding. Endothelial microparticles can carry VWF. The composition and function of the microparticles that form can vary according to the concentration and differences in stimuli on the cell.

In order to understand the role of endothelial microparticles in inflammation and thrombosis better, we designed a study to investigate the effect of the cytokines interleukin-6 (IL-6), interleukin-8 (IL-8) and tumour necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α) and coagulation stimuli, tissue factor and thrombin (also different combinations thereof) on endothelial microparticle formation and on the secretion of VWF and its regulating protease, ADAMTS-13 (A Disintegrin and Metalloprotease with Thrombospondin Type 1 Motif Number 13) by endothelial microparticles.

2 LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Introduction to microparticles

Microparticles were first described in 1967 by Wolf as "platelet dust". Today, microparticles can be defined as vesicles formed by the incarceration and release of plasma membranes due to internal cellular processes. The diameter of microparticles range between 100 nm and 1 μ m (Dignat-George & Boulanger, 2011). While there are no concise definitions for microparticles, cell-released particles with a diameter of >1,5 μ m that are formed during the later stages of apoptosis are described as apoptotic bodies and particles between 40 nm and 100 nm are known as exosomes. Cells create and store these exosomes to release upon stimuli or sometimes without activation (Boulanger *et al.*, 2006). In this chapter, the origin of microparticles will be described and thereafter the roles of microparticles in inflammation and thrombosis.

2.2 Origin of microparticles

2.2a Sources of microparticles

Microparticles originate from apoptotic, inflamed, thrombotic, activated, injured or senescent platelets, red blood cells, white blood cells, endothelial cells, and smooth muscle cells (Burnier *et al.*, 2009, Orozco & Lewis., 2010). The originating cell of a microparticle determines the membrane antigen composition of the microparticle (Dignat-George, 2008, Nomura *et al.*, 2008, Peterson *et al.*, 2008). Environmental conditions in and around the cell of origin may also contribute to the composition of microparticles formed (Benameur *et al.*, 2009, Dignat-George & Boulanger, 2011).

2.2b Conditions for microparticle formation

Microparticles are formed from activated cells in both normal and pathophysiological states (Navasiolava *et al.*, 2010, Dignat-George & Boulanger, 2011). Factors that are responsible for a difference in characteristics and number of microparticle formation include shear stress, pathophysiological conditions, inflammatory and coagulatory environments. For example, increased numbers of prothrombotic microparticles are formed under inflammatory and coagulatory conditions (Freyssinet & Toti, 2010, Ramkhelawon *et al.*, 2009). Antithrombotic

agents (Sulodexide, Enoxaparin and protein C), on the other hand, stimulate the release of microparticles rich in anticoagulant proteins. These microparticles also contain reduced amounts of the thrombotic tissue factor (TF) (Pérez-Casal *et al.*, 2005, Pérez-Casal *et al.*, 2011, Adiguzel *et al.*, 2009). Microparticle formation can also occur without cellular stimulation, for example, during cell death (Burnier *et al.*, 2009, Dignat-George & Boulanger, 2011). The next section describes how microparticles are formed.

2.2c Microparticle formation

Microparticle formation is induced by the process of membrane remodelling. Microparticles are formed by a flip (blebbing) in the cell membrane. The precise mechanism of microparticle formation is still being debated (Combes et al., 1999, Shet, 2008, Morel et al., 2011, Zhang et al., 2011). Studying membrane remodelling brought about important discoveries in microparticle formation. Before membrane reorganisation, the inner membrane layer of cells usually consists of phosphatidylethanolamine (PE) and phosphatidylserine (PS) and the outer membrane layer of phosphatidylcholine (PC) and sphingomyelin (S) among other phospholipids (Seigneuret et al., 1984). Figures 1a and 1b illustrate the process of microparticle formation. The three-lipid transport proteins play an important part in transportation of phospholipids across the bilayer of the cell membrane. These are the calcium-dependent scramblase (in- and outward transportation), the phosphatidylserine (PS) specific Mg-ATP dependent flippase/aminophospholipid translocase (inward transportation) and the Mg-ATP dependent floppase (outward transportation, Manno et al., 2002, Daleke, 2003, Boulanger et al., 2006, Doeuvre et al., 2009, Smith, 2009). Throughout the literature these proteins are referred to as scramblase, flippase, and floppase.

Under normal resting conditions, phospholipids within eukaryotic cell membranes are asymmetrically distributed (Manno *et al.*, 2002). Activation signals on cells cause an increase in the release of calcium from the endoplasmic reticulum (ER). This leads to structural changes of the membrane (Hugel *et al.*, 2005, Chironi *et al.*, 2009). The increase of intracellular calcium activates the scramblase and floppase enzymes and downregulates the flippase enzyme activity. This leads again to a loss in membrane asymmetry (Daleke, 2003, Hugel *et al.*, 2005, Doeuvre *et al.*, 2009, Smith, 2009, Bevers & Williamson, 2010). Elevated intracellular calcium levels, calcium influx and calcium released from the inside of the cell further results in the release of cystein proteases (Fox *et al.*, 1991, Piccin *et al.*, 2007). Cystein proteases, such as calpain, activates integrins which leads to modification and reorganisation of actin filaments and membrane blebbing that subsequently leads to

microparticle formation (Fox *et al.,* 1991, Cunningham, 1995, Huot *et al.,* 1998, Combes *et al.,* 1999, Keller *et al.,* 2002, , Osborne, 2004, Wang *et al.,* 2005, Biro, 2008).

After the processes of membrane remodelling and blebbing, the once negatively charged inside layer that contained amino phospholipids like PS and PE is then exposed to the external environment due to the activity of phospholipid transport proteins scramblase, flippase and floppase activity. The negatively charged membrane layer and the composition of these microparticles that are formed suggest some important functions thereof (Urbanija *et al.,* 2007). This mechanism is proposed for platelet and erythrocyte microparticle formation (Weerheim *et al.,* 2002, Nguyen, 2010). This specific membrane remodelling mechanism for endothelial microparticle formation is still unclear (Leroyer *et al.,* 2010, Dignat-George & Boulanger, 2011).



Figure 1a An illustration of a resting cell undergoing membrane remodelling in order to form a microparticle

Phosphatidylcholine (PC) and Sphingomyelin (S) in a resting cell are usually found predominantly on the outer membrane layer, whereas phosphatidylserine (PS) and phosphatidylethanolamine (PE) are more commonly found on the inner membrane layer. Flippase is only one of the lipid transport proteins involved in retaining membrane asymmetry by inward transportation of PS.



Figure 1b An illustration of an activated cell undergoing membrane remodelling and microparticle formation

After membrane remodelling the inner membrane that was rich in negatively charged PS is now on the outside and membrane asymmetry is lost by the working of the transport proteins, flippase, floppase, and scramblase. Calcium influx from the ER and increased intracellular calcium levels are induced, which subsequently activates calpain. This protein mediates cleavage and modification of the actin filaments and rearrangement of the cytoskeleton, which leads to blebbing of the cell membrane and subsequent microparticle formation. Raft-like structures on the membrane are specific organisations of lipids in a certain domain of a cell or microparticle and are involved in signalling (Adapted from Hugel *et al.*, 2005, López *et al.*, 2005, and Piccin *et al.*, 2007)

2.2d Endothelial microparticle formation upon stimulation

Stimulation of cells is the most common cause of microparticle formation (Freyssinet & Toti, 2010). Thrombin is a potent stimulator of cells and is also the key enzyme in blood coagulation. It stimulates the phosphorylation of the enzyme focal adhesion kinase p125 that is responsible for membrane remodelling and detachment (Schaphorst *et al.*, 1997). Besides this, thrombin also activates the Rho-kinase enzymes (ROCK-II – Rho-Associated Coiled-Coil Forming Kinase – 2, Sapet *et al.*, 2006). These enzymes have pleiotropic properties that may cause cell death or cell survival under different circumstances. Cellular interactions between different participating cell types and substances in the cellular environment cause differential expression and regulation of ROCK enzymes. Rho-Associated Coiled-Coil Forming Kinases (ROCK) can induce cell survival mechanisms.

ROCK can also initiate apoptosis via both caspase dependent or independent ways in endothelial microparticle formation (Street & Bryan, 2011).

TNF-α also stimulates the formation of human umbilical vein endothelial microparticles. Caspases and calpain play important parts in this process. They are involved in the activation of Rho-kinase enzymes during apoptosis (Petrache *et al.*, 2001, Tramontano *et al.*, 2004, Lippens *et al.*, 2005, Sapet *et al.*, 2006, Gonçalves *et al.*, 2009). Calpain also activates caspases in this process and induces apoptosis (Vindis *et al.*, 2005, Smith & Schnellmann, 2012). For example, high numbers of microparticles derived from human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC) are formed by caspase 3-mediated apoptosis (Hussein, 2008).

Shear stress may have different influences on endothelial microparticle formation (Ramkhelawon *et al.*, 2009). Shear stress mediates the crosslinking of α-actin and F-actin, which can lead to both hardening and softening of the cytoskeleton (Xu *et al.*, 2000). The role that shear stress plays in endothelial microparticle formation is still unknown. Calpain also participates in cytoskeletal changes, which can lead to endothelial cell shape changes and the formation of microparticles (Osborne, 2004, Boulanger *et al.*, 2006, Flaumenhaft, 2006, Piccin *et al.*, 2007, Chironi *et al.*, 2009, Ramkhelawon *et al.*, 2009). Shear stress can also activate calpain that is involved in membrane remodelling (Kang *et al.*, 2011).

One of the most important functions of this exposure of negatively charged PS is its interaction with antithrombotic proteins like thrombomodulin (TM) and protein C and procoagulatory factors like factor VII (FVII). Hereby PS can catalyse coagulation and suppress or promote thrombosis (Chattergee *et al.*, 2010, Danese *et al.*, 2010). Microparticle membrane composition specifically influences microparticle clearance. There is still much to be learned about microparticle contents and clearance (Woywodt *et al.*, 2008, Serda *et al.*, 2009, Gregory & Pound, 2011).

2.2e Contents of endothelial microparticles

Microparticles express a variety of proteins. Endothelial microparticles contain inflammatory proteins such as platelet endothelial cell adhesion molecule-1 (PECAM-1, Hussein *et al.*, 2003), vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1, Vince *et al.*, 2009), intercellular cell adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1, Simoncini *et al.*, 2009) and E-selectin (Yong *et al.*, 2013). It also express the TM receptor (Combes *et al.*, 1999) as well as tissue factor (TF, Shet *et al.*, 2003), von Willebrand factor (VWF, ^aJimenez *et al.*, 2003), and activated protein C (APC,

Pérez-Casal *et al.*, 2009). Endothelial microparticles also contain matrix metalloproteinases (MMP) that may regulate angiogenesis (Taraboletti *et al.*, 2002, Pisetsky *et al.* 2011). It also contains proteins that regulate endothelial function such as endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS, Deregibus *et al.*, 2007, Dignat-George & Boulanger, 2011), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF, Leroyer *et al.*, 2009), endoglin (Bakouboula *et al.*, 2007), and reactive oxygen species (ROS, Deregibus *et al.*, 2007). Microparticles are also responsible for expression of increased amounts of the vasodilatory factors, inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), and endothelin after infusion into chicken lungs (Hamal *et al.*, 2009, Ait-Oufella *et al.*, 2010). Nitric oxide (NO) with its vasodilatory properties plays an imperative part in vascular haemostasis. It is also involved in the pathophysiology of inflammatory disorders with increasing shear and blockage of arterioles (Hamal *et al.*, 2009, Ait-Oufella *et al.*, 2010).

Other important factors that are expressed by endothelial microparticles include endoglin and VEGF. These factors mediate the signalling for proliferation and angiogenesis respectively (Bakouboula *et al.*, 2007, Leroyer *et al.*, 2009). Table 1 is a summary of different proteins or factors that are expressed by endothelial microparticles in different processes and shows the endothelial microparticle-derived proteins and factors involved in normal functioning of endothelial cells.

Table 1 A summary of proteins/factors expressed by endothelial-derived microparticles and its association with different cellular processes

| Process mediated by endothelial microparticle-derived protein | Endothelial function | Adhesion | Remodelling and/or fibrinolysis | Coagu- lation | Cell survival |
|--|-------------------------|------------|------------------------------------|------------------|------------------|
| | eNOS | PECAM-1 | uPAR | TF | APC |
| Protein carried by | ROS | VCAM-1 | uPA | ТМ | EPCR |
| microparticles | Endoglin | ICAM-1 | MMP | EPC | |
| | VEGF | E-Selectin | T-cadherin | PS | |
| | | | VE-cadherin | VWF | |

(Adapted from Leroyer et al., 2010 and Dignat-George & Boulanger, 2011)

Endothelial microparticles contain nuclear material such as mRNA for transcription factors like OCT-4 (Ratajczak *et al.,* 2006). Endothelial microparticles can also carry specific

subsets of mRNA, which can be transfered to human microvascular endothelial cells in order to induce expression of eNOS and activation of the phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase (P13K/Akt) signalling pathway. This process activates and mediates angiogenesis (Deregibus *et al.*, 2007, Leroyer *et al.*, 2009). Microparticles also contain rRNA, DNA (Pisetsky *et al.*, 2011), and specific subtypes of microRNAs (miRNA), which differs from the miRNA expression of the parent cell. These miRNAs may be involved in gene regulation (Diehl *et al.*, 2012). It has been shown that miRNA from HUVEC mediates angiogenic pathways and suppresses the regulatory proteins of VEGF in diabetes mellitus type 2 patients. This evidence illustrates the probability that endothelial microparticles play an important part in regulation of protein expression of cells by miRNA transfer (Zampetaki *et al.*, 2010).

2.3 The role of endothelial microparticles in inflammation

Inflammatory responses are usually initiated by proteins called cytokines. Chemokines, cytokines, and tumour necrosis factors (TNF) and other proteins are all classified as cytokines. The word cytokine is self-explanatory [*cyto* (cell) and *kinin* (hormones)] and literally means cellular hormones, a term that was first used by Stanley Cohen in 1974 (Tayal & Kalra, 2008). Cytokines interact with or activate cells and cause inflammatory responses. Cytokines are regulatory pleiotropic proteins (Tayal & Kalra, 2008, Sprague & Khalil, 2009). TNF- α , IL-6 and IL-8 are examples of cytokines with inflammatory and thrombotic properties (Bernardo *et al.,* 2004, Maya *et al.,* 2008, Sprague & Khalil, 2009, Montoro-García *et al.,* 2011). These three cytokines were therefore used in this study.

The next sections explain the possible role that endothelial microparticles play in inflammation and thrombosis. The different proteins that may play a part in endothelial microparticle-induced inflammation and thrombosis are shown in Figure 2.



Figure 2 The role of endothelial microparticles in inflammatory and coagulatory processes and the different factors involved

Endothelial microparticles express adhesion molecules, the key factors involved in inflammation. These include E-selectin, VCAM-1 and ICAM-1. These adhesion molecules mediate the recruitment and activation of granulocytes, monocytes and lymphocytes during inflammatory processes (Perrot-Applanat et al., 2011). These factors also increase neutrophil adhesion to endothelial cells and the rolling and transmigration of leukocytes with endothelial cells (Suarez et al., 2010, Rossaint et al., 2011). The expression of these adhesion molecules on the surface of endothelial cells are increased upon activation of the endothelium. TNF- α , viruses, and various antibodies activate endothelial cells (Shen *et al.*, 1997, Lawson & Wolf, 2009). The adhesion protein ICAM-1 mediates adhesion of leukocytes to endothelial cells and increases intracellular calcium levels. This has implications for microparticle formation. The increased intracellular calcium levels together with the increased adhesion potential of cells and microparticles lead to amplified inflammatory or coagulatory responses (Etienne-Manneville et al., 2000, Lawson & Wolf, 2009, Leroyer et al., 2010). Adhesion molecules like VCAM-1 and ICAM-1 are also involved in the pathophysiology of inflammatory-related atherosclerosis (EI-Solh et al., 2002).

PECAM-1 (CD31) is referred to as a "scaffold" protein of endothelial cells and is a marker for vascular integrity (Müller *et al.,* 2002). Increased PECAM-1 expression on the endothelium

inhibits apoptosis. During apoptosis PECAM-1 is cleaved into two parts, namely soluble PECAM-1, and a PECAM-1 cytoplasmic tail. The soluble form of PECAM-1 in the circulation inhibits inflammation and trans-endothelial migration and is thus anti-inflammatory. The remaining cleaved PECAM-1 cytoplasmic tail exhibits inflammatory properties (Ilan & Madri, 2003, O'Brien *et al.*, 2003, Privatsky *et al.*, 2010). PECAM-1 therefore has inflammatory and anti-inflammatory properties.

Compared to the binding characteristics of inflammatory markers, E-selectin is used as a reliable marker to detect inflammation in the endothelium under shear stress conditions (Jefferson *et al.,* 2010). TNF- α increases E-selectin expression on HUVEC. E-selectin expression is also increased in sepsis (Fina *et al.,* 1990, Sun *et al.,* 2013).

Microparticles can also secrete inflammatory mediators, such as chemokines and cytokines like interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β), or induce secretion of these factors in other cells. For example, cultured human microvascular dermal endothelial-derived microparticles induce IL-6 and IL-8 secretion in plasma of cytoid dendritic cells (Ardoin *et al.*, 2007, Angelot *et al.* 2009, Mause & Weber, 2010,). Cytokines also serve as an activation signal for increased microparticle formation and increase the binding activity of platelets to endothelial cells by increasing the expression of certain selectins on endothelial cells (Bernardo *et al.*, 2004, Karahan *et al.*, 2005, Boulanger *et al.*, 2006).

Endothelial microparticles also express cadherins, which are proteins involved in adhesion and signal transduction pathways. Examples of them are T-cadherin and VE-cadherin. Both T-cadherin and VE-cadherin are involved in signalling of proliferation and angiogenesis. Tcadherin is also involved in protection of endothelial cells by signalling for cell survival before oxidative stress-induced apoptosis and VE-cadherin plays an important part in cell permeability (Koga *et al.*, 2005, Vestweber, 2008, Philipova *et al.*, 2009, Philipova *et al.*, 2011).

Microparticles can also induce inflammatory responses via activation of the complement system (Distler *et al.*, 2006). All these processes amplify inflammatory responses (Ardoin *et al.*, 2007, Mause & Weber, 2010). The three cytokines that were used in this study were IL-6, IL-8, and TNF- α . The roles thereof in inflammation, thrombosis, and microparticle formation are discussed in the next 3 sections.

2.3a The role of interleukin-6 in inflammation, thrombosis and microparticle formation

The cytokine IL-6 causes differentiation of B and T cells (Finck *et al.*, 1994). The effect of IL-6 is dependent on its binding to its receptor. The IL-6 receptor is either membrane-bound or soluble (Jones *et al.*, 2001, Fonseca *et al.*, 2009).

After activation of inflammation, IL-6 acts as an amplifier of the inflammatory response by its ability to increase expression of adhesion molecules like ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 in stimulated endothelial cells (Wassmer *et al.*, 2011). IL-6 is also proposed as a marker for acute inflammatory responses since it is markedly increased in patients with high risk of myocardial infarction (Fonseca *et al.*, 2009). Another example of this is the increased IL-6 levels in patients with cerebral malaria (Wassmer *et al.*, 2011). IL-6 levels also correlate with the amount of endothelial microparticles in healthy individuals (^bChirinos *et al.*, 2005, Curtis *et al.*, 2009).

IL-6 furthermore amplifies thrombotic processes under certain circumstances. This may be due to the ability of receptor-bound IL-6 to increase ultra-large von Willebrand factor (ULVWF) expression in HUVEC (Bernardo *et al.*, 2004). IL-6 needs to bind to its soluble receptor in order to activate the process of cell signalling (Scheller & Rose-John, 2006; Barnes *et al.*, 2011). Despite the fact that IL-6 does not always induce an increase in VWF in endothelial cells, it has the ability to inhibit the disentegrin-like and metalloprotease with thrombospondin type 1 motif number 13 (ADAMTS-13), the protease involved in regulating the size of ULVWF multimers in whole blood (Bernardo *et al.*, 2004).

The inflammatory, anti-inflammatory and cytoprotective effects of IL-6 are also not yet clear (Waxman *et al.*, 2003). IL-6 may have different dose-dependent properties. The amount of glycoprotein receptors on the cell, to which IL-6 in combination with its receptor bind, may also determine the cellular response (Kallen, 2002). IL-6 thus may play a part in inducing increased levels of VWF. This reaction is mediated by increased activity of STAT-3 (a signal transducer and activator of transcription). In a study with IL-6 knockout mice it was proven that VWF positive cells were decreased (Gertz *et al.*, 2012).

Mice treated with IL-6 also showed increased FVIIIa activity (Mutlu *et al.*, 2007). Treatment of endothelial cells with IL-6 not only increases alternatively spliced TF (a soluble form of TF) but also decreases tissue factor pathway inhibitor (TFPI, Szotowski *et al.*, 2005). Both IL-6 and IL-8 induced an increase in monocytic TF expression (Neumann *et al.*, 1997). TF and

IL-6 are also useful markers in the prognosis of thrombotic events and the outcome for patients with congestive heart failure (Chin *et al.*, 2003). IL-6 induces acute inflammatory responses and is commonly elevated in disorders like acute kidney injury and unstable angina (Heinrich *et al.*, 1990, Nechemia-Arbely *et al.*, 2007, Awan *et al.*, 2008, Dennen *et al.*, 2010).

2.3b The role of interleukin-8 in inflammation, thrombosis and microparticle formation

IL-8, also known as neutrophil chemotactic factor, is a potent recruiter of granulocytes and monocytes to sites of inflammation (Yoshimura *et al.*, 1987, Apostolakis *et al.*, 2009). IL-8 is either bound to endothelial cells during inflammation or circulates in a soluble form. IL-8 is further known for its involvement in leukocyte-endothelial-mediated inflammatory responses. This chemokine mediates the rolling and adhesion of leukocytes to endothelial cells, a process that is supported by VWF (Chauhan *et al.*, 2008). Moreover, the ERG (E-twenty six (ETS) related gene) involved in regulating the transcription of VWF, ICAM-2 and VE-cadherin genes also mediates IL-8-induced neutrophil adhesion. In this process ERG induces inhibition of inflammation by suppressing the genes involved. The ERG expression is thus decreased in inflammatory conditions (Yuan *et al.*, 2009).

IL-8 is only co-localised with VWF in Weibel-Palade bodies after stimulation of HUVEC with inflammatory stimuli like interleukin-1 (IL-1), IL-1 β , TNF- α and lipopolysaccharide (Utgaard et al., 1998, Wolff et al., 1998, Schraufstatter et al., 2001). This chemokine is present in unstimulated HUVEC Weibel-Palade bodies (Wolff et al., 1998). IL-8, unlike other cytokines, is known for its prolonged survival and functionality and is stable for days or weeks after an inflammatory response (Apostolakis et al., 2009). When HUVEC are stimulated by various interleukins, IL-8 is immediately released from the Golgi, even after the stimulus had been retracted. IL-8 is stored in Weibel-Palade bodies, but is not secreted from these bodies until the cells are stimulated for a second time. In this way, the Weibel-Palade bodies may enable instant secretion of IL-8 and VWF upon the second stimuli as needed in inflammation (Wolff et al, 1998). IL-8 is further involved in different signalling reactions between cells. For example, IL-8 is involved in leukocyte-endothelial and neutrophil-endothelial interactions under shear stress conditions. Activated endothelial cells express adhesion molecules like E-selectin, P-selectin and ICAM-1, which are necessary for leukocyte and neutrophil IL-8 forms tighter adhesions between leukocytes and/or neutrophils and adhesion. endothelial cells by increasing the avidity (through activation of integrins) of the bonds between these cells (Lorenzon et al., 1998, Furuta et al., 2000, DiVietro et al., 2001,

McIntyre *et al.*, 2003). IL-8 also increases the expression of the adhesion molecules E-selectin and ICAM-1 in HUVEC (Yoon *et al.*, 2010). It thus recruits and activates monocytes, granulocytes and neutrophils involved in inflammatory responses (Apostolakis *et al.*, 2009).

Overall, conditions of increased stress, like endurance running and oxidative stress, not only increase the expression of inflammatory cytokines but also the production of ROS. IL-8, TNF-α, and IL-6 also induce an increase in ROS. ROS are involved in acute immune responses and therefore high ROS levels and IL-8 levels are associated with endothelial dysfunction and increased permeability (Fehrenbach *et al.*, 2000, Lum & Roebuck, 2001, Gallová *et al.*, 2004, Laskowska *et al.*, 2007). Increased permeability of endothelial cells may be a contributing factor to an increase in intracellular calcium and possibly to microparticle formation (Liu & Schnellmann, 2003, Laskowska *et al.*, 2007). No mechanism for IL-8-induced microparticle formation has been described.

IL-8 increases the permeability of endothelial cells by activating vascular endothelial growth factor receptors (VEGFR – independent of VEGF – Van Nieuw Amerongen *et al.,* 1998, Liu & Schnellmann, 2003, Petreaca *et al.,* 2007). IL-8 also plays an important role in membrane remodelling and induces apoptosis via signalling that leads to caspase activation. The overall apoptotic and inflammatory mechanisms of IL-8-derived microparticle formation are still unknown (Govindaraju *et al.,* 2006, Gangadharan *et al.,* 2010).

The effect of IL-8 on endothelial cells influences the haemostatic process in different ways. Numerous studies illustrate that increased IL-8 levels may be associated with an increase in VWF levels (Velzing-Aarts *et al.*, 2002, Xiaoyong *et al.*, 2002, Bernardo *et al.* 2004, Qian *et al.*, 2011). Stimulation of HUVEC with IL-8 increased the expression of ULVWF significantly (Bernardo *et al.*, 2004). The effect of high IL-8 concentrations on ADAMTS-13 *in vitro* is still not known. In studies on pre-eclamptic patients with increased IL-8 levels, it was found that ADAMTS-13 levels were decreased (Sharma *et al.*, 2007, Stepanian *et al.*, 2011).

2.3c The role of tumour necrosis factor alpha in inflammation, thrombosis and microparticle formation

TNF- α was the first agent used to mediate HUVEC microparticle formation. These microparticles had prothrombotic but also inflammatory potential (Combes *et al.*, 1999, Bradley, 2008). Increased TNF- α levels and microparticle levels have been found in sepsis, atherosclerosis, and rheumatoid arthiritis as well as in thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura

(TTP, ^aJimenez *et al.*, 2003, Montoro-García *et al.*, 2011). Endothelial dysfunction and inflammation also correlate with increased TNF- α expression (Zhang *et al.*, 2010).

The inflammatory response of TNF- α is well described and involves its binding to Tumour Necrosis Factor Receptor 1 (TNFR-1) or Tumour Necrosis Factor Receptor 2 (TNFR-2). Tumour Necrosis Factor Receptor 1 activates nuclear factor $\kappa\beta$ (NF- $\kappa\beta$) while TNFR-2 activates either Activator Protein-1 (AP-1) or NF- $\kappa\beta$ (Pober, 2002). The exact mechanism whereby TNF- α induces endothelial microparticle formation in these inflammatory responses is still unknown (Dignat-George & Boulanger, 2011). Protease-activated receptor-2 (PAR-2) activation induces TF expressing endothelial microparticle release upon TNF- α stimulation (PAR-2, Collier & Ettelaie, 2011). TNF- α also mediates inflammatory endothelial microparticle formation through the P38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway (Curtis *et al.*, 2009).

More than 70 proteins are expressed by microparticles from TNF- α -stimulated cells. Some of these proteins may induce inflammatory and pro-coagulatory responses. Interestingly, copine-3 is representative of the the copine family of proteins found in endothelial microparticles (Creutz *et al.*, 1998, Peterson *et al.*, 2008). VWF is one of the proteins that are modulated by TNF- α . TNF- α stimulates the release of ULVWF from endothelial cells. It also induces an increase in the release of the high molecular weight VWF (Bernardo *et al.*, 2004). In a study done by Cao *et al.*, (2008) TNF- α did not necessarily affect ULVWF secretion but it caused a reduction in the synthesis of regulatory protease ADAMTS-13. Nevertheless, stimulation by TNF- α still causes a prothrombotic state.

Another mechanism by which TNF- α induces prothrombotic responses is to stimulate endothelial cells to increase TF expression. This was proved in murine cardiomyocytic cells. Microparticles from cardiomyocytic cells were also able to diffuse through the neighbouring endothelial cell layer to carry out its prothrombotic process, possibly by inhibiting the transcription of TM (Conway & Rosenburg, 1988, Zhao *et al.*, 2005, Antoniak *et al.*, 2009). TNF- α -induced microparticles are mostly procoagulatory and inflammatory (Curtis *et al.*, 2009).

Endothelial microparticles formed by stimulation of TNF- α also express antithrombotic proteins such as TFPI, and the externalised PS on microparticles also supports protein C and S complex formation (Kushak *et al.,* 2005, Morel *et al.,* 2009).

The regulation of clot formation regarding endothelial microparticles is not yet clear. There is also no concrete evidence for ADAMTS-13 (VWF's regulating protease) expression in endothelial microparticles to date (Kitchens *et al.*, 2011).

2.4 Endothelial microparticles in haemostasis and thrombosis

Endothelial microparticles are associated with bleeding disorders such as Scott's and Castaman's disease. In these disorders, decreased numbers and/or defective microparticle formation leads to haemorrhage. These disorders are however very rare (Burnier *et al.*, 2009). Microparticles are more commonly known for their procoagulatory nature. For example, increased micoparticle numbers were found in venous thrombo-embolisms, atherosclerosis and acute coronary syndromes (Leroyer *et al.*, 2010). Microparticles can be favourable as well as detrimental as carriers of important pro- or anticoagulatory factors, depending on the presiding conditions or stimuli on the originating cell (Martinez *et al.*, 2011, Tushuizen *et al.*, 2011).

Patients with aortic stenosis have increased amounts of endothelial microparticles. These microparticles may give rise to the inflammatory responses of this disorder (Diehl *et al.*, 2008). These patients also present with increased thrombin formation and low levels of ULVWF multimers. This may be caused by increased cleavage of ULVWF multimers in high shear stress areas in the aorta. There is currently no evidence for the role of ADAMTS-13 in this phenomenon (Dong *et al.*, 2002, Natorska *et al.*, 2011).

Microparticles can also be antithrombotic in nature since they express protein C on their surface (Pérez-Casal *et al.*, 2005). Endothelial protein C (EPC) is mainly involved in FVa and FVIIIa inactivation in the coagulation cascade (Kalafatis *et al.*, 1996, Hockin *et al.*, 1997). Protein C expressed by these microparticles was also more protected from degradation by metalloproteases than soluble protein C and was able to inactivate FVa. It is important to note that protein C expression on endothelial microparticles was only demonstrated after stimulation of HUVEC with APC (Pérez-Casal *et al.*, 2005). The endothelial microparticle-associated protein C–APC complex also first needs to bind to protease activated receptor-1 (PAR-1) in order to activate an anti-inflammatory and anti-apoptotic response (Pérez-Casal *et al.*, 2009). Protein C activation is dependent on TM activation by thrombin in order to activate the protein C–EPCR complex (Stearns-Kurosawa *et al.*, 1996). This indicates how pro- and antithrombotic mechanisms are interrelated and possibly mediated by microparticles.

Endothelial microparticles not only contribute to antithrombotic processes but also to fibrinolytic processes. Endothelial microparticles formed by TNF-α stimulated human microvascular endothelial cells express urokinase-type plasminogen activator (uPA) as well as its receptor, uPAR. These factors mediate the plasminogen conversion to plasmin on microparticle surfaces (Lacroix *et al.*, 2007). This ultimately leads to fibrinolysis. uPA and uPAR do not only play a part in fibrinolysis but they also play a part in migration and angiogenesis. They activate MMPs that are involved in the breakdown of extracellular matrix to allow migration of endothelial cells in order to form tube-shaped structures in angiogenesis (Lacroix *et al.*, 2007, Montoro-García *et al.*, 2011). In this way endothelial microparticles induce and regulate angiogenesis and fibrinolysis by the same receptor (Montoro-García *et al.*, 2011).

VWF bearing endothelial microparticles has great potential to improve the current therapy in patents with von Willebrand disease. Microparticles formed *in vitro* by desmopressin stimulation reduce the time of initial thrombin generation and improve platelet aggregation in the plasma of type 1 and type 3 von Willebrand disease patients (Trummer *et al.*, 2011). Endothelial microparticles may also be a potential reliable marker to facilitate diagnoses in disorders of vasculitis and organ transplant rejection. However, more studies are necessary to verify this (Erdbruegger *et al.*, 2008, Brodsky *et al.*, 2012). Endothelial microparticles may be a promising marker for the diagnosis of vascular endothelial disorders in the future.

The following two sections describe the effect of coagulation stimuli, TF, and thrombin on endothelial microparticle formation, and the last section mentions the disorders associated with increased microparticle counts.

2.4a The role of tissue factor in inflammation, thrombosis and microparticle formation

TF is a very important receptor in coagulation. It initiates the coagulation cascade by forming a complex with (factor FVII) FVII. This complex activates factor IX (FIX) and factor X (FX) which subsequently cause thrombin formation. Not only is TF involved in coagulation but it also mediates inflammation (DelGiudice & White, 2009). Cytokines and pathogens stimulate endothelial cells, which may lead to TF expression (Kirchhofer *et al.,* 1994, Szotowski *et al.,* 2005, Schouten *et al.,* 2008, Van der Poll, 2008).

Increased TF expression results in thrombosis. It is therefore not surprising that pathological conditions like diabetes, sepsis, and various vascular disorders, such as myocardial

infarction and sickle-cell disease, show increased TF levels (Dignat-George, 2008, Morel *et al.*, 2008, Schouten *et al.*, 2005, Chu, 2011).

Endothelial microparticles from TNF- α -stimulated HUVEC increased TF expression after 4 to 6 hours (Combes *et al.*, 1999). The expressed microparticle TF could lead to FX activation (Kushak *et al.*, 2005). TF expressed by HUVEC derived microparticles is also able to generate thrombin *in vitro* (Hussein *et al.*, 2008).

Protease-activated receptors (PARs) may be an important link between signalling reactions of inflammation and thrombosis (Van der Poll, 2008). The TF-FVIIa-FXa complex activates PAR-1 and PAR-2 in HUVEC. This results in cell proliferation, cell survival and expression of proteins, growth factors, cytokines and chemokines. Activation of PAR-2 also leads to increased VWF levels (Langer *et al.,* 1999). The process of TF-mediated signalling in this respect is still unclear (Riewald & Ruf, 2001).

There is a correlation between FVIIa and VWF in diabetic patients. TF may therefore play a role in inducing VWF expression in these patients (Kario *et al.*, 1995). VWF bearing endothelial microparticles was increased in TTP patients and may be one of the factors contributing to the thrombotic tendencies in these patients (^aJimenez *et al.*, 2003).

2.4b The role of thrombin in inflammation, thrombosis and microparticle formation.

Thrombin is a well known pleiotropic protease with pro- and anti-inflammatory properties (Esmon, 2005, Esmon *et al.*, 2006). Its function in coagulation include the activation of coagulation factors V, FVIII, FXI, FXIII and the conversion of fibrinogen into fibrin (Ferry & Morrison, 1947, Hill-Eubanks *et al.*, 1989, Gailani & Broze, 1991, Brummel *et al.*, 2002). The prothrombotic properties of thrombin have been well investigated. Microparticles thus provide a prothrombotic PS-positive surface area that enhances this property. The amount of PS expressed by microparticles correlates with the amount of thrombin generated in coronary artery calcification (Jayachandran *et al.*, 2008).

Also favourable to the prothrombotic nature of thrombin is its ability to be antifibrinolytic. Thrombin can activate and increase the gene expression of the antifibrinolytic plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (PAI-1) that usually protects the forming or already formed fibrin clot (Erickson *et al.*, 1985, Martorell *et al.*, 2008, Siller-Matula *et al.*, 2011). It is not yet known whether endothelial microparticles are able to express PAI-1. It has been suggested that

endothelial microparticles may inhibit fibrinolysis in a fibrin-dependent way (Howes *et al.,* 2008). More research on the involvement of endothelial microparticles in the inhibition of fibrinolysis is needed.

Thrombin also activates thrombin-activatable fibrinolysis inhibitor (TAFI). This protein induces a modification of fibrin and plasminogen receptor proteins and it influences the plasmin activity, fibrin interactions and ultimately leads to regulation of fibrinolysis (Nesheim, 2003, Binette *et al.*, 2007, Okumura *et al.*, 2009). The thrombin-TM complex is thought to be one of the principle activators of TAFI (Refer to Figure 3, Binette *et al.*, 2007, Okumura *et al.*, 2009). This complex regulates fibrinolysis by activating TAFI that subsequently regulates the conversion of plasminogen into plasmin. Elevated TAFI levels in plasma also gives an indication of endothelial cell injury (Małyszko *et al.*, 2004). Figure 3 illustrates the effect of the thrombin-TM complex on the coagulation and fibrinolytic cascades.



Figure 3 The effect of thrombin/thrombomodulin on the coagulation and fibrinolytic cascades

In coagulation, the thrombin-TM complex activates protein C that inhibits the conversion of prothrombin to thrombin and so leads to decreased fibrin formation from fibrinogen. In fibrinolysis the thrombin-TM complex activates TAFI, which prevents the conversion of plasminogen to plasmin to prevent fibrin breakdown (Adapted from Nesheim, 2003).

It is important to notice that the concentration of thrombin that is used to stimulate endothelial cells and the expression of different thrombin receptors may determine whether a prothrombotic or antithrombotic effect will take place (Levi *et al.*, 2004). It was suggested that rapid infusion of a single high dose of thrombin in animals exerts the prothrombotic properties of thrombin. This was probably caused by injury to the vessel wall. Slow

systematic infusions of relatively high doses of thrombin led to the induction of the anticoagulant and fibrinolytic properties. This was most likely caused by the intact endothelium (Siller-Matula *et al.,* 2011). Thrombin is also an important mediator of increased TF gene expression. Interestingly, this process is proposed to be mediated through the PAR-1 and RhoA/Rho (ROCK) pathway (Liu *et al.,* 2004, Martorell *et al.,* 2008).

Thrombin also has fibrinolytic and anticoagulatory properties involving its ability to activate protein C via the EPCR expressed on endothelial microparticles (Esmon, 1987, Pérez-Casal *et al.*, 2009, Siller-Matula *et al.*, 2011).

Thrombin is one of the most important activators of PARs and activates PAR-1, PAR-3, and PAR-4 (Coughlin, 2000). There is also evidence that thrombin activates PAR-2 (Lindington et al., 2005). These PARs play an important part in many disorders, such as atherosclerosis, hypertension, cancer, central nervous inflammation, system neurodegeneration, nerve injury, arthritis, hepatitis, ischemia, inflammatory myopathy, and pre-eclampsia among others (Martorell *et al.*, 2008). Inflammatory stimuli (including TNF- α) upregulates some of these PARs in human coronary artery endothelial cells (Hamilton et al., 2001). Even though PARs are extensively studied, the exact mechanisms of these PARs and how these receptors are "switched off" after thrombin stimulation are still unclear. Different concentrations of thrombin may explain the enhanced or sometimes decreased effects of PAR-mediated mechanisms (Coughlin, 2000). PARs, but specifically PAR-1, appears to be involved in microparticle formation in a HUVEC line (Sapet et al., 2006). The mechanism by means of which thrombin induces microparticle formation may be as follows: Thrombin binds to PAR-1 to activate the small GTP-binding protein Rho and one of its effectors, cytoskeleton reorganising Rho-kinase (ROCK-II). Caspase-2 is necessary in this specific pathway which would usually occur in the early stages of apoptosis. However, the process of microparticle formation is not dependent on cell death. This is followed by, and dependent on, activation of NF-KB which mediates microparticle formation. No thrombininduced microparticles are formed after inhibition of ROCK-II (Sapet et al., 2006, Leroyer et al., 2010, Dignat-George & Boulanger, 2011). Other pathways that contribute to microparticle formation involves caspase-3 and ROCK-I activation during apoptosis, which subsequently leads to "blebbing" (Coleman et al., 2001). During apoptosis-induced blebbing, the activity of Rho-kinases seems to be involved in the transport of nuclear material (DNA) to the area where microparticle formation takes place and possibly into microparticles and apoptotic bodies (Coleman et al., 2001, Leroyer et al., 2010).

Another process by which thrombin-induced endothelial microparticle formation occurs during the later stages of apoptosis is through TNF- α related apoptosis inducing ligand (TRAIL) and its receptor TRAIL-R2 (Simoncini *et al.*, 2009). When TRAIL binds with TRAIL-R2, three adaptor proteins, TNF receptor-1 associated death domain protein (TRADD), TNF Receptor Associated Factor-2 (TRAF-2) and Receptor Interacting Protein-1 (RIP-1) are recruited, which leads to NF- $\kappa\beta$ activation. This process induces upregulation of inflammatory mediators ICAM-1 and amplifies the formation of prothrombotic endothelial microparticles (Simoncini *et al.*, 2009, Dignat-George & Boulanger, 2011).

Even though many of these mechanisms of thrombin-induced microparticle formation are understood, there is still much to be learned. The hypothesis that an increased number of microparticles formed upon thrombin stimuli is debatable, since Šimák *et al.* (2002) found that HUVEC stimulation with thrombin *in vitro* did not result in increased levels of microparticle formation.

In many thrombotic disorders endothelial microparticle numbers are increased. In preeclamptic patients, however, there is no significant increase in endothelial microparticles compared to normal pregnant and unpregnant individuals (Van Wijk *et al.*, 2002, Brodsky *et al.*, 2004). This was interesting, since pre-eclamptic individuals at risk for developing thrombosis (Van Walraven *et al.*, 2003).

It was shown in other studies that endothelial microparticle numbers are increased in disorders of increased thrombotic risk, such as cardiovascular disorders and renal failure (Van Wijk *et al.*, 2003, Martinez *et al.*, 2011). Microparticles proved to be a reliable marker to predict the outcome in these patients (Amabile *et al.*, 2009). Disorders with elevated endothelial microparticles and expected increased thrombin levels include acute disorders like angina, acute coronary syndrome, and acute myocardial infarction, but also sickle cell disease, lupus anticoagulant, TTP, and premature coronary artery calcification (Combes *et al.*, 1999, Mallat *et al.*, 2000, Jimenez *et al.*, 2001, Simak *et al.*, 2004, Jayachandaran *et al.*, 2008).

Thrombin is commonly associated with increased VWF secretion and microparticle formation (Kim *et al.*, 2008, Van den Biggelaar *et al.*, 2008, Simoncini *et al.*, 2009, Dignat-George & Boulanger, 2011). Thrombin stimulation in endothelial cells may mediate VWF expression in a calcium- and calmodulin-dependent manner. A rise in calcium levels in endothelial cells seems to be associated with the increased VWF levels secretion upon stimulation with thrombin (Birch *et al.*, 1992, Fisher *et al.*, 2007). Observations of increased VWF levels after

thrombin stimulation in intact endothelium may be debated by the fact that VWF exocytosis in intact endothelium needs to be a regulated process (Zhou *et al.*, 2007, Valentijn *et al.*, 2010, Liu *et al.*, 2012).

Thrombin apparently influences VWF secretion, which involves the functioning of Weibel-Palade bodies. The function of Weibel-Palade bodies with regard to VWF synthesis is not yet fully understood (Metcalf *et al.*, 2011). Both slow and quick-release processes of VWF in HUVEC after thrombin stimulation have been described. The major pathway by which thrombin stimulates VWF release is via fusion of multiple Weibel-Palade bodies (Valentijn *et al.*, 2010). Additionally, after acute VWF release upon thrombin stimulation, there is a need to replenish the VWF stores, yet thrombin stimulation has no effect on VWF mRNA levels (Mayadas *et al.*, 1989, Richardson *et al.*, 1994, Cleator *et al.*, 2006). Thrombin-induced VWF secretion levels also seem to vary largely between *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies, both at different time measurements in different models and proposed mechanisms of secretion (Cleator & Vaughan, 2008, Fish *et al.*, 2007, Richardson *et al.*, 1994).

Another valid argument is that thrombin may also induce VWF release from factor VIII, yielding VWF more vulnerable to dissociation by ADAMTS-13 (Dong *et al.*, 2002, ^aCao *et al.*, 2008). Thrombin is however involved in the proteolysis and inactivation of ADAMTS-13 (Crawley *et al.*, 2005). Thrombin-cleaved ADAMTS-13 appears to have an 8 times lower affinity for ULVWF. The metalloprotease was somehow protected in plasma from rapid inactivation (Lam *et al.*, 2007). There is also a correlation between ADAMTS-13 levels and the risk for myocardial infarction due to arterial thrombosis. This led to the hypothesis that not only increased VWF levels but also decreased ADAMTS-13 activity may be involved in prothrombotic processes (Chion *et al.*, 2007, Ruggeri, 2007).

A decrease in prothrombotic processes may be explained by decreased binding of VWF to its receptors due to thrombin stimulation (George & Torres, 1988, Englund *et al.*, 2001, Berny *et al.*, 2007). Interestingly, different forms of thrombin may lead to decreased binding of VWF to platelet glycoprotein Ib. A decrease in prothrombotic processes may be explained by decreased binding of VWF to its receptors due to thrombin stimulation (George & Torres, 1988, Englund *et al.*, 2001, Berny *et al.*, 2007). The increase in VWF levels after thrombin stimulation can therefore be debated and may be dependent on the time of measurement, type and state of the cells and Weibel-Palade bodies as well as the relative VWF binding affinity of the receptors (George & Torres, 1988, Richardson *et al.*, 1994, Crawley *et al.*, 2005, Cleator *et al.*, 2006). The effect of thrombin on VWF secretion in endothelial microparticles has not been studied. The last section summarizes the thrombotic disorders

associated with microparticles formation in order to stress the importance of microparticles in haemostatic disorders.

2.5 Microparticle-associated thrombotic disorders

Endothelial microparticles play an important part in thrombotic disorders where coagulation and inflammation are involved. Examples of such disorders are HIV-associated TTP, sickle cell disease, sepsis, coronary artery syndromes, stroke, deep vein thrombosis, and pulmonary embolisms (Piccin *et al.*, 2007, Meiring *et al.*, 2011).

In TTP patients, ADAMTS-13 levels are very low. Auto-antibodies against ADAMTS-13 were found in about half of the patients, while endothelial microparticle numbers were increased (Jimenez *et al.,* 2001, Shelat *et al.,* 2006).

Sickle cell disease is also an inflammatory and thrombotic disorder. In sickle cell disease, adhesion molecules (like VCAM-1, ICAM-1 and E-selectin) on circulating endothelial cells are increased. These adhesion molecules are markers for inflammation (Johnson & Telen, 2008, Kato *et al.*, 2005). In high mortality-risk sickle cell disease patients there is also a correlation between adhesion molecules and endothelial dysfunction (Kato *et al.*, 2005). These patients also have increased endothelial microparticles (Burnier *et al.*, 2009).

Inflammatory adhesion molecules, such as ICAM-1 and VCAM-1, are also increased in patients with coronary artery disease (Givtaj *et al.*, 2010). E-selectin positive microparticles are associated with coronary artery disorders (Lee *et al.*, 2012). The number of TF expressing microparticles may predict outcome in coronary artery disease (Shet *et al.*, 2003, Koga *et al.*, 2005, Morange *et al.*, 2007). Increased VWF levels may also predict the outcome in patients with vascular dysfunction and coronary artery syndrome (Paulinska *et al.*, 2009).

VWF levels may also be a good predictor of thrombosis and endothelial dysfunction. The VWF levels were significantly correlated with infarct size and were elevated in patients with stroke (Sato *et al.*, 2006). Not only was increased expression of the cytokines IL-6 and TNF- α present in patients with acute ischemic stroke, but also increased endothelial microparticle numbers (Simak *et al.*, 2006).

Endothelial microparticles were increased in patients with deep vein thrombosis and venous thrombo-embolisms (^aChirinos *et al.,* 2005). IL-6 and IL-8 are elevated in patients with a

further risk of deep vein thrombosis (Fox & Kahn, 2005). The association between these inflammatory markers and deep vein thrombosis is not yet clear. Similar to inflammatory markers, VWF and FVIII are also associated with an increased risk of venous thromboembolism (Tsai *et al.*, 2002).

Sepsis is an inflammatory and thrombotic disorder that occurs in response to an infection from pathogens or other foreign material. This disorder involves the activation of the innate immune responses while IL-6 induces an increase in TF. TNF-α impairs the antithrombotic process leading to the prothrombotic state encountered in sepsis (Cinel & Dellinger, 2007). TF bearing endothelial microparticles are better indicators of prothrombotic activity in a sepsis model than PS on endothelial cells (Wang *et al.*, 2009).

Since both coagulation and inflammatory proteins are involved in microparticle formation, it is clear that the processes of inflammation and thrombosis are interrelated. In order to gain a better understanding of the role of microparticles in these disorders, the effect of inflammatory agents and coagulation stimuli and the combined effect of inflammatory and thrombotic stimuli on the function and numbers of microparticles have to be determined. The role of inflammatory agents (IL-6, IL-8 and TNF- α) and coagulation stimuli (TF and thrombin) and also the combinations thereof on HUVEC microparticle formation and content is still unknown.
3 AIM AND OBJECTIVES

The aim and first objective of this study was to determine the *in vitro* effect of stimulation on HUVEC-derived microparticle formation by the cytokines IL-6, IL-8, TNF- α , and the coagulation stimuli TF, thrombin, and combinations of cytokines and coagulation stimuli. The contribution of microparticles to haemostasis was also investigated, but with specific reference to VWF. The second objective was to determine the relative number of microparticles upon stimulation. The third objective was to determine the contribution of microparticles to the thrombin that is generated by HUVEC.

This study will help us to gain a better understanding of the mechanisms that are involved in the stimulation of microparticle formation that may contribute to thrombotic and inflammatory disorders.

4 MATERIALS AND METHODOLOGY

4.1 Procedure outline

HUVEC were cultured under optimal conditions and stimulated by inflammatory (TNF-a, IL-6, IL-8) (Gibco) and thrombotic stimuli (thrombin and TF). The HUVEC were treated three times with a stimulus and measurements were obtained in duplicate. Unfortunately, due to the availablility of recombinant IL-8, HUVEC were only treated two times with IL-8 and combinations thereof. Thus each treated sample has an untreated control. Microparticle thrombin generation and quantification from IL-8 was also not possible. The cells were cultured at the University of the Free State, Department of Haematology and Cell Biology in a class 2 cell culture laboratory. The HUVEC line was selected because of its availability. It was subjected to a shear flow of 2,5 dyne/cm² on an orbital shaker for an hour (Pearce et al., 1996). Microparticles were isolated using a microparticle filtration unit (Technoclone, Vienna, Austria, EU). The treated and untreated samples were stored in a temperaturecontrolled freezer at -80 °C and thawed in a water bath at 32 °C before the different assays were done. The assays were done at the University of the Free State, Specialised Haemostasis Laboratory of the Department of Haematology and Cell Biology, University of Flow cytometric analyses were done on a Beckman Coulter Gallios flow the Free State. cytometer using CD-31 FITC antibody (specific to endothelial cells and apoptosis) and a normal IgG 1 FITC conjugated isotype control as well as CD62E PE conjugated antibody (an activation marker) with its isotype control IgG2 K (Biolegend). This was done in order to assess the amount of endothelial microparticles formed. Megamix beads (BioCytex, Marseille, France), as well as Flowcount beads (Beckman Coulter, Miami, Florida), were used for quantification of microparticles. The flow cytometry assay was done at the Department of Haematology of the University of Witwatersrand. The samples were transported on dry ice. A microparticle-dependent thrombin-generation assay (Technoclone, Vienna, Austria, EU) was done to determine the extent to which endothelial microparticles participate in thrombin formation. ELISA assays were done to quantify VWF and ADAMTS-13 levels in microparticles. These assays were done at the University of the Free State in the Specialised Haemostasis Laboratory. The Ethics Committee of the Faculty of Health Sciences approved this project (ETOVS number: 74/09).

4.2 Cell Cultures

4.2a Coating of Petri Dishes

Round Petri dishes of 21.1cm² (Cat no: 93060, Seperations, Techno Plastic Products, Trasadingen, Switzerland, EU) were coated with Fibronectin (10 μ g/ml in Dulbecco's phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) without CaCl₂ and MgCl₂, Gibco, Grand Island, New York, USA) before culturing. Round Petri dishes were used, since shear had to be applied to the cells using a rotary shaker. Fibronectin is needed to facilitate attachment of HUVEC cells to the culture surface area. The flasks were coated using 500 μ L of fibronectin per flask to cover the surface areas completely. The flasks were incubated overnight at 37 °C, after which the unbound fibrobectin was discarded and the Petri dishes rinsed with 1ml of PBS.

4.2b Cell culturing

Medium 200 with phenol red (Cascade Biologics Invitrogen Corporation, Portland, Oregon, USA) was first supplemented with low serum growth supplement (LSGS) using the LSGS kit (Gibco, Carlsbad, Califonia, USA). The supplemented medium with the kit contains 2% foetal bovine serum (FBS), 1 μ g/ml hydrocortisone, 10 ng/ml human epidermal growth factor, 3 ng/ml basic fibroblast growth factor, 10 μ g/ml heparin and 0,2% gentamicin/amphotericin.

HUVEC were used for the study, since these are cells that express VWF and ADAMTS-13 and are mostly used in this type of studies (Combes *et al.*, 1999, ^aJimenez *et al.*, 2003, ^bJimenez *et al.*, 2003, Jy *et al.*, 2005, Turner *et al.*, 2006) The C-003-5C HUVEC cell line (Cascade Biologics Invitrogen Corporation, Portland, Oregon, USA) was thawed from storage in liquid nitrogen according to the instructions of the manufacturer. Seventy percent ethanol (99,9% ethanol, Saarchem, Krugersdorp, Gauteng, South-Africa, diluted in double distilled water) was used to sterilise gloves, all equipment-, reagent bottle and working surfaces. Cell culturing was done in a laminar flow culture cabinet under sterile conditions. Cells were counted on a haemocytometer (Marienfeld Fuchs-Rosenthal, Lauda-königshofen, Germany, EU) by using 10 µl cells from the initial vial with 3 µl 0,4% Trypan blue stain (Gibco, Grand island, New York, USA). The initial 1 ml vial contained approximately 5 x 10⁵ cells. The cells were diluted in 40 ml supplemented medium 200 and then divided into 8 Petri dishes containing 5 ml each. These Petri dishes each contained approximately 2,5 x 10^3 viable cells/ml. After thoroughly mixing, only 3 ml of the 5 ml cells that were diluted in medium were transferred to the fibronectin-treated Petri dishes under sterile conditions.

Cells were evenly distributed by gentle shaking and were cultured from the recommended concentration at approximately \geq 80% confluency. The endothelial cells were cultured at 37 °C with 5% CO₂ at 95% humidity in a NAPCO water-jacketed CO₂ incubator (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Shandong, China).

4.2c Subculturing

Cells were only subcultured after 6 days (Cascade Biologics Invitrogen Corporation, Portland, Oregon, USA) to obtain approximately 80% confluency. Thereafter they were subcultured for 4 passages before being used for experimental purposes. This is because HUVEC also have the potential to change phenotype and protein expression with prolonged cultivation time (Takahashi *et al.*, 1990, Peters *et al.*, 2009)

An inverted Nikon transmission light microscope was used to observe the cells. Cells were counted and set to 2.5×10^3 cells /mL. Subculturing was done with sterile recombinant bovine trypsin with 0,01% EDTA in PBS (pH 7,4) to detatch the cells. Trypsin/EDTA (Cascade Biologics, Portland, Oregon) was used to neutralise trypsin. All expended medium was removed and Trypsin/EDTA (4 ml per dish) was added to detach the cells. The dishes were swirled to ensure coverage of the entire surface area before removing 3 ml. The cells were left for approximately 2 minutes in the remaining 1 ml of Trypsin/EDTA to ensure detachment of all cells. The detached cells were then transferred to 15 ml conical tubes and the trypsin was neutralised with 6 ml of Trypsin neutraliser (0,5% newborn bovine serum in calcium and magnesium-free PBS, pH 7,4, Cascade Biologics, Portland, Oregon, USA). The suspension was centrifuged at 180 x g for 7 minutes, the supernatant discarded and the cell pellet resuspended in medium 200 to obtain approximately 2,5 x 10³ cells/ml. The cells were only treated with thrombotic or coagulation activators and combinations of stimuli after the fourth passage to obtain enough flasks needed for the study.

4.3 Stimulation of endothelial cells

Flasks with 80% confluent endothelial cells were stimulated in round Petri dishes (21,1cm² growth surface) using the following concentration of inflammatory agents: recombinant human TNF-α [5,71 pM, (100 ng/ml), TNF-α, Gibco, Camarillo, California, USA], recombinant human IL-6 [4.69 pM, (100 ng/ml IL-6), Gibco, Camarillo, California, USA] and recombinant human IL-8 [11.24 pM, (100 ng/ml), NAP-1, Gibco, Camarillo, California, USA]. The following coagulation stimuli were used: Bovine Thrombin (2 U/ml or 10 nM, Instrumental Laboratory, Lexington, Massachusetts, USA) and recombinant TF (2 U/ml or

0.02 nM Recomboplastin HemosIL, 2G, (20ml), Instrumentation Laboratory, Bedford, Massachusetts, USA). All the final dilutions were made in supplemented Medium 200. TNFα was first suspended in sterile double distilled water to a concentration of 100 µg/ml, IL-6 (5 µg) in 100 nM acetic acid (Saarchem) to 100 µg/ml and IL-8 (25 µg) was reconstituted in sterile double distilled water to a concentration of 100 µg/ml. Further dilutions were made in supplemented medium. Cell cultures were handled in duplicate, in which one of the dishes received 100 ng/ml inflammatory stimulus and the other was diluent without stimulus. All dilutions were made up to a final volume of 3 ml. Coagulation stimuli thrombin and TF were diluted in supplemented medium to 2 U/ml and inflammatory stimuli TNF- α , IL-6 and IL-8 in 100µg/ml. High concentrations of all agents were chosen to assess the effect of excessive inflammatory and coagulation stimuli on HUVEC microparticle formation. The following combinations were chosen to stimulate endothelial cells: the TF and TNF- α combination, as well as thrombin and TNF- α combination. The same concentrations of inflammatory agents and coagulation stimuli were used in the combinations as with the separate stimuli. The cytokine concentrations were based on the experiments done by Combes et al. (1999), Bernardo et al. (2004) and ^bCao et al. (2008), where these cytokine concentrations were used in microparticle formation and subsequent VWF stimulation.

Due to the number of samples and the time it took to administer treatments, concentrations of control cells could not be adjusted just before treatment. To correct this, it is important to note that each treated flask had its own untreated control flask. Each treatment was administered and handled separately, each with its own control, before incubation. Dilutions were made up to a final volume of 3 ml per dish. The HUVEC that received these treatments as well as their controls were subjected to static conditions at 37 °C for 24 hours to stimulate microparticle generation. Each untreated control was subjected to the same conditions as its treated counterpart. After 24 hours a shear stress of approximately 2.5 dyne/cm² was applied for 60 minutes to all treated and untreated cells in order to induce the release of VWF multimers from microparticles, as observed under normal haemostatic flow conditions (Dong, 2005). A similar method was used by Pearce et al. (1996), in which shear stress was applied. Microparticles that formed during these treatments were then isolated using a Ceveron microparticle filtration unit. The filtration process uses a low proteinbinding filter to isolate particles no larger than 2 µm in diameter. The microparticles were isolated from 200 µl of supernatant from the treated and non-treated endothelial cells as proposed by the Ceveron Microparticle filtration unit 500 protocol (Technoclone, Vienna, Austria, EU). The isolated microparticles were then diluted in 200 µL of PBS and used in subsequent experiments. Immediate analysis of samples was unfortunately not possible due to the large number of samples, the large number of assays to be done, as well as the different locations for doing the tests. The microparticle samples were stored in a temperature-controlled freezer at -80 °C and thawed in a water bath at 32 °C before doing the different assays. The formed microparticles were quantified and its VWF and ADAMTS-13 levels were measured. The multimeric pattern of the microparticle-derived VWF was also determined.

4.4 Quantification of endothelial microparticles

Endothelial microparticles were quantified using a Beckman Coulter Gallios flow cytometer, Megamix beads (Biocytex, Marselle, France, EU) and Fluorocount fluorospheres (Beckman Coulter, Miami, Florida, USA). Megamix is a reagent that is used to standardize microparticle quantification by defining microparticle gate regions to exclude as much background and electronic noise events from captured data. This reagent contains a mixture of differently sized fluorescent beads of 0,5 µm, 0,9 µm and 3 µm and has been tested to quantify microparticles ranging in size from 0,1 µm to 1 µm (Biocytex, Marselle, Microparticles were labeled with both monoclonal anti-CD31-FITC (a France, EU). constitutively expressed apoptotic marker, Cascade Biologics Invitrogen Corporation, Portland, Oregon, USA) and monoclonal anti-CD62E-PE (an activation marker, BioLegend, Bar Hill, Cambridge, UK) antibodies. These antibodies were only used to stain particles with endothelial-specific apoptosis and/or activation markers for the purpose of counting the relative number of endothelial microparticles in the specific gated region. The percentage increase or decrease in the total number of microparticles from the untreated controls was also determined.

Fifty microlitre of microparticle sample was incubated with 10 μ L of each anti-CD31-FITC and anti-CD62E-PE antibodies and 30 μ L FlowCount fluorospheres (Beckman Coulter) in the dark for 30 minutes for the antibodies to bind to the microparticles. The Flowcount beads served as a calibrator for the number of microparticles in the region. The cytometry tube was filled up to 500 μ L with PBS (Gibco Grand island, New York, USA). Megamix beads were used to set up the thresholds for acquisition to obtain the number of microparticles according to the size instruction of the Megamix beads. Megamix (500 μ L) was added to a separate cytometry tube and vortexed. The threshold and acquisition settings were done according to the instructions of the manufacturer. The "megamix" gate was defined based on light scattering from 0,5 μ m beads, which is defined by the Megamix as the lowest gate region for accurate measurement of microparticles. The upper gate was set to just above the 0,9 μ m bead region, which yields microparticle results that are very

close to 1 μm and the 3 μm polysterene microspheres were used to define the region of interest.

A Fluorescent channel 1 (FL-1)/Side scatter dot plot was compiled. To define the gate regions, a rectangle was drawn around each bead region to indicate the regions for the particles of relative sizes that would fall in each region. Figure 4a illustrates the different bead regions for the 0,5 μ m (A), 0,9 μ M (B) and 3 μ m (C) beads.



Figure 4a An FL-1 vs.SS dot plot to illustrate the different bead regions for 0,5 μm (A), 0,9 μm (B) and 3 μm (C) beads

The 3 μ m beads were used to acquire a density dot plot and a histogram for the fluorescence channels, only to define the region of interest and to show approximate sizes of events outside of the gated microparticle bead region. Threshold 1 was set using a density dot plot and histogram of the 0,5 μ m beads to exclude background and other contaminants. The 0,5 μ m beads were used as the lower threshold of acquisition (Figure 4b). By setting the photomultiplier tube (PMT) voltage to approximately 50%, the lowest reliable and reproducible measurement of microparticles was done (Robert *et al.,* 2008).

The lower gate was set in the middle of the 0,5 μ m peak, and the upper gate was set just above the size distribution of the 0,9 μ m microspheres. The 0,9 μ m beads were used as the upper threshold for microparticle quantification and the threshold was set to acquire to the end of the 0,9 μ m bead threshold. This provides a threshold that is very close to 1 μ m and

was used to measure microparticles between approximately 0,5 μ m and 1 μ m in diameter (Robert *et al.*, 2008).



Figure 4b An illustration of the count histogram for 0,5 µm (E) beads





Finally an acquisition dot plot for log forward scatter vs. log side scatter was set up using the 0,9 μ m (F) beads as threshold to gate the microparticles of interest (Figure 4c). The samples were run on a low flow rate and set to acquire at least 10 000 events. The number of micropartices was determined by means of a simple calculation.

[microparticle concentration] = (microparticle counts x standard beads / microlitre) standard beads counted The relative percentage increase or decrease in microparticle numbers of the treated samples compared to the control samples was determined.

4.5 Von Willebrand factor antigen levels in microparticles

An enzyme-linked immune-adsorbent assay (ELISA) was used to determine the VWF concentration in the microparticle containing perfusates (Meiring *et al.*, 2005). This assay was done by precoating an 96-well ELISA plate (Nunc Maxisorp, Rochester, New York, USA) with a polyclonal rabbit anti-human VWF antibody (DAKO, Glostrup, Denmark, EU). This antibody was diluted in PBS (11,68g NaCl; 9,44 g Na₂HPO₄; 5,28 g NaH₂PO₄·2H₂O in 2 I distilled water with pH 7,2) at a dilution of 1:6 000. One hundred microlitres was added per well and incubated at 4 °C for 24 hours in a humid environment. The plate was then washed three times by submerging the plate in a wash buffer containing PBS and 0,1% tween-20 solution (Merck, Schardt, Germany, EU) and then discarding the solution to wash away all unbound antibodies. After washing, the plate was blocked with 4% skimmed milk (Difco laboratories, Detroit, Michigan, USA) in PBS solution (200 µl/well) for 2 hours at room temperature to prevent unspecific binding.

A serial dilution of the sixth FVIII/VWF standard of the World Health Organisation (National Institute for Biological Standards and Control, Potters Bar, Hertfordshire, UK) was made. One millilitre of a 1:10 dilution in 2% skimmed milk in PBS was added to the first tube. This tube was set as the 100% VWF standard. A dilution series was made for 50%, 25%, 12,5%, 6,25%, 3,125% and 1,5625% VWF respectively. A blank of only 2% skimmed milk in PBS was also used. A hundred microlitres of the standards were added in duplicate to a 96-well plate. Hundred microlitres of each of the treated and untreated microparticle samples were added to the wells in duplicate and incubated at 37 °C for 2 hours for optimal binding of the VWF to the coated antibody. Hemosil-calibrated plasma was used as positive control (Beckman Coulter, Miami, Florida, USA). The plate was washed 5 times to remove all unbound proteins. A second horseradish peroxidase-conjugated rabbit polycolonal antihuman VWF antibody (Dako, Glostrup, Denmark, EU) was diluted 1:8 000 in 2% skimmed milk/PBS solution. One hundred microlitres of this was added to each well and incubated at room temperature for an hour. This was followed by another 5 washing steps. Orthophenylenediamine (OPD, 0,1M Na₂HPO₄, 0,05M citric acid, 0,0005M OPD, and 0,0001M H_2O_2 made up to a total volume of 20 ml) was added to the wells (100 µl per well) as a substrate for HRP. The reaction was stopped after 30 minutes using 30 µl of 4M H₂SO₄ per well. The colour intensity of the wells was measured at 490 nm minus 630 nm absorbance with a Biokinetics BioTek Synergy HT reader (Analytical & Diagnostic Products, Winooski,

Vermont, USA). A standard cuve was constructed and the von Willebrand concentrations in the perfusate were calculated from the standard curve.

4.6 ADAMTS-13 antigen levels in microparticles

ADAMTS-13 levels were also measured with an ELISA. Because of the extremely low levels of ADAMTS-13 in the microparticles, 100 µl of the perfusates were all concentrated in a Savant SpeedVac SC110 (Instruments incorporated, Farmingdale, New York, USA) for 90 minutes. Due to the small volumes after concentration, absolute quantification of ADAMTS-13:Ag levels was not possible. Variances occurred in concentrations between samples and only reflect a relative measurement as measured from the untreated controls. A monoclonal mouse IgG anti-ADAMTS-13 antibody (1:1 000 in PBS, 100 µl per well, R&D Systems) was used to coat an ELISA plate overnight at 4 °C. The plate was then blocked at room temperature for 2 hours with 4% of bovine serum albumin (BSA in PBS, 200 µl per well). After blocking, the plate was washed 4 times with PBS/0,1%Tween-20. The same procedure was followed with standards used for VWF levels to prepare the ADAMTS-13 standard curve. It was assumed that ADAMTS-13 was 100% in normal pooled plasma, since standards for ADAMTS-13 was not readily available at the time. The microparticle perfusates were added to the wells. The perfusates were left to bind to with the antibody for 2 hours at 37 °C. The plate was washed once again. A biotynilated polyclonal rabbit IgG anti-ADAMTS-13 antibody (1:100, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, California, USA) was added after washing and left for 1 hour to bind. Horseradish peroxidase- conjugated Streptavidin (1:2 000, Biolegend, San Diego, USA) was added and also incubated for an hour. Once again, OPD was used as a substrate for the streptavidin-conjugated HRP. Samples were immediately measured in the Biokinetics Biotek Synergy HT reader. ADAMTS-13 levels in the samples were calculated by using the standard curve. The results were expressed as the percentage ADAMTS-13.

4.7 Microparticle-dependent thrombin generation assay

Microparticle-dependent thrombin generation was done using the Technothrombin Microparticle kit from Technoclone (Vienna, Austria, EU). First, a calibrator curve was constructed using the standards supplied with the kit. Thrombin Generation Assay (TGA) buffer (Hepes-NaCl buffer containing 0,5% bovine serum albumin) provided in the kit was reconstituted in 3 ml of distilled water. Standards 1-4 were reconstituted TGA buffer at concentrations of 1:2, 1:4, 1:20 and 1:200 respectively. This was added in duplicate (40 μ l) to the wells of a black ELISA plate. The TGA fluorogenic substrate (1 mM Z-G-G-R-AMC,

15 mM CaCl₂) included in the kit was reconstituted in 1,5 ml of distilled water and 50 μ l substrate was added to these wells to start the kinetic reactions. The calibration reactions were measured with a BioTek Synergy HT reader at a temperature of 37 °C for 10 minutes at 30 second intervals at wavelengths of 360 nm excitation and 460 nm emission.

The perfusates containing microparticles (not filtered) and those without microparticles (filtered) were used in this assay. Forty microlitre of each sample was added to a 96-well ELISA plate according to a template setup on the Technothrombin software provided (Technoclone, Vienna, Austria, EU). Ten microlitres of TGA reagent C Low (low concentration of phospholipid micelles containing recombinant human TF, Technoclone, Viennea, Austria, EU) were added as well as 50 µl of the TGA substrate. Fifty microlitres of normal human plasma were added to all wells in order to supply the needed clotting factors for thrombin generation. The reaction started immediately after the addition of the substrate and fluorescence was measured using a wavelength of 360 nm excitation and 460 nm emission. The kinetic study was done at 37 °C for 120 minute measurements recorded at 1 minute intervals on a BioTek Synegy HT reader. Microparticle-mediated thrombin generation was calculated using the provided software. The amount of thrombin generated in the microparticle-rich perfusate was subtracted from the thrombin generated by the microparticle-poor filtrate to give the amount of thrombin generated by the microparticles.

4.8 Von Willebrand factor multimer analysis

VWF multimers were only visualised to confirm the presence of VWF in the endothelialderived microparticles. The same concentrated samples that were used for the ADAMTS-13 assay were used for the multimeric analysis. Electrophoresis buffer (pH7.8,40 mMTrisacetate, 0.1% Sodium dodecyl sulphate (SDS), 1mM Ethylenediamine-tetra-acetic acid (EDTA) in 1L distilled water,from Saarchem) was prepared and stored at -4°C. A 0.65% agarose gel was prepared in electrophoresis buffer by melting the agarose in a microwave oven and swirling occasionally to dissolve all particles. This agarose solution was degassed and cooled to approximately 50°C and then poured into an electrophoresis apparatus with a 20 tooth comb. The gel was allowed to set at 4°C for 30 minutes to solidify. Prepared sample buffer (H₃PO₄, 0,01M Na₂HPO₄, 37 mM C₂H₄INO, 1% SDS topped up to 100 ml with distilled water, pH 7) was used to dilute treated and untreated samples at a ratio of 9:1 (sample: sample buffer). The total sample volume was 90 μ l. Samples were then incubated in a waterbath at 37 °C for an hour, after which it was stained with 10 μ l of 1% bromphenol blue (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, Missouri, USA) and centrifuged at 14 000 rpm for 1 minute. The 20-tooth comb was removed and the gel was covered with electrophoresis buffer at 4 °C. Twelve microlitre of sample was then loaded into each well. Electrophoresis was done at 30 mAmps for 30 minutes, after which it was set to 50 mAmps for approximately 5 hours (Krizek & Rick, 2000).

A Western Blot was done as follows: Transfer buffer, (2,5 mM tris, 19,2 mM $H_2NCH_2COOH,20\%$ CH_3OH , 0.01% SDS in 2 I of water, pH 8,8) was prepared and a 0,45 µm polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF, Pierce, Rockford, Illinois, USA) membrane was cut to be just smaller than the gel was used along with filter paper (Whatman 1 mm and 3 mm filter papers from Bio-rad, Hercules, Carlifornia, USA) to transfer the proteins from the gel to the membrane. After running for approximately 5 hours, the gel was soaked in transfer buffer for a further 30 minutes and rinsed while the PVDF membrane was placed in methanol for 2 minutes and then transferred into transfer buffer.

A Western blot sandwich was prepared by wetting the filter paper in transfer buffer and packing thick filter paper on the outside, thinner filter paper on the inside and the membrane and gel in the middle. The western blot apparatus was assembled in the -4 °C walk-in fridge and run overnight at 70 mAmps.

A blocking solution was prepared using 100 ml tris-buffered saline/tween-20 solution [0,1% tween-20 in TBS (0,05 M Tris, 0,1 M NaCl, filled up to 2 I with water, pH 7,4). Five percent of dehydrated skim milk (Difco laboratories, Detroit, Michigan, USA) was used as a blocking reagent. The membrane was transferred to the blocking solution and incubated for 75 minutes on a slow speed orbital shaker at room temperature and then washed three times with 50 ml TBS/tween for 1 minute. Another three washing steps with T-TBS of 7 minutes each followed.

The membrane was incubated for 75 minutes at room temperature in rabbit anti-human VWF/HRP antibody while shaking it gently (DAKO, Glostrup, Denmark, EU). A dilution of 1:33 in 100 ml TBS/tween was used. Three washing steps with 50 ml TBS/tween for 1 minute and 100 ml TBS/tween for 7 minutes respectively followed. Ten millilitre of each of the two luminescence ECL Western Blotting reagents 1 and 2 (Amersham Biosciences, Piscataway, New Jersey, USA) were combined and poured onto the membrane on a matt surface area and left for 1 minute. The membrane was transferred to a dark room and placed protein-side up on a Curix blue HC-S X-ray film (Afga, Thousand oaks, California, USA) in a cassette in the dark for 30 seconds. The X-ray was developed in G354 developing reagent (Afga, Kempton Park, Gauteng, RSA) until bands could clearly be observed and then fixed in G153 fixing reagent (Afga, Kempton Park, Gauteng, RSA).

Photos were taken of the X-ray films with a Sony Digital Mavica camera (Sony Corporation, Tokyo, Japan).

4.9 Statistical Analysis

Each treatment with its own culture flask and control was repeated three times. Means and standard deviations were calculated in Excel, using descriptive statistics for data analysis. The increase or decrease in VWF-, ADAMTS-13:Ag levels and microparticle numbers was calculated as the percentage change from the untreated sample. The paired t-test was used to determine whether the difference between untreated and treated sample values were statistically significant. A difference was considered statistically significant when p < 0.05.

5 RESULTS

5.1 Quantification of microparticles

The relative mean percentage change with standard deviations in the number of microparticles from untreated to treated HUVEC are illustrated in Figure 5, the significance as indicated by the p-values are given in Table 2 and addendum.



 Table 2 Statistical significance of the mean relative increase/decrease (%) in microparticle

 numbers after the different treatments

| | IL-6 | TNF-α | Thrombin | TF | TNF-α & thrombin | TNF-α & TF |
|------------------------------------|------|-------|----------|------|---------------------|------------|
| Mean | -0,9 | 79,4* | -6,2 | 83,6 | -9,5 | 66,5 |
| Probability value of the t-test | 0,85 | 0,04* | 0,62 | 0,07 | 0,26 | 0,10 |

Significant P-value indicated with *

IL-6, thrombin and the combination of TNF- α and thrombin decreased the microparticle numbers by 0,9%, 6% and 10% respectively. TNF- α , TF and the combination of these two

agents increased microparticle numbers by 79%, 84% and 67%. The only significant increase was found with TNF- α with the p-value of 0,04.

5.2 Endothelial microparticle Von Willebrand factor antigen levels

The percentage increase or decrease in microparticle VWF:Ag levels after the different treatments is shown in Figure 6 and the statistical significance is shown in Table 3. Refer to the addendum section for raw data and outliers.



| Table 3 | Statistical significance of the mean increase/decrease in microp | particle Von Willebrand |
|---------|--|-------------------------|
| | factor antigen levels after the different treatments | |

| | IL-6 | IL-8 | TNF-α | Throm bin | TF | TNF-α & Thrombin | TNF-α & TF | IL-8 & Thrombin | IL-8 & TF |
|---------------------------------------|-------|------|-------|--------------|--------|---------------------|---------------|--------------------|--------------|
| Mean | -42,1 | 56,6 | 51,8 | -34,7 | 312,9* | -27,2 | 188,4* | 35,2 | 94,1 |
| Probability value of the t-test | 0,18 | 0,35 | 0,05 | 0,22 | 0,02* | 0,08 | 0,002* | 0,05 | 0,07 |

significant P-value indicated with *

The cytokines, IL-8 and TNF- α increased the microparticle VWF:Ag levels by 57% and 52% (p=0,05) respectively. A decrease of 42% in microparticle VWF:Ag was observed with the IL-6 treatment. TF increased the microparticle VWF:Ag levels significantly by 313%. This was also the highest microparticle VWF:Ag increase observed among all treatments. Interestingly again, HUVEC treated with thrombin caused a decrease of 35% in VWF:Ag levels of microparticles. The TF and TNF- α combination increased microparticle VWF:Ag levels by a median of 188% (p=0,002), the second highest increase. The third highest increase of microparticle VWF:Ag levels was the IL-8 and TF combination treatment with a median of 94%. Thrombin in combination with IL-8 increased the microparticle VWF:Ag levels by a moderate 35% (p=0,05) and the combination of thrombin and TNF- α decreased microparticle VWF:Ag levels by 27%.

5.3 Endothelial microparticle ADAMTS-13 antigen levels

The ADAMTS-13 antigen (ADAMTS-13:Ag) levels in microparticles were extremely low (<40%). Figure 7 and Table 4 illustrate the mean percentage change in ADAMTS-13 levels detected in isolated microparticles and the statistical significance. IL-8 increased the microparticle ADAMTS-13:Ag levels by 16% and was not statistically significant. IL-6 did not have any significant effect on ADAMTS-13 levels and was increased by 7%. The TNF- α treatment decreased the microparticle ADAMTS-13 levels by 1%. This was also not statistically significant. TF also had no significant effect on the microparticle ADAMTS-13:Ag levels and decreased it by 3%. Thrombin treatment increased the microparticle ADAMTS-13 levels by 18%, which was not statistically significant. The combination of TNF- α and TF resulted in a statistically significant decrease (p=0,046) in microparticle ADAMTS-13:Ag levels with a mean value of 19%. The TNF- α and thrombin combination induced an increase of 12% in microparticle ADAMTS-13:Ag levels, which was again not statistically significant.

An increase of 34% in microparticle ADAMTS-13:Ag levels was observed with the IL-8 and thrombin combination, which was also not statistically significant. The mean percentage change in microparticle ADAMTS-13:Ag levels after the different treatments is shown in Figure 7 and its statistical significance in Table 4. Refer to the addendum for raw data and outliers.



Table 4 Statistical significance of the mean increase/decrease in microparticle ADAMTS-13 antigen levels after the different treatments

| Percentage increase /decrease | IL-6 | IL-8 | TNF-α | Throm bin | TF | TNF-α & Thrombi n | TNF-α & TF | IL-8 & thrombin |
|---------------------------------------|------|------|-------|--------------|-------|-------------------------|---------------|--------------------|
| Mean | 6,9 | 16 | -1,1 | 17,8 | -2,8* | 12,2* | -19,4* | 33,9 |
| Probability value of the t-test | 0,74 | 0,87 | 0,72 | 0,27 | 0,37* | 0,39* | 0,046* | 0,18 |

significant P-value indicated with *

5.4 Thrombin generation of endothelial microparticles

The relative percentage contribution of the microparticles to thrombin generation is also shown in Table 5. Table 5 summarises the peak thrombin concentration as well as the area under the curve (AUC) or thrombin potential of the microparticles when the HUVEC were stimulated with inflammatory and/or coagulation stimuli. Figures 8a to 8d are examples of the HUVEC microparticle thrombin generation curves of microparticle-containing and microparticle-free plasma after inflammatory, thrombotic and combined stimuli.

Microparticles formed by TNF- α contributed to 78% in the total thrombin generation in the system. TF-induced endothelial microparticles contributed to 29% of the total thrombin generation. The combination of TNF- α and thrombin contributed to 21% towards microparticle formation induced by thrombin. The lowest contribution towards microparticle thrombin generation was TF in combination with TNF- α with a value of 12%. IL-6 and thrombin did not stimulate any microparticle-dependent thrombin generation.

Table 5 Peak thrombin concentrations and AUC of thrombin generated by endothelial microparticles after treatment with inflammatory and coagulation stimuli

| Treatment of HUVEC | Peak thrombin without endothelial microparti- cles | Peak thrombin with endothelial microparti- cles | in with elial arti- cles (AUC) Thrombin generation without endothelial microparti- cles (AUC) | | Percentage difference in microparticle- dependent thrombin generation (AUC in %) | |
|-----------------------|---|---|--|------|--|--|
| TNF-α | 18 | 347 | 490 | 2179 | 78 | |
| TNF-α & thrombin | 191 | 339 | 1984 | 2514 | 21 | |
| TF | 176 | 363 | 1717 | 2429 | 29 | |
| TF & TNF-α | 125 | 317 | 1484 | 1684 | 12 | |
| IL-6 | 0 | 11 | 0 | 0 | 0 | |
| Thrombin | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | |









5.5 Multimeric analysis of endothelial microparticles

To confirm the presence of VWF in the microparticles and, where possible, assess the multimeric pattern, endothelial microparticle multimeric analysis was done. The samples were concentrated to 4 times the original volume due to low VWF:Ag levels in the samples. The VWF multimeric pattern of all individually stimulated and unstimulated samples are illustrated in Figures 9a and 9b. TNF- α and the combination of TNF- α and TF increased the density of the multimeric bands. This correlates with the VWF:Ag levels in the microparticles of these perfusates.



Figure 9a Endothelial microparticle VWF multimeric analysis after different treatments of HUVEC

Figure 9b Endothelial microparticle VWF multimeric analysis after different combined treatments

6 **DISCUSSION**

The role of microparticles in inflammatory and/or thrombotic disorders is not fully understood yet. Endothelial dysfunction is proposed as one of the main triggers of endothelial microparticle formation (Yong *et al.*, 2013). In order to gain a better understanding of the role of endothelial microparticles in inflammation and thrombosis, a study was planned to investigate the effect of the cytokines IL-6, IL-8 and TNF- α and coagulation stimuli, TF and thrombin as well as the combinations thereof on endothelial microparticle formation and on the secretion of VWF and its regulating protease, ADAMTS-13, by endothelial microparticles. The results are discussed under the relevant headings.

6.1 Human umbilical vein endothelial cells

HUVEC are probably the most commonly used cell type to study endothelial function. One of the reasons for this is availability. Another reason is the fact that the majority of available data is on HUVEC, which makes it more easily comparable (Miracle, 2012). This cell line would also be less likely to produce and/or secrete high levels of TF and VWF unless stimulated (McGuigan & Sefton, 2007). HUVEC are capable of expressing VWF and also carry ADAMTS-13, which makes it a viable option for VWF research (Combes et al., 1999, Bernardo et al., 2004, Turner et al., 2006, Liu et al., 2011).

Different endothelial cell lines are similar in many ways. For example, the inflammatory pathway and secretions that are stimulated by IL-6 and its soluble receptor are similar among microvascular endothelial cells and HUVEC (Chatterjee *et al.*, 2009). HUVEC, pulmonary microvascular endothelium and human aortic endothelium also induced similar apoptotic responses to TNF stimulation (Stefanescu *et al.*, 2008, Allen *et al.*, 2010). Many endothelial cell types also express similar markers like PECAM-1 and endoglin (Norgall *et al.*, 2007). These markers may predict the severity of disease in patients. HUVEC have also been described as a viable possibility as a blood vessel mimic for physiologically large vessels (Miracle, 2012).

In other ways, endothelial cells are totally different from each other. For example, lung, heart, intestine and skin microvascular endothelium can secrete FVIII upon phorbol myristate acetate treatment, while HUVEC seem to lack the potential to secrete FVIII upon the same stimuli (Shahani *et al.*, 2010). In human aortic endothelial cells, cyclic strain had the

opposite effect of what it had in HUVEC. Human aortic endothelial cells in static conditions induced increased secretion of inflammatory agents like ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 (Sung *et al.*, 2007). Even though endothelial cell phenotypes differ, endothelial cells from different origins produced microparticles that were able to carry VWF that could induce platelet aggregation.

HUVEC were selected for this experiment. It is known that microparticles derived from HUVEC that are able to carry VWF can also restore ristocetin-induced aggregation of platelets and induce very stable aggregates in TTP plasma. Involvement of HUVEC-derived microparticles is important in haemostasis and may be associated with increased aggregation in disorders like TTP and other disorders in which VWF and ADAMTS-13 plays an essential role (Jy *et al.*, 2005, ^aJimenez *et al.*, 2003). Activated HUVEC are also capable of forming TF-associated endothelial microparticles that are able to induce thrombin generation (Hussein *et al.*, 2008). This study is possibly the first to show how VWF:Ag levels (Figure 6), ADAMTS-13:Ag levels (Figure 7) and thrombin (Figures 8a-d) are influenced *in vitro* by HUVEC-derived microparticles upon stimulation by different cytokine, thrombotic and cytokine-thrombotic combination treatments.

In this study the confluency of the HUVEC in the flasks was estimated to be approximately 80%. Confluency of cells also plays a part in the ADAMTS-13 levels and is shown to be 3 to 4 times higher in subconfluent cells than the constant 2-fold increase observed in confluent cells (Kling *et al.*, 2009). The fourth passage was used for the experiment, since this provided optimum amounts of subconfluent cells and the state of activation of HUVEC as required for the study (Butler *et al.*, 2005). Furthermore, prolonged culturing with trypsin can damage endothelial vessel walls and induce changes in the phenotype of the cells (Luu *et al.*, 2010, Djassemi, 2012).

6.2 Microparticle isolation

The endothelial microparticles were isolated using the Ceveron MFU microparticle filtration unit. This instrument is unique in the fact that it can isolate similarly sized microparticles in the vicinity of 2 µm, reducing the amount of smaller cell debris or larger cells in the sample. It has been proposed in literature that this may be useful for standardisation of microparticle isolation (Lawry *et al.*, 2009). Not only the microparticle numbers, but also the size can influence, for example, thrombin generation (Lawry *et al.*, 2008, Van der Pol *et al.*, 2010). The impact of inflammatory and thrombotic stimuli on the microparticle numbers and the haemostatic characteristics of the microparticles will be discussed.

6.3 Inflammatory stimuli

6.3a Interleukin-6

In this study it is evident from figure 5 that IL-6 had no effect on the relative microparticle numbers. A small decrease in the median endothelial microparticle VWF:Ag levels was found (Figure 5, Table 2). HUVEC do not contain receptors for IL-6; so no marked changes in microparticle numbers or endothelial microparticle VWF:Ag levels were expected (Romano *et al.*, 1997).

Another reason why IL-6 did not influence microparticle numbers is because it may be associated more with apoptotic conditions than inflammation (Borges *et al.*, 2009). In healthy patients, PECAM-1 expression is more increased in endothelial microparticles than the inflammatory marker, E-selectin (^bChirinos *et al.*, 2005). In an *in vivo* study of patients with multiple organ dysfunction and sepsis, the number of endothelial microparticles was the same as the number in healthy individuals, while the IL-6 levels were increased (Joop *et al.*, 2001). The results of the *in vivo* study correlate with my results (Figure 5, Table 2). In this study, IL-6 did not induce measurable thrombin generation (Table 5) in endothelial microparticles. This may be due to the lack of microparticles that formed upon IL-6 stimulation of HUVEC.

The literature indicates that IL-6 may inhibit ADAMTS-13 activity (Bernardo *et al.*, 2004). However, in a study of malaria patients, an inverse correlation was found between microparticle ADAMTS-13:Ag and VWF:Ag levels and IL-6 (De Mast *et al.*, 2009). IL-6 also did not show increased ULVWF multimer secretion as in IL-8 and TNF- α -stimulated HUVEC (Bernardo *et al.*, 2004). In this study, IL-6 treatment of HUVEC had no significant effect on microparticle ADAMTS-13:Ag levels (Figure 7, Table 4).

6.3b Tumour necrosis factor alpha and interleukin-8

The number of microparticles as well as the microparticle VWF:Ag levels increased upon TNF- α activation of HUVEC (Figure 5, Table 2). This correlates with other studies (Combes *et al.*, 1999, Bernardo *et al.*, 2004, Jy *et al.*, 2005, Faille *et al.*, 2009, Macey *et al.*, 2010). The precise mechanism of how this TNF- α induces such an increase in microparticles is still unkown; however, P38 MAPK phosphorylation that leads to increased ICAM-1 is a proposed mechanism. By increasing ICAM-1, TNF- α may amplify the inflammatory response to induce even more microparticle formation (Curtis *et al.*, 2009). TNF- α treatment of HUVEC is also a known inducer of thrombin generation (Kirchhofer *et al.*, 1994). Microparticles formed from this stimulation contributed to 78% of the thrombin generation (Figure 8a, Table 5).

In a study by Bernardo et al. (2004), a dose-dependent increase was observed in the ULVWF multimers upon TNF-α treatment of HUVEC (Bernardo et al., 2004). Overall, IL-8 treatment also induced an increase in ULVWF multimers in endothelial cells. Higher increase in VWF levels at 10 µM concentrations was observed. The highest increase in VWF levels with the IL-8 stimulation was found with the 100 µM treatment. These studies were unfortunately not done on microparticles. It was also demonstrated that microvascular renal and brain endothelial cells stimulated with TNF- α induce endothelial microparticles with functional VWF (Jy et al., 2005). In this study (Figure 6, Table 3) as in others, IL-8 and TNFa both induced median increases in VWF:Ag levels in microparticles after treatment of HUVEC with 100 ng/ml concentrations of these cytokines (Combes et al., 1999 Bernardo et al., 2004). The first evidence for endothelial microparticle-dependent VWF expression in HUVEC endothelial cells after stimulation thereof with TTP plasma was provided by ^aJimenez et al. (2003). Renal and brain microvascular endothelial cells treated with TNF- α were used as positive control for VWF levels in microvascular endothelial derived microparticles in this study. In my study, TNF- α induced a statistically significant increase in microparticle VWF:Ag levels in HUVEC (Figure 5, Table 2).

In accordance with ^bCao *et al.* (2008), who found lower ADAMTS-13 mRNA levels after 24 hour treatment with 10 ng/ml, the TNF-α in this study induced decreased ADAMTS-13:Ag levels in microparticles after a higher 100 ng/ml concentration of TNF-α treatment of HUVEC (Figure 7, Table 4). Again, the study of ^bCao *et al.* (2008) was done under static conditions and on cells and not microparticles. The level of detection of the ELISA used in this study may not be as sensitive as real-time PCR used by ^bCao *et al.* (2008), but the same effect could be observed.

From figure 7 and table 4 it is evident that IL-8 induced a slight and insignificant increase in HUVEC microparticle ADAMTS-13 levels. To date, no studies have been done on the effect of IL-8 treatment on ADAMTS-13 levels of microparticles.

6.4 Coagulation stimuli:

6.4a Tissue factor

In figure 5 and table 2 an increase in the number of endothelial microparticles after TF treatment is evident. TF is involved in activation of FX by its binding to FVIIa. It is interesting to note that in ovarian cancer and fibroblast cell lines, it took only one minute to reach maximum FX activation, while it took approximately 30 minutes for the TF-FVIIa complex to achieve a state of saturated binding *in vitro*. The faster effect may be due to the presence of microparticles in these disorders (Le *et al.*, 1992). The assembly of the tissue TF-FVIIa complex may also be responsible for formation of these microparticles. Unfortunately, this has not yet been proven. Increased TF levels as well as endothelial microparticle levels, were observed in numerous disorders in which endothelial damage occur, like myocardial infarction, lung cancer and leukaemias (Nakasaki *et al.*, 2000, Morange *et al.*, 2007, Regina *et al.*, 2009, Breen *et al.*, 2011, Fleitas *et al.*, 2011). Therefore, the increased numbers of endothelial microparticles may be due to the activation by TF. Nonetheless, no correlation thereof was found in these studies.

In figure 5 (Table 2) and 6 (Table 3) one can observe an increase in the number of microparticles as well as a statistically significant increase in microparticle VWF:Ag levels upon stimulation with TF. It was suggested that increased VWF levels are involved in patients at risk of thrombosis in atrial fibrillation. TF levels were also increased in these and other patients. Whether TF can be linked to increased VWF:Ag levels *in vivo* is still unknown (Lip, 2003, Sato *et al.*, 2006, Yamashita *et al.*, 2006). If a link could be established between these factors, the findings support the possibility that TF play a part in increased VWF:Ag levels to subsequently promote the prothrombotic state. In this study, (Figure 8c, Table 5) microparticles derived from HUVEC treated with TF contribute to about 30% of the thrombin formation. This correlates with an *in vivo* study in which haematopoietically derived microparticles carrying TF were also involved in thrombus formation (Chou *et al.*, 2004). It is, therefore not surprising that both TF and VWF levels are increased in inflammatory conditions.

In reference to figure 7 (Table 4) no apparent change in the HUVEC microparticle ADAMTS-13 levels upon stimulation with TF was found. This correlates with studies where shiga toxin that stimulates TF expression was used. Cells treated with shiga toxin also did not increase or decrease the ADAMTS-13 levels (Nestoridi *et al.*, 2005, Nolasco *et al.*, 2005, Nguyen & Carcillo, 2006, Liu *et al.*, 2011).

6.4b Thrombin

In various studies, thrombin induces endothelial microparticle formation (Combes *et al.*, 1999, Sapet *et al.*, 2006, Simoncini *et al.*, 2009). In these studies the dosages of thrombin that were used to treat cells range between 0,1 IU/ml and 1 IU/ml. In a study by Šimák *et al.* (2002), stimulation of HUVEC for 30 minutes with 1-50 µmol/l of thrombin did not result in significant microparticle formation. Furthermore, treatment of pulmonary endothelial cells with 100 ng/ml of thrombin did not induce substantial phosphorylation of membrane cytoskeletal proteins (Schaphorst *et al.*, 1997). Similarly, an insignificant decrease was found in the amount of microparticles when HUVEC were stimulated with 2 U/ml thrombin.

Thrombin is a protein known for its pleiotropic effects in vascular cells (Guðmundsdóttir et al., 2008). No recognizable effect of thrombin on microparticle VWF:Ag levels were observed in this study (Figure 6). Gumundsdóttir et al. (2008) found no noticeable effect of thrombin receptor PAR-1 stimulation on VWF:Ag levels. Other studies found increases in VWF:Ag levels. A 15-minute stimulation of HUVEC with 0,001-10 U/ml thrombin resulted in increased expression of VWF (Birch et al., 1992). VWF was also shown to be increased by stimulation of 1 U/ml, 2 IU/ml and 5 IU/ml thrombin for 5 to 60 minutes. Then again, after treating cells for 5 minutes with thrombin, washing and immediately treating again with 1 U/ml of thrombin a 0,08% decrease in VWF levels were observed. In this study, the impact of temperature on the thrombin-induced VWF response was investigated. After 5 minutes of stimulation with thrombin, washing of cells and incubating them at 4 °C or 37 °C in culture medium, these cells had a reduced response or no response and strong increased VWF responses subsequently (Storck & Zimmermann, 1996). A slight, insignificant decrease in the amount of endothelial microparticles (Figure 5, Table 2) as well as a decrease in endothelial microparticle-derived VWF levels (Figure 6, Table 3) derived from microparticles was observed in this study.

One of the explanations for these decreased VWF levels in this study may be the possibility of the role that the integral membrane receptor, TM, played in decreasing VWF levels. An

inverse correlation between the levels of TM and VWF levels was found in cancer patients undergoing radiation therapy (Zhou *et al.*, 1992). Furthermore, endothelial cells infected with *Rekettsia conorri* resulted in a decrease in TM receptor levels and an increase in the VWF levels (Teysseire *et al.* 1992). It is possible that TM is expressed on endothelial microparticles and therefore may contribute to the decreased levels of VWF observed in this study (Leroyer *et al.*, 2010). In the intact endothelium, thrombin is expected to contain a more antithrombotic role than in damaged endothelium due to the expression of TM in order to protect the endothelium from excessive thrombosis (Lane *et al.*, 2005).

Endothelial microparticles may also contain the endothelial protein C receptor (EPCR, Pérez-Casal *et al.* 2009, Leroyer *et al.*, 2010). The binding of thrombin to TM receptors on cells or microparticles may induce activation of protein C (provided that protein C is produced by endothelial cells). APC is implicated in anti-inflammatory reactions and is dose and time dependent for inhibiting apoptosis. The EPCR is also recquired for increased activation of protein C (Mosnier & Griffen, 2003, Thiyagarajan *et al.*, 2007).

Another explanation for the observations made in this study could be that the nature of TRAIL induced by thrombin stimulation, may have elicited more non-apoptotic pathways in the HUVEC. TRAIL is involved in inducing apoptosis in cancerous cells. Anti-apoptotic effects of TRAIL in normal cells are under investigation (Collison *et al.*, 2009). In a study by Simoncini *et al.* (2009), TRAIL was shown to be involved in thrombin-induced microparticle formation in HMEC-1 cells. Blocking of TRAIL resulted in a reduction of the amount as well as the procoagulability of the microparticles. However, this study was done on HMECs and my study was done in HUVEC. Secchiero *et al.* (2003) believe that the TRAIL receptor is also involved in protection of HUVEC against apoptosis. In fact, TRAIL receptors in HUVEC cells stimulated proliferation. Activation of TRAIL receptors by TRAIL in HUVEC also did not activate P38, (C-Jun NH2 terminal kinase) JNK or NF- $\kappa\beta$ that may lead to increased expression of adhesion molecules, like E-selectin, ICAM-1 and VCAM-1, that advance inflammation but rather have a protective role on HUVEC (Mosnier & Griffin., 2003, Secchiero *et al.*, 2003).

In this study, thrombin induced a slight increase in the microparticle ADAMTS-13 levels (Figure 7, Table 4) but had no effect on thrombin generation in HUVEC derived microparticles (Table 5).

6.5 Combination stimuli:

In a normal *in vivo* environment, many factors are combined and these may induce different effects on cells than only one factor. Thrombin, for example, can exert different functions in combination with different factors. Thrombin and FVIIa may induce an extremely prothrombotic environment, while thrombin and TM may cause exactly the opposite effect (Le *et al.*, 1992, Binette *et al.*, 2007). No studies have been done on the combination effect of inflammatory and coagulation stimuli on microparticles and its specific effect on VWF, ADAMTS-13 and thrombin generation. In the next few paragraphs the effect of the different combinations of cytokines with coagulation stimuli are discussed.

6.5.1 Combinations with thrombin

Stimulation of HUVEC with a combination of thrombin and TNF- α resulted in a decrease in the number of microparticles (Figure 5, Table 2) as well as of microparticle VWF levels (Figure 6, Table 3). It seemed that the effect of thrombin overruled that of TNF- α . It was shown that the expression of PAR-1 and PAR-2 receptors after thrombin stimulation remained unchanged after TNF- α stimuli. Consequently, signaling by APC was still possible (Riewald & Ruf, 2005). Hence PAR-1 activation by thrombin in combination with protein C can still induce anti-apoptotic responses.

PAR-2 also plays an important role in the anti-inflammatory mechanisms of thrombin (Lindington *et al.*, 2005). PAR-2 was shown to be increased by inflammatory cytokines TNF- α and IL-1 (Nystedt *et al.*, 1996). The stimulation of PAR-1 and subsequently PAR-2 is upregulated on HUVEC by inflammatory cytokines in combination with thrombin. PAR-1 and PAR-2 may induce signaling via protein kinase C, which is known for its anti-inflammatory and cytoprotective effects and is involved in the protection of cells against injury mediated by the complement cascades (Lindington *et al.*, 2005). This mechanism may also explain the reduced number of microparticles and VWF levels that were observed in the endothelial microparticles after stimulation of HUVEC with thrombin in combination with the cytokine TNF- α .

In this study, the HUVEC microparticle ADAMTS-13 levels were slightly raised after a combination of TNF- α and thrombin (Figure 7, Table 4). Again, the thrombin negated the effect of the TNF- α in this case. One must keep in mind that these results obtained for HUVEC microparticle ADAMTS-13 levels were not significant and very close to the detection limit.

IL-8, like TNF-α, is principally known for its inflammatory properties and induction of increased vascular permeability (Petreaca *et al.*, 2007). When IL-8 was used in combination with thrombin, small but insignificant increases in VWF- and ADAMTS-13 levels were observed (Figure 7, Table 4). The separate effects of these agents were also very small and insignificant (Figure 7, Table 4). A possible mechanism by which IL-8 and thrombin stimulate endothelial cells may be through endothelial cell permeability. IL-8 may induce increased permeability when eNOS is inhibited (Van Nieuw Amerongen *et al.*, 2004). Thrombin regulates eNOS in endothelial cells (Eto *et al.*, 2001, Andreeva *et al.*, 2006). Both IL-8 and thrombin can induce increased permeability if endothelial microparticles can express eNOS. However, this has not yet been shown. Thrombin-induced endothelial cell permeability is proposed to be mediated/amplified by more than one pathway (van Nieuw Amerongen *et al.*, 1998).

6.5.2 Combinations with tissue factor

The combination of TF with TNF- α induced an increase in the HUVEC-derived microparticle numbers (Figure 5, Table 2). This increase was not as extensive as that of the TF stimuli alone and was statistically insignificant. This combination also induced an increase of HUVEC microparticles in the VWF. TF, like thrombin, has also recently been implicated in the activation of PAR-1. This was also shown to be able to elicit anti-inflammatory reactions upon certain stimuli (Cenac et al., 2005). This is very novel and knowledge regarding the precise role of TF in this activation is still evolving (Delacroix & Simari, 2012). Activated TF can also activate PAR-2 (Busch et al., 2005). PARs can induce increased or decreased VWF expression (Langer et al., 1999, Klarenbach et al., 2003). The reason for the lower increase of HUVEC microparticles and microparticle VWF with the IL-8 and TF combination stimuli in comparison with TF alone is not known but may be attributed to the pleiotropic effects of PAR-2 (Langer et al., 1999, Klarenbach et al., 2003, Hjortoe et al., 2004, Suen et PAR-2 may have elicited anti-inflammatory effects by downregulating *al.*, 2010). complement gene expression and upregulation of decay-accelerating factor (DAF) in the HUVEC (Suen et al., 2010). This may also suggest a protective role of the PAR-2 receptor in inflammation and thrombosis. Similarly, the combination of TF and IL-8 induced no statistically significant increase in micorparticle VWF levels (Figure 6). Yet, this effect was also less than that of TF alone (Figure 6, Table 3).

The ADAMTS-13 levels after inflammatory cytokine and coagulation stimuli are also still a developing field of research. In this study, slight decreases in endothelial microparticle

ADAMTS-13 was observed after stimulation of HUVEC with TNF- α and TF alone (Figure 7, Table 4). This decrease is probably due to the small effect of TNF- α . Interestingly, in TTP, which is usually associated with decreased ADAMTS-13 activity, TNF- α was increased (Wada *et al.*, 1992). The effect of TF on ADAMTS-13 levels is not yet known. It can be suggested that this increased VWF and decreased ADAMTS-13 levels may be involved in prothombotic processes.

It was shown that TF expression in TNF- α -stimulated endothelial colony-forming cells was increased and that this combination subsequently led to increased thrombin generation potential (Cuccuini *et al.*, 2010). In this study microparticles from TNF- α and TF combination treated HUVEC are involved in 12% of the thrombin generation (Figure 8d, Table 5).

This study suggest that with more research endothelial microparticles in injured or dysfunctional endothelium may prove to be a cause of thrombotic and inflammatory disorders.

7 CONCLUSION

This study focused on the effect of inflammatory and thrombotic stimuli as well as the combination thereof on HUVEC microparticle formation and its haemostatic potential. It is possible that endothelial microparticles may be a cause of several inflammatory and thrombotic disorders but this needs more research. HUVEC can be used in such a study, since this cell line was able to form microparticles upon stimulation and these microparticles contained VWF multimers that were visible by electrophoresis.

The cytokine IL-6 had no effect on HUVEC-derived microparticles due to the lack of the IL-6 receptor in these cells. IL-8 also had only a small effect on microparticle VWF and ADAMTS-13 levels.

TNF- α increased the microparticle numbers significantly but had only a small effect on VWF and the ADAMTS-13 content of the microparticles. These microparticles contributed to almost 80% of the thrombin generated by the stimulation of TNF- α . In this way, TNF- α is a stimulus that may be responsible for the onset of thrombotic disorders by increasing TF-containing microparticles. This is possibly the first study to show the effect of TNF- α on HUVEC microparticle VWF and ADAMTS-13 levels.

TF in contrast to TNF- α had significantly increased VWF levels in microparticles and also increased the number of microparticles. It had no effect on ADAMTS-13 levels in microparticles. TF, therefore, stimulates the formation of microparticles rich in VWF. It is hypothesised that TF is responsible for the increased VWF levels in patients with HIV-associated TTP where inflammation and VWF plays a part.

Thrombin had no effect on microparticle formation and so may protect intact HUVEC. This emphasises the role of thrombin in regulating haemostasis in different cellular environments and protecting against thrombosis in extremely inflammatory environments. It is also not surprising from the microparticle numbers and VWF levels that the combination stimuli of thrombin and inflammatory agents also had a protective effect on HUVEC.

This study contributes to the understanding of the role of endothelial-derived microparticles in inflammatory and thrombotic environments. More research on endothelial microparticles in injured or dysfunctional endothelium may prove to be a cause of thrombotic and/or inflammatory disorders.

8 FUTURE STUDIES

The dose-dependent and protective role of thrombin in the stimulation of intact endothelial cells to form endothelial microparticles is still uncertain. In a possible future study, the effect of different concentrations and length of stimulation on microparticle VWF:Ag levels and numbers must be determined. It will be interesting to determine the possible mechanisms whereby TNF- α increases endothelial microparticle numbers and also mechanisms whereby TF increases VWF:Ag levels in endothelial microparticles.

Since the number of microparticles and their sizes influences the results of the thrombin generation assay, it will be interesting to study how different cytokines or cell types influence the size distribution of microparticles and whether these sizes have an impact on haemostatic potential (Lawry *et al.*, 2008).

Microparticles can be a promising field for future research and development of new diagnostic, prognostic or treatment methods (Bakouboula *et al.*, 2007, Wang *et al.*, 2009, Nozaki *et al.*, 2010, Lev-Ari *et al.*, 2012). This will require research on the number of microparticles in different haemostatic and/or vascular disorders where microparticles may be increased, like TTP and coronary artery disorders, such as angina, acute coronary syndrome, heart failure and hypertention (Simak & Gelderman, 2006, Bakouboula *et al.*, 2007, Nozaki *et al.*, 2010,). The number, origin and thrombotic potential thereof can also be determined. Another perspective will be to assess not only the VWF:Ag and ADAMTS-13:Ag levels in microparticles in disorders, but also to determine other immunological markers such as adhesion molecules that may be specific to certain haemostatic disorders. By doing this immunological profiles can be compiled at different stages of the same or different disorders to ascertain the role of microparticles in diagnostic, prognostic or treatment purposes. For example, in patients with increased VWF:Ag levels, like in TTP (Meiring *et al.*, 2011), the number of microparticles can also be assessed in order to obtain a better prognosis for the risk of developing thrombosis.

Other risk determining factors like VWF:Ag in microparticles can also be assessed in patients with high risk of thrombosis, which may result in high TF levels in the blood, which, in turn, may lead to kidney failure, strokes or infarctions. The correlation between TF levels and microparticle VWF:Ag in these patients may be assessed to determine the role of these microparticles in the pathophysiology of these disorders.

The blood and blood products provided to patients can also be assessed and stored or treated differently for more efficient treatment. Microparticle numbers can increase upon storage thereof. This could have a beneficial or negative impact on freezing and storing different blood or blood products for transfusion or testing purposes. Different storage conditions may account for increased numbers and also for different types of microparticles. A future study can determine more effective methods for storing blood and obtaining the optimal number and type of microparticles for specific purposes using optimal storage conditions (Lawry *et al.,* 2009). In future stored blood products can be manipulated according to specific patient requirements, which may account for a lower risk of thrombosis. For example, decreased TFPI levels that have been found in TTP patients and blood transfusions containing microparticles with higher TFPI levels on microparticles may account for blood transfusions (Kobayashi *et al.,* 1995).
9 ABSTRACT

Endothelial microparticle reseach is currently a very novel and exciting topic in the field of haemosistasis and thrombosis. The role of microparticles in inflammatory and thrombotic disorders is however not fully understood. Dysfunction of endothelial cells is hypothesized to be a trigger of microparticle formation. In inflammatory disorders like sepsis and thrombotic disorders like atherosclerosis and thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura, endothelial microparticle formation is altered and the numbers thereof may increase or decrease. It is not known if microparticles are the cause or the consequence of these disorders.

To understand the role of endothelial microparticles in inflammation and thrombosis, the effect of inflammatory cytokines and coagulation stimuli was studied as well as combinations thereof on endothelial microparticle formation and on microparticle VWF and its regulating protease, ADAMTS-13 in HUVEC.

In this study, the formation of microparticles in cultured human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC) was stimulated by different inflammatory agents: IL-6 (100 ng/ml), IL-8 (100 ng/ml) and TNF- α (100 ng/ml), coagulation stimuli: TF (2 U/ml) and thrombin (2 U/ml) and combinations thereof. The number of endothelial microparticles that formed was determined using flow cytometry. VWF and ADAMTS-13 levels of the microparticles were assessed by ELISAs and microparticle thrombin generation was measured by thrombin generation assays. VWF multimers were visualized by a Western Blot technique.

IL-6 did not have any effect on HUVEC-derived microparticles due to the lack of the receptor for IL-6 on these cells. IL-8 only slightly increased effect on microparticle VWF and ADAMTS-13 levels. TNF- α had a significant effect on microparticle numbers and contributed to almost 80% of thrombin generated by the microparticles. It has however almost no effect on VWF levels. The coagulation stimulus TF, on the other hand, induced the highest increase in microparticle VWF levels and increased microparticle numbers impressively. Yet, it had no effect on the thrombin generation by the microparticles. TF in combination with TNF- α also induced an increase in microparticle VWF and a small decrease in ADAMTS-13 levels. So, TF may contribute to the increased VWF levels that are commonly found in TTP patients where inflammation and thrombosis occur.

Interestingly, thrombin had a protective effect on the intact HUVEC by preventing microparticle formation. The combination stimuli of thrombin and inflammatory agents also

had a protective effect on HUVEC. This highlighted the regulatory role of thrombin in intact endothelial cells and also the protection that it provides against thrombosis in extremely inflammatory environments.

Endothelial microparticles can therefore be detrimental or beneficial, depending on the different stimuli and different environments. Inflammatory and coagulation stimuli may still pose a significant risk of clotting by altering microparticle quantity and content. This study contributes to understand the role that endothelial microparticles play in inflammation and thrombosis.

10 OPSOMMING

Endoteel-mikropartikelnavorsing is tans 'n baie nuwe en belowende onderwerp in hemostase en trombose. Die rol van mikropartikels in inflammatoriese en trombotiese toestande is nog onbekend. Wanfunksie van endoteelselle word as een van die oorsake van mikropartikelvorming bestempel. In inflammatoriese en trombotiese siektetoestande, soos sepsis, arterosklerose en trombotiese trombositopeniese purpura, vind daar verskeie veranderings in die vorming van mikropartikels plaas. Dit is nog onbekend of mikropartikels die oorsaak of die gevolg van hierdie siektetoestande is.

Om 'n beter begrip van die rol van endoteelmikropartikels te verkry, het ons die uitwerking van inflammatoriese sitokine en stollingsfaktore asook kombinasies van die twee groepe op endoteel-mikropartikelvorming in HUVEC ondersoek. Ons het ook die effek daarvan op die uitdrukking van von Willebrand faktor (VWF) en sy regulerende protease, ADAMTS-13, bestudeer.

Ons het in hierdie studie die vorming van mikropartikels gestimuleer deur menslike naelstringendoteelselle (HUVEC) met inflammatoriese agente, IL-6 (100 ng/ml), IL-8 (100 ng/ml) en TNF-α (100 ng/ml), asook stollingsfaktore, TF (2 U/ml) en trombien (2 U/ml) en kombinasies daarvan, te behandel. Die doel van die studie was nie alleen om die hoeveelheid HUVEC-mikropartikels wat vorm te bepaal nie, maar ook om die ADAMTS-13 en VWF-vlakke, VWF-multimeerpatroon en die trombiengenerasie van die mikropartikels te bepaal. Die hoeveelheid mikropartikels is bepaal deur vloeisitometrie te gebruik. VWF- en ADAMTS-13-vlakke is bepaal deur ELISA tegnieke en die trombiengenerasie is gemeet deur kinetiese reaksies. 'n "Western" kladtegniek is gebruik om die VWF-multimeer te besigtig.

Interleukien-6 het geen uitwerking op die vorming van mikropartikels in HUVEC gehad nie. Die rede hiervoor is dat hierdie tipe endoteelselle geen reseptor vir IL-6 besit nie. Interleukien-8 het die mikropartikel VWF- en ADAMTS-13-vlakke slegs in 'n geringe mate verhoog. Tumor-nekrose-faktor-alfa het die hoeveelheid van endoteel-mikropartikels betekenisvol verhoog. Dit het sowat 80% bygedra tot die trombiengenerasie van die mikropartikels, maar het geen effek op die VWF-inhoud van die mikropartikels gehad nie. Tumor-nekrose-faktor-alfa is dus 'n kragtige stimulant van endoteelselle en is moontlik verantwoordelik vir die trombotiese neigings in trombotiese en inflammatoriese siektetoestande. Die stollingsfaktor TF het mikropartikelvlakke die meeste verhoog, maar het geen uitwerking op die trombiengenerasie van mikropartikels getoon nie. Stimulasie met weefselfaktor in kombinasie met TNF-α het ook 'n verhoging in mikropartikel-VWF- en 'n klein verlaging in ADAMTS-13 vlakke veroorsaak. Dit is dus moontlik dat TF betrokke is by die verhoogde VWF-vlakke wat in TTP-pasiente voorkom. Inflammasie en trombose speel 'n hoogs waarskynlike rol in hierdie siektetoestand. Trombien het 'n beskermende uitwerking op ongeskonde HUVEC, aangesien dit die vorming van mikropartikels bekamp. Die kombinasiestimuli van trombien en sitokine het ook 'n beskermende uitwerking op HUVEC-selle getoon. Dit beklemtoon dus die regulerende rol van trombien in hemostase, veral op ongeskonde endoteelselle, asook die beskermingseffek daarvan teen trombose in oormatige stollings- en inflammatoriese toestande.

Endoteel-mikropartikels kan dus nadelig of voordelig vir die liggaam wees na aanleiding van verskillende behandelings en in verskillende omgewings. Inflammatoriese en stollingsfaktore is wel risikofaktore vir stolling, aangesien dit die aantal en inhoud van mikropartikes beïnvloed. Hierdie studie dra by tot die kennis van mikropartikels afkomstig van endoteelselle asook die rol daarvan in inflammasie en trombose.

11 REFERENCES

Adiguzel C, Iqbal O, Hoppensteadt D, Jeske W, Cunanan J, Litinas E, Zhu H, Walenga JM, Fareed J, 2009, Comparative Anticoagulant and Platelet Modulatory Effects of Enoxaparin and Sulodexide, *Clinical and Applied Thrombosis/Haemostasis*, **15**: 501-511.

Ait-Oufella H, Maury E, Lehoux S, Guidet B, Offenstadt G, 2010, The Endothelium: Physiological Functions and Role in Microcirculatory Faillure During Severe Sepsis, *Intensive Care Medicine*, **36**: 1286-1298.

Allen JB, Khan S, Lapidos KA, Ameer GA, 2010, Toward Engineering a Human Neoendothelium with Circulating Progenitor cells, *Stem Cells*, 28: 318-328.

Amabile N, Boulanger CM, Guérin AP, Tedgui A, London GM, 2009, Circulating Endothelial Microparticles: A Novel Biomarker for Prediction of Subsequent Death and Cardiovascular Events in End-Stage Renal Disease, Endothelium and Atherosclerosis Meeting, Abstract only, Circulation, *American Heart Association*, **120**: S1010.

Andreeva AV, Vaiskunaite R, Kutuzov MA, Profirovic J, Skidgel RA, Voyno-Yasenetskaya T, 2006, Novel Mechanisms of GProtein-Dependent Regulation of Endothelial Nitric-Oxide Synthase, *Molecular Pharmacology*, **69**: 975-982.

Angelot F, Seillès E, Biichlé S, Berda Y, Gaugler B, Plumas J, Chaperot L, Dignat-George F, Tiberghien P, Saas P, Garnache-Ottou F, 2009, Endothelial Cell-Derived Microparticles Induce Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cell Maturation: Potential Implications in Inflammatory Diseases, *Haematologica*, 94: 1502-1512.

Antoniak S, Boltzen U, Eisenreich A, Stelbaum C, Poller W, Schultheiss HP, Rauch U, 2009, Regulation of Cardiomyocyte Full-Length Tissue Factor Expression and Microparticle Release Under Inflammatory Conditions *In Vitro*, *Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis*, **7**: 871-878.

Apostolakis S, Vogiatzi K, Amanatidou V, Spandidos DA, 2009, Interleukin 8 and Cardiovascular Disease, *Cardiovascular Research*, 84: 353-360.

Ardoin SP, Shanahan JC, Pisetsky DS, 2007, The Role of Microparticles in Inflammation and Thrombosis, *Scandinavian Journal of Immunology*, 66: 159-165.

Awan ZA, Naveed AK, Malik MM, Naved A, 2008, Evaluation of C-Reactive Protein and Interleukin-6 as Markers of Coronary Heart Disease, *Annals*, **14:** 50-55.

Bakouboula B, Morel O, Faure A, Zobairi F, Jesel L, Trinh A, Zupan M, Canuet M, Grunegbaum L, Brunette A, Desprez D, Chabot F, Weitzenblum E, Freyssinet J, Chaouat A, Toti F, 2007, Procoagulant Membrane Microparticles Correlate with the Severity of Pulmonary Arterial Hypertention, *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, **177**: 536-543.

Barnes TC, Spiller DG, Anderson ME, Edwards SW, Moots RJ, 2011, Endothelial Activation and Apoptosis Mediated by Neutrophil-Dependent Interleukin 6 Trans-Signalling: A Novel Target for Systemic Sclerosis?, *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, **70:** 366-372.

Benameur T, Andriantsitohaina R, Martínez MC, 2009, Therapeutic Potential of Plasma Membrane-Derived Microparticles, *Pharmacological Reports*, 61: 49-57.

Bernardo A, Ball C, Nolasco L, Moake JF, Dong J, 2004, Effects of Inflammatory Cytokines on the Release and Cleavage of the Endothelial Cell-Derived Ultralarge Von Willebrand Factor Multimers Under Flow, *Blood*, **104**: 100-106.

Berny MA, White TC, Tucker El, Bush-Pelc LA, Cera ED, Gruber A, McCarty OJT, 2008, Thrombin Mutant W215A/E217A Acts as a Platelet GPIb Agonist, Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis and Vascular Biology, *Cell Biology/Signalling*, **28**: 329-334.

Bevers EM, Williamson PL, 2010, Phospholipid Scramblase: An update, Federation of European Biochemical Societies letters, 584: 2724-2730.

Binette TM, Taylor FB, Peer G, Bajzar L, 2007, Thrombin-Thrombomodulin Connects Coagulation and Fibrinolysis: More Than an *In Vitro* Phenomenon, *Haemostasis Thrombosis and Vascular Biology*, **110**: 3168-3175.

Birch KA, Pober JS, Zavoico GB, Means AR, Ewenstein BM, 1992, Calcium/Calmodulin Transduces Thrombin-Stimulated Secretion: Studies in Intact and Minimally Permeabilized Human Umbilical Vein Endothelial Cells, *The Journal of Cell Biology*, **118:** 1501-1510.

Biro E, 2008, Cell-Derived Microparticles, Dissertation, *University of Amsterdam, The Netherlands.*

Borges VM, Vandevier RM, McPhillips KA, Kench JA, Morimoto K, Groshong SD, Richens TR, Graham BB, Muldrow AM, Van Heule L,Henson PM, Janssen WJ, 2009, TNFα Inhibits Apoptotic Cell Clearance in the Lung, Exacerbating Acute Inflammation, *Lung, Cellular and Molecular Physiology*, **297:** L586-595.

Boulanger CM, Amabile N, Tedgui A, 2006, Circulating Microparticles: A Potential Prognostic Marker for Atherosclerotic Vascular Disease, *Hypertension, Journal of the American Heart Association*, **48**: 180-186.

Bradley JR, 2008, TNF-Mediated Inflammatory Disease, *Journal of Pathology*, 214: 149-160.

Breen KA, Grimwade D, Hunt BJ, 2011, The Pathogenesis and Management of the Coagulopathy of Acute Promyelocytic Leukaemia, *British Journal of Haematology*, **156**: 24-36.

Brodsky SV, Satoskar A, Nadasdy T, 2012, Endothelial Microparticles in Transplant Patients – A Great Potential but a Long Way to Go, *Frontiers in Bioscience*, **4:** 876-888.

Brodsky SV, Zhang F, Nasjletti A, Goligorsky MS, 2004, Endothelium-Derived Microparticles Impair Endothelial Function *in Vitro, American Journal of Physiology – Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, **286**: H1910-H1915.

Brummel KE, Paradis SG, Butenas S, Mann KG, 2002, Thrombin Functions During Tissue Factor-Induced Blood Coagulation, *Blood*, 100: 148-152.

Burnier L, Fontana P, Kwak BR, Angelillo-Scherrer A, 2009, Cell-derived Microparticles in Haemostasis and Vascular Medicine, *The Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis*, 101: 439-451.

Busch G, Seitz I, Steppich B, Hess S, Eckl R, Schömig A, Ott I, 2005, Coagulation Factor Xa Stimulates Interleukin-8 Release in Endothelial Cells and Mononuclear Leukocytes: Implications in Acute Myocardial Infarction, *Arteriosclerosis, Trombosis and Vascular Biology*, **25**: 461-466.

Butler LM, Rainger GE, Rahman M, Nash GB, 2005, Prolonged Culture of Endothelial Cells and Deposition of Basement Membrane Modify the Recruitment of Neurtophils, *Experimental Cell Research*, **310**: 22-32.

^aCao W, Krishnaswamy S, Camire RM, Lenting PJ, Zheng XL, 2008, Factor VIII Accelerates Proteolytic Cleavage of Von Willebrand Factor by ADAMTS-13, *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 27: 7416-7421.

^bCao W, Niiya M, Zheng X, Shang D, Zheng XL, 2008, Inflammatory Cytokines Inhibit ADAMTS13 Synthesis in Hepatic Stellate Cells and Endothelial Cells, *The Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis*, **6**: 1233-1235.

Cenac N, Cellars L, Steinhoff M, Andrade-Gordon P, Hollenberg MD, Wallace JL, Fiorucci S, Vergnolle N, 2005, Protease-Activated Receptor-1 is an Anti-Inflammatory Signal for Colitis Mediated by a Type 2 Immune Response, *Inflammatory Bowel Disease*, **11**: 792-798.

Chattergee MS, Denney WS, Jing H, Diamond SL, 2010, Systems Biology of Coagulation Initiation: Kinetics of Thrombin Generation in Resting and Activated Human Blood, *Plos Computational Biology*, **9:** e1000950.

Chatterjee PK, Al-Abed Y, Sherry B, Metz CN, 2009, Cholinergic Agonists Regulate JAK/STAT Signaling to Suppress Endothelial Cell Activation, *American Journal of Cellular Physiology*, 297: C1294-C306.

Chauhan AK, Kisucka J, Brill A, Walsh MT, Scheiflinger F, Wagner DD, 2008, ADAMTS-13: A New Link Between Thrombosis and Inflammation, *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, **205**: 2065-2074.

Chin BSP, Blann AD, Gibbs CR, Chung NAY, Conway DG, Lip GYH, 2003, Prognostic Value of Interleukin-6, Plasma Viscosity, Fibrinogen, Von Willebrand Factor, Tissue Facor and Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Levels in Congestive Heart Faillure, *European Journal of Clinical Investigation*, **33:** 941-948.

Chion CKNK, Doggen CJM, Crawley JTB, Lane DA, Rosendaal FR, 2007, ADAMTS13 and Von Willebrand Factor and the Risk of Myocardial Infarction in Men, *Blood,* **109:** 1998 - 2000.

^aChirinos JA, Heresi GA, Velasquez H, Wenche J, Jimenez JJ, Ahn E, Horstman LL, Soriano AO, Zambrano JP, Ahn YS, 2005, Elevation of Endothelial Microparticles, Platelets and Leukocyte Activation in Patients with Venous Thromboembolism, *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, **45**: 1467-1471.

^bChirinos JA, Zambrano JP, Virani SS, Jimenez JJ, Jy W, Ahn E, Horstman LL, Castellanos A, Myerburg RJ, Ahn YS, 2005, Correlation Between Apoptotic Endothelial Microparticles and Serum Interleukin-6 and C-Reactive Protein in Healthy Men, *American Journal of Cardiology*, **95**: 1258-1260.

Chironi GN, Boulanger CM, Simon A, Dignat-George F, Freyssinet J, Tedgui A, 2009, Endothelial Microparticles in Diseases, *Cell Tissue Research*, **335**: 143-151.

Chou J, Mackman N, Merrill-Skoloff G, Pedersen B, Furie BC, Furie B, 2004, Hematopoietic Cell-Derived Microparticle Tissue Factor Contributes to Fibrin Formation During Thrombus Propogation, *Blood*, **104**: 3190-3197.

Chu AJ, 2011, Tissue Factor, Blood Coagulation and Beyond: An Overview, International Journal of Inflammation, 2011: 367284.

Cinel I, Dellinger RP, 2007, Advances in Pathogenesis and Management of Sepsis, *Current Opinion in Infectious Diseases*, **20:** 345-352.

Cleator JH, Vaughan DE, 2008, Clinical Implications of the Contrasting Effects of *In Vivo* Thrombin Receptor Activation (Protease-Activated Receptor Type 1) on the Human Vasculature, *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, **51:** 1757-1759.

Cleator JH, Zhu WQ, Vaughan DE, Hamm HE, 2006, Differential Regulation of Endothelial Exocytosis of P-Selectin and Von Willebrand Factor by Protease-Activated Receptors and cAMP, *Blood*, **107:** 2736-2744.

Cohen S, Bigazzi PE, Yoshida T, 1974, Similarities in T Cell Function in Cell Mediated Immunity and Antibody Production, *Cellular Immunology*, **2:** 150-195.

Coleman ML, Sahai EA, Yeo M, Bosch M, Dewar A, Olson MF, 2001, Membrane Blebbing During Apoptosis Results From Caspase-Mediated Activation of ROCK I, *Nature Cell Biology*, **3:** 339-346.

Collier MEW, Ettelaie C, 2011, Regulation of the Incorporation of Tissue Factor Into Microparticles by Serine Phosphorylation of the Cytoplasmic Domain of Tissue Factor, *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **286:** 11977-11984.

Collison A, Foster PS, Mattes J, 2009, Emerging Role of Tumour Necrosis Factor-Related Apoptosis-Inducing Ligand (TRAIL) as a Key Regulator of Inflammatory Responses, *Clinical and Experimental Pharmacology and Physiology*, **36**: 1049-1053.

Combes V, Simon A, Grau G, Arnoux D, Camoin L, Sabatier F, Mutin M, Sanmarco M, Sampol J, Dignat-George F, 1999, In Vitro Generation of Endothelial Microaprticles and Possible Prothrombotic Activity in Patients with Lupus Anticoagulant, *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, **104:** 93-102.

Conway EM, Rosenberg RD, 1988, Tumor Necrosis Factor Suppresses Transcription of the Thrombomodulin Gene in Endothelial Cells, *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, **8:** 5588-5592.

Coughlin SR, 2000, Thrombin Signalling and Protease-Activated Receptors, *Nature,* **407**: 258-264.

Crawley JTB, Lam JK, Rance JB, Mollica LR, O'Donnell JS, Lane DA, 2005, Proteolytic Inactivation of ADAMTS13 by Thrombin and Plasmin, *Blood*, **105**: 1085-1093.

Creutz CE, Tomsig JL, Snyder SL, Gautier M, Skouri F, Beisson J, Cohen J, 1998, The Copines, A Novel Class of C2 Domain-Containing, Calcium-Dependent, Phospholioid-Binding Proteins Conserved from Paramecium to Humans, *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **273:** 1393-1402.

Cuccuini W, Poitevin S, Poitevin G, Dignat-George F, Cornillet-lefebvre P, Sabatier F, Nguyen P, 2010, Tissue Factor Up-Regulation in Proinflammatory Conditions Confers Thrombin Generation Capacity to Endothelial Colony-Forming Cells Without Influencing Non-Coagulant Properties *In Vitro, Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis*, **8:** 2042-2052.

Cunningham CC, 1995, Actin Polymerization and Intracellular Solvent Flow in Cell Surface Blebbing, *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 129: 1589-1599.

Curtis AM, Wilkinson PF, Gui M, Gales TL, Hu E, Edelberg JM, 2009, P38 Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase Targets the Production of Proinflammatory Endothelial Microparticles, *Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis*, **7**: 701-709.

Daleke DL, 2003, Regulation of Transbilayer Plasma Membrane phospholipid asymmetry, *Journal of Lipid research*, **44:** 233-242.

Danese S, Vetrano S, Zhang L, Poplis VA, Castellino FJ, 2010, The Protein C Pathway in Tissue Inflammation and Injury: Pathogenic Role and Therapeutic Implications, *Blood*, **115**: 1121-1130.

De Mast Q, Groot E, Asih PB, Syafruddin D, Oosting M, Sebastian S, Ferwerda B, Netea MG, de Groot PG, van der Ven AJAM, Fijnheer R, 2009, ADAMTS13 Deficiency With Elevated Levels of Ultra-Large and Active Von Willebrand Factor in *P.falciparum* and *P.vivax* Malaria, *The American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, **80:** 492-498.

Delacroix S, Simari RD, 2012, Tissue Factor-Thrombin-PAR-1 Pathway: A Novel Link Between Bone Marrow and Blood Vessels, *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis and Vascular Biology, Journal of American Heart Association,* **32:** 3-4.

Dennen P, Altmann C, Kaufman J, Klein CL, Andres-Hernando A, Ahuja NH, Edelstein CL, Cadnapphornchai MA, Keniston A, Faubel S, 2010, Urine Interleukin-6 is an Early Biomarker of Acute Kidney Injury in Children Undergoing Cardiac Surgery, *Critical Care*, 14: R181.

DelGiudice LA, White GA, 2009, The Role of Tissue Factor and Tissue Factor Pathway Inhibitor in Health and Disease States, *Journal of Veterinary Emergency and Critical Care,* **19:** 23-29.

Deregibus MC, Cantaluppi V, Calogero R, Lo Iacono M, Tetta C, Biancone L, Bruno S, Bussolati B, Camussi G, 2007, Endothelial Progenitor Cell-Derived Microvesicles Activate an Angiogenic Program in Endothelial Cells by Horizontal Transfer of mRNA, *Blood*, **110**: 2440-2448.

Diehl P, Fricke A, Sander L, Stamm J, Bassler N, Htun N, Helbing T, El-Osta A, Jowett JBM, Peter K, 2012, Microparticles: Major Transport Vehicles for Distinct MicroRNAs in Circulation, Cardiovascular Research Advance Access, 93: 633-644.

Diehl P, Nagy F, Sossong V, Helbing T, Beyersdorf F, Olschewski M, Bode C, Moser M, 2008, Increased Levels of Circulating Microparticles in Patients with Severe Aortic Valve Stenosis, *The Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis*, **99:** 711-719.

Dignat-George F, 2008, Microparticles in Vascular Diseases, *Thrombosis Research*, **122:** S55-S59.

Dignat-George F, Boulanger CM, 2011, The Many Faces of Endothelial Microparticles, Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis and Vascular Biology, *Journal of the American Heart Association,* **31:** 27-33.

Distler JHW, Huber LC, Gay S, Distler O, Pisetsky DS, 2006, Microparticles as Mediators of Cellular Cross-Talk in Inflammatory Disease, *Autoimmunity*, **39**: 683-690.

DiVietro JA, Smith MJ, Smith BRE, Petruzzelli L, Larson RS, Lawrence MB, 2001, Immobilized IL-8 Triggers Progressive Activation of Neutrophils Rolling *In Vitro* on P-Selectin and Intercellular Adhesion Molecule-I, *The Journal of Immunology*, **167:** 4017-4025.

Djassemi NA, 2012, Tissue Engineering A Blood Vessel Mimic While Monitoring Contamination through Sterility Assurance Testing, Thesis, *California Polytechnic State University*, United States of America.

Doeuvre L, Plawinski L, Toti F, Anglés-Cano E, 2009, Cell-Derived Microparticles: A New Challenge in Neuroscience, *Journal of Neurochemistry*, **110:** 457-468.

Dong JF, 2005, Cleavage of Ultra-Large Von Willebrand Factor by ADAMTS-13 Under Flow Conditions, *Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis*, **3:** 1710-1716.

Dong J, Moake JL, Nolasco L, Bernardo A, Arceneaux W, Shrimpton CN, Schade AJ, McIntyre LV, Fujikawa K, López JA, 2002, ADAMTS-13 Rapidly Cleaves Newly Secreted Ultralarge Von Willebrand Factor Multimers on the Endothelial Surface Under Flowing Conditions, *Blood,* **100**: 4033-4039.

El-Solh AA, Mador MJ, Sikka P, Dhillon RS, Amsterdam D, Grant BJ, 2002, Adhesion Molecules in Patients with Coronary Artery Disease and Moderate-to-Severe Obstructive Sleep Apnea, *Chest*, **121**: 1541-1547.

Englund GD, Bodnar RJ, Li Z, Ruggeri ZM, Du X, 2001, Regulation of Von Willebrand Factor Binding to the Platelet Glycoprotein Ib-IX by Membrane Skeleton-Dependent Inside-Out Signal, *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **276:** 16952-16959.

Erdbruegger U, Grossheim M, Hertel B, Wyss K, Woywodt A, Haller H, Haubitz M, 2008, Diagnostic Role of Endothelial Microparticles in Vasculitis, *Rheumatology*, 47: 1820-1825.

Erickson LA, Hekman CM, Loskutoff DJ, 1985, The Primary Plasminogen-Activator Inhibitors in Endothelial Cells, Platelets, Serum and Plasma are Immunologically Related, *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, **82:** 8710-8714.

Esmon CT, 1987, The Regulation of Natural Anticoagulant Pathways, *Science*, 235: 1348-1352.

Esmon CT, 2005, The Interactions Between Inflammation and Coagulation, *The British Journal of Haematology*, **131:** 417-430.

Esmon CT, Esmon NL, Kurosawa S, Johnson AE, 2006, Interaction of Thrombin with Thrombomodulin, *Annals of New York Acadamy of Sciences*, **485**: 215-220.

Etienne-Manneville S, Mannevile J, Adamson P, Wilbourn B, Greenwood J, Couraud P, 2000, ICAM-1-Coupled Cytoskeletal Rearrangements and Transendothelial Lymphocyte Migration Involve Intracellular Calcium Signalling in Brain Endothelial Cell Lines, *The Journal of Immunology*, **165**: 3375-3383.

Eto M, Barandiér C, Rathgeb L, Kozai T, Joch H, Yang Z, Lüscher TF, 2001, Thrombin Suppresses Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase and Upregulates Endothelin-Converting Enzyme-1 Expression by Distinct Pathways: Role of Rho/ROCK and Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase,, Circulation Research, *Journal of the American Heart Association*, **89**: 583-590.

Faille D, El-Assaad F, Alessi M, Fusai T, Combes V, Grau GE, 2009, Platelet-Endothelial Cell Interactions in Cerebral Malaria: The End of a Cordial Understanding, *Thrombosis and Haemostasis*, **102**: 1093-1102.

Fehrenbach E, Neiss AM, Schlotz E, Passek F, Dickhuth H, Northoff H, 2000, Transcriptional and Translational Regulation of Heat Shock Proteins in Leukocytes of Endurance Runners, *Journal of Applied Physiology*, **89:** 704-710.

Ferry JD, Morrison PR, 1947, Preparation and Properties of Serum and Plasma Proteins. VIII. The Conversion of Human Fibrinogen to Fibrin Under Various Conditions. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, **69:** 388-400.

Fina L, Molgaard HV, Robertson D, Bradley NJ, Monaghan P, Delia D, Sutherland DR, Baker MA, Greaves MF, 1990, Expression of the CD34 Gene in Vascular Endothelial Cells, *Blood*, **75**: 2471-2426.

Finck BK, Chan B, Wofsy D, 1994, Interleukin 6 Promotes Murine Lupus in NZB/NZW F1 Mice, *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 94: 585-591.

Fish RJ, Yang H, Viglino C, Schorer R, Dunoyer-Geindre S, Kruithof EKO, 2007, Fluvastatin Inhibits Regulated Secretion of Endothelial Cell Von Willebrand Factor in Response to Diverse Secretagogues, *Journal of Biochemistry*, **405:** 597-604.

Fisher S, Nishio M, Peters SC, Tschernatsch M, Walberer M, Weidemann S, Heidenreich R, Couraud PO, Weksler BB, Romero IA, Gerriets T, Preissner KT, 2007, Signaling Mechanism of Extracellular RNA in Endothelial Cells, *The Journal of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology*, **23**: 2100-2109.

Flaumenhaft R, 2006, Formation and Fate of Platelet Microparticles, *Blood Cells, Molecules and Diseases*, 36: 182-187.

Fleitas T, Reynes G, Martinez-Sales V, Reganon VVE, Mesado D, Gómex-Codina J, Montalar J, 2011, Circulating Endothelial Cells, Endothelial Progenitor Cells, Microparticles and Markers of Inflammation and Coagulation in Advanced Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer, 2011 *American Society of Clinical Oncology Meeting*, abstract only, *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 29: 7583.

Fonseca JE, Santos MJ, Canhão H, Choy E, 2009, Interleukin-6 As a Key Player in Systemic Inflammation and Joint Destruction, *Autoimmunity Reviews*, 8: 538-542.

Fox EA, Kahn SR, 2005, The Relationship Between Inflammation and Venous Thrombosis, *Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis*, 94: 362-365.

Fox JEB, Austin CD, Reynolds CC, Steffen PK, 1991, Evidence That Agonist-Induced Activation of Calpain Causes the Shedding of Procoagulant-Containing Microvesicles from the Membrane of Aggregating Platelets, *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **266:** 13289-13295.

Freyssinet J, Toti F, 2010, Formation of Procoagulant Microparticles and Properties, *Thrombosis Research*, 125: S46-S48.

Furuta GT, Dzus AL, Taylor CT, Colgan SP, 2000, Parallel Induction of Epithelial Surface-Associated Chemokine and Proteoglycan by Cellular Hypoxia: Implications for Neutrophil Activation, *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, **68**: 251-259.

Gailani D, Broze GJ, 1991, Factor XI Activation in a Revised Model of Blood Coagulation, *Science*, 253: 909-912.

Gallová L, Kubala L, Číž M, Lojek A, 2004, IL-10 Does Not Affect Oxidative Burst and Expression of Selected Surface Antigen on Human Blood Phagocytes *In Vitro*, *Physiological Research*, 53: 199-208.

Gangadharan C, Thoh M, Manna SK, 2010, Late Phase Activation of Nuclear Transcription Factor KappaB by Doxorubicin is Mediated by Interleukin-8 and Induction of Apoptosis Via FasL, *Breast Cancer Research Treatment*, **120**: 671-683.

George JN, Torres MM, 1988, Thrombin Decreases Von Willebrand Factor Binding to Platelet Glycoprotein 1b, *Blood*, 71: 1253-1259.

Gertz K, Kronenberg G, Kälin RE, Baldinger T, Werner C, Balkaya M, Eom GD, Hellmann-Regen J, Kröber J, Miller KR, Lindauer U, Laufs U, Dirnagl U, Heppner FL, Endres M, 2012, Essential Role of Interleukin-6 in Post-Stroke Angiogenesis, Brain, *A Journal of Neurology*, **135**: 1964-1980.

Givtaj N, Bassiri HA, Givtaj N, Behnam BV, 2010, Correlation Between Blood Levels of Adhesion Molecules ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 and Thrombomodulin with Coronary Artery Disease, *Iranian Heart Journal*, **1:** 24-29.

Gonçalves I, Nitolesco M, Saido TC, Dias N, Pedro LM, Fernandes JFE, Ares MPS, Pörn-Ares I, 2009, Activation of Calpain-1 in Human Carotid Artery Atherosclerotic Lesions, *Biomed Central Cardiovascular Disorders*, **9:** 26.

Govindaraju V, Michoud M, Al-Chalabi M, Ferraro P, Powell WS, Martin JG, 2006, Interleukin-8: Novel Roles in Human Airway Smooth Muscle Cell Contraction and Migration, *American Journal of Cellular Physiology*, **291**: C957-C965.

Gregory C, Pound JD, 2011, Cell Death in the Neighbourhood: Direct Microenvironmental Effects of Apoptosis in Normal and Neoplastic Tissues, *Journal of Pathology*, **223:** 117-194.

Guðmundsdóttir IJ, Lang NN, Boon NA, Ludlam CA, Webb DJ, Fox KA, Newby DE, 2008, Role of the Endothelium in the Vascular Effects of the Thrombin Receptor (Protease-Activated Receptor Type 1) In Humans, *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, **51**: 1749-1756.

Hamal KR, Wideman RF, Anthony NB, Erf GF, 2009, Differential Expression of Vasoactive Mediators in Microparticle-Challenged Lungs of Chickens that Differ in Susceptibility to Pulmonary Arterial Hypertention, *American Journal of Physiology – Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, **298:** R235-R242.

Hamilton JR, Frauman AG, Cocks TM, 2001, Increased Expression of Protease-Activated Receptor-2 (PAR-2) and PAR-4 in Human Coronary Artery by Inflammatory Stimuli Unveils Endothelium-Dependent Relaxations to PAR-2 and PAR-4 Agonists, Circulation Research, *The Journal of the American Heart Association*, **89**: 92-98.

Heinrich PC, Castell JV, Andus T, 1990, Interleukin-6 and the Acute Phase Response, *Journal of Biochemistry*, 265: 621-236.

Hill-Eubanks DC, Parker CG, Lollar P, 1989, Differential Proteolytic Activation of Factor VIII-Von Willebrand Factor Complex by Thrombin, *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 86: 6508-6512.

Hjortoe GM, Petersen LC, Albreksten T, Sorensen BB, Norby PL, Mandal SK, Pendurthi UR, Rao LVM, 2004, Tissue factor-Factor VIIa-Specific Up-Regulation of IL-8 Expression in MDA-MB-231 Cells is Mediated by PAR-2 and Results in Increased Cell Migration, *Blood*, **103**: 3029-3037.

Hockin MR, Kalafatis M, Shatos M, Mann KG, 1997, Protein-C Activation and Factor Va Inactivation on Human Umbilical Vein Endothelial Cells, *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis and Vascular Biology*, **17**: 2765-2775.

Howes J, Keen JN, Findlay JBC, Carter AM, 2008, The Application of Proteomics Technology to Thrombosis Research: The Identification of Potential Therapeutic Targets in Cardiovascular Disease, *Diabetes and Vascular Disease Research*, **5**: 205-212.

Hugel B, Martínez MC, Kunzelmann C, Freyssinet J, 2005, Membrane Microparticles: Two Sides of the Coin, *Physiology*, **20**: 22-27.

Huot J, Houle F, Rousseau S, Deschesnes RG, Shah GM, Landry J, 1998, SAPK2/p38-Dependent F-Actin Reorganization Regulates Early Membrane Blebbing During Stress-Induced Apoptosis, *Journal of Cellular Biology*, **143**: 1361-1371.

Hussein AMN, Meesters EW, Osmanovic N, Romijn FP, Niewland R, Sturk A, 2003, Cell-Derived Microparticles Composition and Function, *Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis*, **11**: 2434-2443.

Hussein MNA, 2008, Endothelial Cell-Derived Microparticles, Dissertation, *University of Amsterdam,* The Netherlands.

Hussein MNA, Böing AN, Biró É, Hoek FJ, Vogel GMT, Meuleman DG, Sturk A, Nieuwland R, 2008, Phospholipid Composition of *In Vitro* Endothelial Microparticles and Their *In Vivo* Thrombogenic Properties, *Thrombosis Research*, **121**: 865-871.

Ilan N, Madri JA, 2003, PECAM-1: Old Friend, New Partners, *Current Opinion in Cell Biology*, 15: 515-524.

Jayachandran M, Litwiller RD, Owen WG, Heit JA, Behrenbeck T, Mulvagh SL, Araoz PA, Budoff MJ, Harman SM, Miller VM, 2008, Characterization of Blood Borne Microparticles as Markers of Premature Coronary Calcification in Newly Menopausal Women, *American Journal of Physiological Heart Circulatory Physiology*, **295**: H931-H938.

Jefferson A, Wijesurendra RS, Digby J, McAteer M, Choudhury RP, 2010, Binding Characteristics of Microparticles Targeted to E-Selectin Versus VCAM-1 Under Conditions of Shear Stress: Implications for the Rational Design of Targeted Imaging Agents, Vascular Disease: Biology and Clinical Science Meeting, Abstract only, *Circulation, American Heart Association*, **122**: A12503.

Jimenez JJ, Jy W, Mauro LM, Horstman LL, Ahn YS, 2001, Elevated Endothelial Microparticles in Thrombotic Thrombocytopenic Purpura: Findings from Brain and Renal

Microvascular Cell Culture and Patients with Active Disease, *British Journal of Haematology*, **112:** 81-90.

^aJimenez JJ, Jy W, Mauro LM, Horstman LL, Soderland C, Ahn YS, 2003, Endothelial Microparticles Released in Thrombotic Thrombocytopenic Purpura Express Von Willebrand Factor and Markers of Endothelial Activation, *British Journal of Haematology*, **123**: 896-902.

^bJimenez JJ, Jy W, Mauro LM, Soderland C, Horstman LL, Ahn YS, 2003, Endothelial Cells Release Phenotypically and Quantitatively Distinct Microparticles in Activation and Apoptosis, *Thrombosis Research*, **109**: 175-180.

Johnson C, Telen MJ, 2008, Adhesion Molecules and Hydroxyurea in Pathophysiology of Sickle Cell Disease, *Haemotologica*, 93: 481-485.

Jones SA, Horiuchi S, Topley N, Yamamoto N, Fuller GM, 2001, The Soluble Interleukin 6 Receptor: Mechanisms of Production and Implications in Disease, *The Journal of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology*, **15**: 43-58.

Joop K, Berckmans RJ, Nieuwland R, Berkhout J, Romijn FPHTM, Hack CE, Sturk A, 2001, Microparticles from Patients With Multiple Organ Dysfunction Syndrome and Sepsis Support Coagulation through Multiple Mechanisms, *Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis*, **85**: 810-820.

Jy W, Jimenez JJ, Mauro LM, Horstman LL, Cheng P, Ahn ER, Bidot CJ, Ahn YS, 2005, Endothelial Microparticles Induce Formation of Platelet Aggregates Via a Von Willebrand Factor/Ristocetin Dependent Pathway, Rendering them Resistant to Dissociation, *Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis*, **3**: 1301-1308.

Kalafatis DLM, Mann KG, Long GL, 1996, Comparison of Activated Protein C/Protein S-Mediated Inactivation of Human Factor VIII and Factor Va, *The American Society of Hematology*, 87: 4708-4717.

Kallen K, 2002, The Role of Transsignalling Via the Agonistic Soluble IL-6 Receptor in Human Diseases, *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, **1592**: 323-343.

Kang H, Kwak HI, Kaunas R, Bayless KJ, 2011, Shear Fluid Stress and Spingosine 1-Phosphate Activate Caplain to Promote Membrane Type 1 Matrix Metalloprotease (MT1-MMP) Membrane Translocation and Endothelial Invasion into Three-Dimensional Collagen Matrices, *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **286**: 42017-42026.

Karahan ZC, Deda G, Sipahi T, Elhan AH, Akar N, 2005, TNF-α —308G/A and IL-6 —174 G/C Polymorphisms in the Turkish Pediatric Stroke Patients, *Thrombosis Research*, **115**: 393-398.

Kario K, Matsuo T, Kobayashi H, Matsuo M, Sakata T, Miyata T, 1995, Activation of Tissue Factor-Induced Coagulation and Endothelial Cell Dysfunction in Non-Insulin-Dependent Diabetic Patients with Microalbunuria, Arteriosclerosis, *Thrombosis and Vascular Biology*, **15**: 1114-1120.

Kato GJ, Martyr S, Blackwelder WC, Nichols JS, Coles WA, Hunter LA, Brennan M, Hazen SL, Gladwin MT, 2005, Levels of Soluble Endothelium-Derived Adhesion Molecules in Patients with Pulmonary Hypertention, Organ Dysfunction and Mortality, *British Journal of Haematology*, **130**: 943-953.

Keller H, Rentsch P, Hagmann J, 2002, Differences in Cortical Actin Structure and Dynamics Document that Different Types of Blebs are Formed By Distinct Mechanisms, *Experimental Cell Research*, 277: 161-172.

Kim HK, Kim J, Wi HC, Lee SW, Kim JY, Kang HJ, Kim YT, 2008, Aurintricarboxylic Acid Inhibits Endothelial Activation, Complement Activation and Von Willebrand Factor Secresion *In Vitro* and Attenuates Hyperacute Rejection in an *Ex Vivo* Model of Pig-to-Human Pulmonary Xenotransplantation, *Xenotransplantation*, **15**: 246-256.

Kirchhofer D, Tschopp TB, Hadváry P, Baumgartner HR, 1994, Endothelial Cells Stimulated with Tumor Necrosis Factor-α Express Varying Amounts of Tissue Factor Resulting in Inhomogenous Fibrin Deposition in a Native Blood Flow System, *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, **93:** 2073-2038.

Kitchens CS, Erkan D, Brandão LR, Hahn S, James AH, Kulkarni R, Pericak-Vance M, Vance J, Ortel TL, 2011, Thrombotic Storm Revisited: Preliminary Diagnostic Criteria Suggested by the Thrombotic Storm Study Group, *The American Journal of Medicine*, **124**: 290-296.

Klarenbach SW, Chipiuk A, Nelson RC, Hollenberg MD, Murray AG, 2003, Differential Actions of PAR2 and PAR1 in Stimulating Human Endothelial Cell Exocytosis and Permeability: The Role of Rho-GTPases, Circulation Research, *Journal of American Heart Association*, **92**: 272-278.

Kling SJ, Judd CA, Warner KB, Rodgers GM, 2009, Regulation of ADAMTS13 Expression in Proliferating Human Umbilical Vein Endothelial Cells, *Pathophysiology of Haemostasis and Thrombosis*, **36**: 233-240.

Kobayashi M, Wada H, Wakita Y, Shimura M, Nakase T, Hiyoyama K, Nagaya S, Minami N, Nakano T, Shiku H, 1995, Decreased Plasma Tissue Factor Pathway Inhibitor Levels in Patients with Thrombotic Thrombocytopenic Purpura, *Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis*, **73**: 10-14.

Koga H, Sugiyama S, Kugiyama K, Watanabe K, Fukushima H, Tanaka T, Sakamoto T, Yoshimura M, Jinnouchi H, Ogawa H, 2005, Elevated Levels of VE-Cadherin-Positive Endothelial Microparticles in Patients with Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and Coronary Artery Disease, *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, **45**: 1622-1630.

Krizek DR, Rick ME, 2000, A Rapid Method to Visualize von Willebrand Factor Multimers by Using Agarose Gel Electrophoresis, Immunolocalization and Luminographic Detection, *Thrombosis Research*, 457-462.

Kushak RI, Nestoridi E, Lambert J, Selig MK, Ingelfinger JR, Grabowski EF, 2005, Detached Endothelial Cells and Microparticles as Sources of Tissue Factor Activity, *Thrombosis Research*, **116**: 409-419.

Lacroix R, Sabatier F, Mialhe A, Basire A, Pannell R, Borghi H, Robert S, Lamy E, Plawinski L, Camoin-Jau L, Gurewich V, Angles-Cano E, Dignat-George F, 2007, Activation of Plasminogen Into Plasmin at the Surface of Endothelial Microparticles: A Mechanism that Modulates Angiogenic Properties of Endothelial Progenitor Cells *In Vitro*, *Blood*, **110**: 2432-2439.

Lam JK, Chion CKNK, Zanardelli S, Lane DA, Crawley JTB, 2007, Further Characterization of ADAMTS-13 Inactivation by Thrombin, *Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis*, **5**: 1010-1018.

Lane DA, Philippou H, Huntington JA, 2005, Directing Thrombin, Blood, 106: 2605-2612.

Langer F, Morys-Wortmann C, Küsters B, Storck J, 1999, Endothelial Protease-Activated Receptor-2 Induces Tissue Factor Expression and Von Willebrand Factor Release, *British Journal of Haematology*, **105:** 542-550.

Laskowska M, Laskowska K, Leszczyńska-Gorzelak B, Oleszczuk J, 2007, Comparative Analysis of the Maternal and Umbilical Interleukin-8 Levels in Normal Pregnancies and in Pregnancies Complicated by Preeclampsia with Intrauterine Normal Growth and Intrauterine Growth Retardation, *The Journal of Maternal-Fetal and Neonatal Medicine*, **20**: 527-532.

Lawry AS, Albanyan A, Cardigan RA, Mackie IJ, Harrison P, 2009, Microparticle Sizing by Dynamic Light Scattering in Fresh-Frozen Plasma, *Vox Sanguinis*, 96: 206-212.

Lawry AS, Harrison P, Cardigan RA, Mackie IJ, 2008, The Characterisation and Impact of Microparticles on Haemostasis within Fresh Frozen Plasma, *Vox Sanguinis*, 95: 197-204.

Lawson C, Wolf S, 2009, ICAM-1 Signaling in Endothelial Cells, *Pharmacological Reports*, 61: 22-32.

Le DT, Rapaport SI, Rao LVM, 1992, Relations Between Factor VIIa Binding and Expression of Factor VIIa/Tissue Factor Catalytic Activity on Cell Surfaces, *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 267: 15447-15454.

Lee S, Chu K, Jung K, Kim J, Moon H, Bahn J, Im W, Sunwoo J, Moon J, Kim M, Lee SK, Roh J, 2012, Circulating CD62E+ Microparticles and Cardiovascular Outcomes, *Plos One*, **7**: e35713.

Leroyer AS, Anfosso F, Lacroix R, Sabatier F, Simoncini S, Njock SM, Jourde N, Brunet P, Camoin-Jau L, Sampol J, Dignat-George F, 2010, Endothelial-Derived Microparticles: Biological Conveyors at the Crossroad of Inflammation, Thrombosis and Angiogenesis, *Thrombosis and Haemostasis*, **104**: 456-463.

Leroyer AS, Ebrahimian TG, Cochain C, Récalde A, Blanc-Brude O, Mees B, Vilar J, Tedgui A, Levy BI, Chimini G, Boulanger CM, Silvestre J, 2009, Microparticles From Ischemic Muscle Promotes Postnatal Vasculogenesis, *Circulation, Journal of the American Heart Association*, **119**: 2808-2817.

Lev-Ari A, 2012, An Investigation of the Potential of Circulating Endothelial Progenitor Cells (cEPCs) as a Therapeutic Target for Pharmacological Therapy Design for Cardiovascular Risk Reduction: A New Multimarker Biomarker Discovery, *Accessed 30 August 2012*, <u>http://pharmaceuticalintelligence.com/2012/07/02/macrovascular-disease-therapeutic-potential-of-cepcs-reduction-methods-for-cv-risk/</u>.

Levi M, Van der Poll T, Büller HR, 2004, Bidirectional Relation Between Inflammation and Coagulation, Ciculation, *Journal of the American Heart Association*, 109: 2698-2704.

Lindington EA, Steinberg R, Kinderlerer AR, Landis RC, Ohba M, Samarel A, Haskard DO, Mason JC, 2005, A Role for Protease-Activated Receptor 2 and Protein Kinase Cɛ in Thrombin-Mediated Induction of Decay-Accelerating Factor on Human Endothelial Cells, American Journal of Physiology, *Cellular Physiology*, 289: 1437-1447.

Lip GYH, 2003, The Prothrombotic State in Atrial Fibrillation: The Atrium, The Endothelium ... and Tissue Factor?, *Thrombosis Research*, **111**: 133-135.

Lippens S, Denecker G, Ovaere B, Vandenabeele P, Declercq W, 2005, Death Penalty for Keratinocytes: Apoptosis Versus Cornification, *Cell Death and Differentiation*, **12:** 1497-1508.

Liu F, Huang J, Sadler JE, 2011, Shiga Toxin (Stx)1B and Stx2B Induce Von Willebrand Factor Secretion from Human Umbilical Vein Endothelial Cells Through Different Signaling Pathways, *Blood*, **118**: 3392-3398.

Liu J, Yuan L, Molema G, Regan G, Janes L, Beeler D, Spokes KC, Okada Y, Minami T, Oettgen P, Aird WC, 2012, Vascular Bed-Specific Regulation of the Von Willebrand Factor Promotor in the Heart and Sceletal muscle, *Blood*, **117**: 342-351.

Liu X, Schnellmann, RG, 2003, Calpain Mediates Progressive Plasma Membrane Permeability and Proteolysis of Cytoskeleton-Associated Paxillin, Talin and Vinculin During Renal Cell Death, *The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, **304**: 63-70.

Liu Y, Pelekanakis K, Woolkalis MJ, 2004, Thrombin and Tumour Necrosis Factor α Synergistically Stimulate Tissue Factor Expression in Human Endothelial Cells, *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **279:** 36142-36147.

López JA, Del Conde I, Schrimpton CN, 2005, Receptors, Rafts and Microvesicles in Thrombosis and Inflammation, *Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis*, **3**: 1737-1744.

Lorenzon P, Vecile E, Nardon E, Ferrero E, Harlan JM, Tedesco F, Dobrina A, 1998, Endothelial Cell E- and P-Selectin and Vascular Cell Adhesion Molecule-1 Function as Signaling Receptors, *The Journal of Cell Biology*, **142**: 1381-1391.

Lum H, Roebuck KA, 2001, Oxidant Stress and Endothelial Cell Dysfunction, American Journal of Cell Physiology, 280: C719-C741.

Luu NT, Rahman M, Stone PC, Rainger GE, Nash GB, 2010, Responses of Endothelial Cells From Different Vessels to Inflammatory Cytokines and Shear Stress: Evidence for the Pliability of Endothelial Phenotype, *Journal of Vascular Research*, **47**: 451-461.

Macey MG, Wolf SI, Lawson C, 2010, Microparticle Formation After Exposure of Blood to Activated Endothelium Under Flow, *Journal of the International Society for Advancement of Cytometry*, **77A**: 761-768.

Mallat Z, Benamer H, Hugel B, Benessiano J, Steg PG, Freyssinet J, Tedgui A, 2000, Elevated Levels of Shed Membrane Microparticles with Procoagulant Potential in the Peripheral Circulating Blood of Patients with Acute Coronary Syndromes, *Circulation, Journal of the American Heart Association*, **101**: 841-843.

Małyszko J, Małyszko JS, Hryszko T, Myśliwiec, 2004, Thrombin Activatable Fibrinolysis Inhibitor (TAFI) and Markers of Endothelial Cell Injury in Dialyzed Patients with Diabetic Nephropathy, *Thrombosis and Haemostasis*, **91:** 480-486.

Manno S, Takakuwa Y, Mohandas N., 2002, Identification of a Functional Role for Lipid Asymmetry in Biological Membranes: Phosphatidylserine-Skeletal Protein Interactions Modulate Membrane Stability, *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, **99:** 1943-1948.

Martinez MC, Tual-Shalot S, Leonetti D, Andriantsitohaina R, 2011, Microparticles: Targets and Tools in Cardiovascular Disease, *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences*, **32**: 659-665.

Martorell L, Martínez-González J, Rodríguez C, Gentile M, Calvayrac O, Badimon L, 2008, Thrombin and Protease-Activated Receptors (PAR's) in Atherothrombosis, *Thrombosis and Haemostasis*, 99: 305-315.

Mause SF, Weber C, 2010, Microparticles: Protagonists of a Novel Communication Network for Intercellular Information Exchange, Circulation Research, *Journal of the American Heart Association*, **107**: 1047-1057.

Maya DWM, Mewono L, Nkoma A, Issifou S, Mavoungou E, 2008, Markers of Vascular Endothelial Cell Damage and *P. falciparum* Malaria: Association Between Levels of Both E-Selectin and Thrombomodulin, and Cytokines, Hemoglobin and Clinical Presentation, *European Cytokine Network*, **19:** 123-130.

Mayadas T, Wagner DD, Simpson PJ, 1989, Von Willebrand Factor Biosynthesis and Partitioning Between Constitutive and Regulated Pathways of Secretion After Thrombin Stimulation, *Blood*, **73**: 706-711.

McGuigan AP, Sefton MV, 2007, The Influence of Biomaterials on Endothelial Cell Thrombogenicity, *Biomaterials*, 28: 2547-2571.

McIntyre TM, Prescott SM, Weyrich AS, Zimmerman GA, 2003, Cell-Cell Interactions: Leukocyte-Endothelial Interactions, *Current Opinion in Haematology*, **10**: 150-158.

Meiring SM, Badenhorst PN, Kelderman M, 2005, A Rapid Cost-Effective Method to Visualise Von Willebrand Factor Multimers in Plasma, *South African Medical Technology*, **19:** 15-20.

Meiring SM, Webb M, Goedhals D, Coetzee MJ, Louw VJ, 2011, Thrombotic Potential in HIV and HIV-Associated TTP, *Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis*, 9: S206.

Metcalf DJ, Nightingale TD, Zenner HL, Lui-Roberts WW, Cutler DF, 2011, Formation and Function of Weibel-Palade Bodies, *Journal of Cell Science*, **121**: 19-27.

Miracle CM, 2012, Determining Cell Markers for the Evaluation of HUVEC and HUVSMC Phenotypes on Formalin Fixed, Paraffin Embedded Blood Vessel Mimics, *California Polytechnic State University,* San Luis Obispo.

Montoro-García S, Shantsila E, Marín F, Blann A, Lip GYH, 2011, Circulating Microparticles: New Insights Into the Biochemical Basis of Microparticle Release and Activity, *Basic Research in Cardiology*, **106**: 911-923.

Morange PE, Blankenberg S, Alessi MC, Bickel C, Rupprecht HJ, Schnabel R, Lubos E, Münzel T, Peetz D, Nicaud V, Juhan-Vague I, Tiret L, 2007, Prognostic Value of Plasma Tissue Factor and Tissue Factor Pathway Inhibitor for Cardiovascular Death in Patients with Coronary Artery Disease: The Athero*Gene* Study, *Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis*, **5**: 475-482.

Morel O, Jesel L, Freyssinet J, Toti F, 2011, ATVB In Focus: Cellular Mechanisms Underlying the Formation of Circulating Microparticles, *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis and Vascular Biology*, **31**: 15-25.

Morel O, Pereira B, Averous G, Faure A, Jesel L, Germain P, Gunebaum L, Ohlmann P, Freyssinet J, Bareiss P, Toti F, 2008, Increased Levels of Procoagulant Tissue Factor-Bearing Microparticles Within the Occluded Coronary Artery of Patients with ST-Segment Elevation Myocardial Infarction: Role of Endothelial Damage and Leukocyte Activation, *Atherosclerosis*, 204: 636-641.

Morel O, Toti F, Morel N, Freyssinet J, 2009, Microparticles in Endothelial Cell and Vascular Homeostasis: Are They Really Noxious?, *Haematologica*, 94: 313-317.

Mosnier LO, Griffin JH, 2003, Inhibition of Staurosporine-Induced Apoptosis of Endothelial Cells by Activated Protein C Requires Protease-Activated Receptor-1 and Endothelial Cell Protein C Receptor, *Journal of Biochemistry*, **373:** 65-70.

Müller AM, Hermanns MI, Skrzynski C, Nesslinger M, Müller K, Kirkpatrick CJ, 2002, Expression of the Endothelial Markers PECAM-1, VWF, and CD34 *In Vivo* and *In Vitro*, *Experimental and Molecular Pathology*, **72**: 221-229.

Mutlu GM, Green D, Bellmeyer A, Baker CM, Burgess Z, Rajamannan N, Christman JW, Foiles N, Kamp DW, Ghio AJ, Chandel NS, Dean DA, Sznajder JI, Budinger GRS, 2007, Ambient Particulate Matter Accelerates Coagulation Via an IL-6-Dependent Pathway, *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, **117:** 2952-2961.

Nakasaki T, Wada H, Watanabe R, Mori Y, Gabazza EC, Kageyama S, Nishikawa M, Shiku H, 2000, Elevated Tissue Factor Levels in Leukemic Cell Homogenate, *Clinical and Applied Thrombosis/Hemostasis*, 6: 14-17.

Natorska J, Bykowska K, Hlawaty M, Marek G, Sadowski J, Undas A, 2011, Increased Thrombin Generation and Platelet Activation are Associated with Deficiency in High Molecular Weight Multimers of Von Willebrand Factor in Patients with Moderate-To-Severe Aortic Stenosis, *Heart and Education in Heart*, **97**: 2023-2028.

Navasiolava NM, Dignat-George F, Sabatier F, Larina IM, Demiot C, Fortrat J, Gauquelin-Koch G, Kozlovskaya IB, Custaud M, 2010, Enforced Physical Inactivity Increases Endothelial Microparticle Levels in Healthy Volunteers, American Journal of Physiology, *Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 299: H248-H256.

Nechemia-Arbely Y, Barkan D, Pizof G, Shriki A, Rose-John S, Galun E, Axelrod JH, 2007, IL-6/IL-6R Axis Plays a Critical Role in Acute Kidney Injury, *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology*, **19**: 1106-1115

Nesheim M, 2003, Thrombin and Fibrinolysis, Chest, 124: 33S-39S.

Nestoridi E, Kushak RI, Duguerre D, Grabowski EF, Ingelfinger JR, 2005, Up-Regulation of Tissue Factor Activity on Human Proximal Tubular Epithelial Cells in Response to Shiga Toxin, *Kidney International*, **67**: 2254-2266.

Neumann FJ, Ott I, Marx N, Luther T, Kenngott S, Gawas M, Kotzsch M, Schömig A, 1997, Effect of Human Recombinant Interleukin-6 and Interleukin-8 on Monocyte Procoagulant Activity, *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis and Vascular Biology*, **17**: 3399-3405.

Nguyen DB, 2010, Phosphatidylserine Exposure in Red Blood Cells: A Suggestion for the Active Role of Red Blood Cells in Clot Formation, Dissertation, *University of Saarlandes*, Germany.

Nguyen TC, Carcillo JA, 2006, Bench-To-Bedside Review: Thrombocytopenia-Associated Multiple Organ Failure – A Newly Appreciated Syndrome in the Critically III, *Critical Care*, **10**: 235.

Nolasco LH, Turner NA, Bernardo A, Tao Z, Cleary TG, Dong J, Moake JL, 2005, Hemolytic Uremic Syndrome-Associated Shiga Toxins Promote Endothelial-Cell Secretion and Impair ADAMTS13 Cleavage of Unusually Large Von Willebrand Factor Multimers, *Blood*, **106**: 4199-4209.

Nomura S, Ozaki Y, Ikeda Y, 2008, Function and Role of Microparticles in Various Clinical Settings, *Thrombosis Research*, **123:** 8-23.

Norgall S, Papoutsi M, Rössler J, Schweigerer L, Wilting J, Weich HA, 2007, Elevated Expression of VEGFR-3 in Lymphatic Endothelial Cells From Lymphangiomas, *Biomed Central Cancer*, **7**: 105.

Nozaki T, Sugiyama S, Sugamura K, Ohba K, Matsuzawa Y, Konishi M, Akiyama E, Sumida H, Matsui K, Jinnouchi H, Ogawa H, 2010, Prognostic Value of Endothelial Microparticles in Patients with Heart Faillure, *European Journal of Heart Faillure*, **12**: 1223-1228.

Nystedt S, Ramakrishnan V, Sundelin J, 1996, The Protease Activated Receptor- 2 is Induced by Inflammatory Mediators in Human Endothelial Cells, *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **271:** 14910-14915.

O'Brien CD, Lim P, Sun J, Albelda SM, 2003, PECAM-1-Dependent Neutrophil Transmigration is Independent of Monolayer PECAM-1 Signaling or Localization, *Blood*, **101**: 2816-2825.

Okumura N, Koh T, Hasebe Y, Seki T, Ariga T, 2009, A Novel Function of Thrombin-Activatable Fibrinolysis Inhibitor During Rat Liver Regeneration and in Growth-Promoted Hepatocytes in Primaty Culture, *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **284**: 16553-16561.

Orozco AF, Lewis DE, 2010, Flow Cytometric Analysis of Circulating Microparticles in Plasma, *Cytometry*, **77A:** 502-514.

Osborne EA, 2004, Actin Remodeling in Motile Cells, Doctoral thesis, *Harvard University, Institute of Technology,* Massachusetts.

Paulinska P, Spiel A, Jilma B, 2009, Role of Von Willebrand Factor in Vascular Disease, *Hamostaseologie*, 29: 32-38.

Pearce MJ, McIntyre TM, Prescott SM, Zimmerman GA, Whatley RE, 1996, Shear Stress Activates Cytosolic Phospolipase A2 (cPLA2) and MAP Kinase in Human Endothelial Cells, *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications,* **218:** 500-504.

Pérez-Casal M, Downey C, Curtillas-Moreno B, Zuzel M, Fukudome K, Toh CH, 2009, Microparticle-Associated Endothelial Protein C Receptor and the Induction of Cytoprotective and Anti-Inflammatory Effects, *Haematologica*, **94:** 387-394.

Pérez-Casal M, Downey C, Fukudome K, Marx G, Toh CH, 2005, Activated Protein C Induces the Release of Microparticle-Associated Endothelial Protein C Receptor, *Blood,* **105:** 1515-1522.

Pérez-Casal M, Thompson V, Downey C, Welters I, Wyncoll D, Thachil J, Toh CH, 2011, The Clinical and Functional Relevance of Microparticles Induced by Activated Protein C Treatment in Sepsis, *Critical Care*, **15:** R195.

Perrot-Applanat M, Vacher S, Toullec A, Palaez I, Velasco G, Cormier F, Saad HES, Lidereau R, Baud V, Bièche I, 2011, Similar NF- $\kappa\beta$ Signatures in TNF- α Treated Human Endothelial Cells and Breast Tumor Biopsies, *Plos One*, **6**: e21589.

Peters K, Kamp G, Berz A, Unger RE, Barth A, Salamon A, Rychly J, Kirkpatrick JC, 2009, Changes in Human Endothelial Cell Energy Metabolic Capacities During *In Vitro* Cultivation. The Rokle of "Aerobic Glycolysis", *Cellular Physiology and Biochemistry*, 24: 483-492.

Peterson DB, Sander T, Kaul S, Wakim BT, Halligan B, Twigger S, Pritchard KA, Oldham KT, Ou J, 2008, Comparative Proteomic Analysis of PAI-1 and Tumour Necrosis Factor – Alpha-Derived Endothelial Microparticles, *Proteomics*, **8**: 2430-2446.

Petrache I, Verin AD, Crow MT, Birukova A, Liu F, Garcia JGN, 2001, Differential Effect of MLC Kinase in TNF-α-Induced Endothelial Cell Apoptosis and Barrier Dysfunction, *American Journal of Physiology, Lung, Cellular and Molecular Physiology,* **280:** L1168-L1178.

Petreaca ML, Yao M, Liu Y, DeFea K, Martins-Green M, 2007, Transactivation of Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Receptor-2 by Interleukin-8 (IL-8/CXCL8) is Required for IL-8/CXCL8-Induced Endothelial Permeability, *Molecular Biology of the Cell*, **18**: 5014-5023.

Philipova M, Joshi MB, Kyriakakis E, Pfaff D, Erne P, Resink TJ, 2009, A Guide and Guard: The Many Faces of T-Cadherin, *Cellular Signalling*, 21: 1035-1044.

Philipova M, Suter Y, Toggweiler S, Schoenenberger AW, Joshi MB, Kyriakakis E, Erne P, Resink TJ, 2011, T-Cadherin is Present on Endothelial Microparticles and is Elevated in Plasma in Early Atherosclerosis, *European Heart Journal*, **32**: 760-771.

Piccin A, Murphy WG, Smith OP, 2007, Circulating Microparticles: Pathophysiology and Clinical Implications, *Blood Reviews*, **21:** 157-171.

Pisetsky DS, Gauley J, Ullal AJ, 2011, Microparticles as a Source of Extracellular DNA, *Immunology Research*, **49:** 227-234.

Pober JS, 2002, Endothelial Activation: Intracellular Signaling Pathways, *Arthritis Research,* **4:** S109-S116.

Privatsky JR, Newman DK, Newman PJ, 2010, PECAM-1: Conflicts of Interest in Inflammation, *Life Sciences*, 87: 69-82.

Qian J, Lu S, Zhao Y, Lu J, 2011, Expression Patterns of Von Willebrand Factor and Serum Interleukin-8 in Patients with Early-Stage Severe Pulmonary Contusion, *World Journal of Emergency Medicine*, **2**: 122-126.

Ramkhelawon B, Lehoux S, Devue C, Rautau PE, Tedgui A, Boulanger C, 2009, Shear Stress Modulates Endothelial Microparticle Shedding, abstract only, *Archives of Cardiovascular Diseases*, **102**: S48.

Ratajczak J, Miekus K, Kucia M, Zhang J, Reca R Ratajczak MZ., 2006, Embryonic Stem Cell-Derived Microvesicles Reprogram Hematopoietic Progenitors: Evidence for Horizontal Transfer of mRNA and Protein Delivery, *Leukemia*, 20: 847-856.

Regina S, Valentin J, Lachot S, Lemarié E, Rollin J, Gruel Y, 2009, Increased Tissue Factor Expression is Associated with Reduced Survival in Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer and with Mutations of TP53 and PTEN, *Clinical Chemisty*, **55**: 1834-1842.

Richardson M, Tinlin S, De Reske M, Webster S, Senis Y, Giles AR, 1994, Morphological Alterations in Endothelial Cells Associated with the Release of Von Willebrand Factor After Thrombin Generation *In Vivo, Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis and Vascular Biology*, **14:** 990-999.

Riewald M, Ruf W, 2001, Mechanistic Coupling of Protease Signaling and Initiation of Coagulation by Tissue Factor, *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, **98**: 7742-7747.

Riewald M, Ruf W, 2005, Protease- Activated Receptor-1 Signaling by Activated Protein C in Cytokine-Perturbed Endothelial Cells is Distinct from Thrombin Signaling, *the Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **280:** 19808-19814.

Robert S, Poncelet P, Lacroix R, Arnaud L, Giraudo L, Hauchard A, Sampol J, Dignat-George F, 2008, Standardization of Platelet-Derived Microparticle Counting Using Calibrated Beads and a Cytomics FC500 Routine Flow Cytometer: A First Step Towards Multicentre Studies?, *Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis*, **7**: 190-197.

Romano M, Sironi M, Toniatti C, Polentarutti N, Fruscella P, Ghezzi P, Faggioni R, Luini W, Van Hinsbergh V, Sozzani S, Bussolino F, Poli V, Ciliberto G, Mantovani A, 1997, Role of IL-6 and Its Soluble Receptor in Induction of Chemokines and Leukocyte Recriutment, *Immunity*, 6: 315-325.

Rossaint J, Spelten O, Kassens N, Mueller H, Van Aken H, Singbartl K, Zarbock A, 2011, Acute Loss of Renal Function Abolishes Slow Leukocyte Rolling and Transmigration by Interfering with Intracellular-Signaling Molecules, *Kidney International*, 80: 493-503.

Ruggeri, ZM, 2007, Von Willebrand Factor: Looking Back and Looking Forward, *Thrombosis and Haemostasis*, **98:** 55-62.

Sapet C, Simoncini S, Loroid B, Puthier D, Sampol J, Nguyen C, Dignat-George F, Anfosso F, 2006, Thrombin-Induced Endothelial Microparticle Generation: Identification of a Novel Pathway Involving ROCK-II activation by Caspase-2, *Blood*, **108**: 1868-1876.

Sato M, Suzuki A, Nagata K, Uchiyama S, 2006, Increased Von Willebrand Factor in Acute Stroke Patients with Atrial Fibrillation, *Journal of Stroke and Cerebrovascular Diseases*, 15: 1-7.

Schaphorst KL, Pavalko FM, Patterson CE, Garcia JGN, 1997, Thrombin-Mediated Focal Adhesion Reorganization in Endothelium: Role of Protein Phosphorylation, *American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology*, **17**: 443-455.

Scheller J, Rose-John S, 2006, Interleukin-6 and Its Receptor: From Bench to Bedside, *Medical Microbiology and Immunology*, **195:** 173-183.

Schraufstatter IU, Chung J, Burger M, 2001, IL-8 Activates Endothelial Cell CXCR1 and CXCR2 through Rho and Rac Signaling Pathways, *American Journal of Physiology- Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology*, **280:** L1094-L1103.

Secchiero P, Gonelli A, Carnevale E, Milani D, Pandolfi A, Zella D, Zauli G, 2003, TRAIL Promotes the Survival and Proliferation of Primary Human Vascular Endothelial Cells by Activating the Act and ERK Pathways, Circulation, *Journal of American Heart Association*, **107:** 2250-2256.

Seigneuret M., Zachowski A, Hermann A, Devaux PF, 1984, Asymmetric Lipid Fluidity in Human Erythrocyte Membrane: New Spin-Label Evidence, *Biochemistry*, 23: 4271-4275.

Serda RE, Gu J, Bhavane RC, Liu X, Chiappini C, Decuzzi P, Ferrari M, 2009, The Association of Silicon Microparticles with Endothelial Cells in Drug Delivery to the Vasculature, *Biomaterials*, **30**: 2440-2448.

Shahani T, Lavend'homme R, Luttun A, Saint-Remy J, Peerlinck K, Jacquemin M, 2010, Activation of Human Endothelial Cells from Specific Vascular Beds Induce the Release of a FVIII Storage Pool, *Blood*, 115: 4902-2909.

Sharma A, Satyan A, Sharma JB, 2007, Leptin, IL-10 and Inflammatory Markers (TNF-α, IL-6 and IL-8) in Pre-Eclamptic, Normotensive Pregnant and Healthy Non-Pregnant Women, *American Journal of Reproductive Immunology*, **58**: 21-30.

Shelat SG, Smith P, Zheng XL, 2006, Inhibitory Auto-Antibodies Against ADAMTS-13 in Patients with Thrombotic Thrombocytopenic Purpura Bind ADAMTS-13 Protease and May Accelerate its Clearance *In Vivo*, *Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis*, **4**: 1707-1717.

Shen J, T-To SS, Schrieber L, King NJC, 1997, Early E-Selectin, VCAM-1, ICAM-1 and Late Major Histocompatibility Complex Antigen Induction on Human Endothelial Cells by Flavivirus and Comodulation of Adhesion Molecule Expression by Immune Cytokines, *Journal of Virology*, **71**: 9323-9332.

Shet AS, 2008, Characterizing Blood Microparticles: Technical Aspects and Challenges, Vascular Health and Risk Management, 4: 769-774

Shet AS, Aras O, Gupta K, Hass MJ, Rausch DJ, Saba N, Koopmeiners L, Key NS, Hebbel RP, 2003, Sickle Blood Contains Tissue Factor-Positive Microparticles Derived from Endothelial Cells and Monocytes, *Blood*, **102**: 2678-2683.

Siller-Matula JM, Schwameis M, Blann A, Mannhalter C, Jilma B, 2011, Thrombin as a Multi-functional Enzyme, *Thrombosis and Haemostasis*, **106**: 1020-1033.

Simak J, Gelderman MP, 2006, Cell Membrane Microparticles in Blood and Blood Products: Potentially Pathogenic Agents and Diagnostic Markers, *Transfusion Medicine Reviews*, **20:** 1-26.

Simak J, Gelderman MP, Yu H, Wright V, Baird AE, 2006, Circulating Endothelial Microparticles in Acute Ischemic Stroke: A Link to Severity, Lesion Volume and Outcome, *Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis*, **4**: 1296-1302.

Simak J, Holada K, Risistano AM, Zivny JH, Young NS, Vostal JG, 2004, Elevated Circulating Endothelial Membrane Microparticles in Peroxysomal Nocturnal Haemoglobinuria, *British Journal of Haematology*, **125**: 804-831.

Šimák J, Holada K, Vostal JG, 2002, Release of Annexin V-Binding Membrane Microparticles from Cultured Human Umbilical Vein Endothelial Cells After Treatment with Camptothecin, *BioMed Central Cell Biology, accessed 13 August 2012,* <u>http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2121/3/11</u>.

Simoncini S, Njock M, Robert S, Camoin-Jau L, Sampol J, Harlé J, Nguyen C, Dignat-George F, Anfosso F, 2009, TRAIL/Apo2L Mediates the Release of Procoagulant Endothelial Microparticles Induced by Thrombin *In Vitro*: A Potential Mechanism Linking Inflammation and Coagulation, Circulation Research, *The Journal of the American Heart Association*, **104**: 943-951.

Smith MA, Schnellmann RG, 2012, Calpains, Mitochondria and Apoptosis, Cardiovascular Research, *accessed 1 August 2012*, <u>http://cardiovascres.oxfordjournals.org</u>.

Smith SA, 2009, The Cell-Based Model of Coagulation, *Journal of Veterinary Emergency* and Critical Care, 19: 3-10.

Sprague AH, Khalil RA, 2009, Inflammatory Cytokines in Vascular Dysfunction and Vascular Disease, *Biochemical Pharmacology*, **78:** 539-552.

Stearns-Kurosawa DJ, Kurosawa S, Mollica JS, Ferrell GL, Esmon CT, 1996, The Endothelial Cell Protein C Receptor Augments Protein C Activation by the Thrombin-Thrombomodulin Complex, *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, **93:** 10212-10216.

Stefanescu R, Bassett D, Modarresi R, Santiago F, Fakruddin M, Laurence J, 2008, Synergistic Interactions Between Interferon-y and TRIAL Modulate c-FLIP in Endothelial Cells, Mediating their Lineage-Specific Sensitivity to Thrombotic Thrombocytopenic Purpura Plasma-Associated Apoptosis, *Blood*, **112**: 340-349.

Stepanian A, Cohen-Moatti M, Sanglier T, Legendre P, Ameziane N, Tsatsaris V, Mandelbrot L, De Prost D, Veyradier A, 2011, Von Willebrand Factor and ADAMTS-13: A Candidate Couple for Preeclampsia Pathophysiology, Atherosclerosis, Thrombosis and Vascular Biology, *Journal of the American Heart Association*, **31**: 1703-1709.

Storck J, Zimmermann ER, 1996, Regulation of the Thrombin Receptor Response in Human Endothelial Cells, *Thrombosis Research*, **81:** 121-131.

Street CA, Bryan BA, 2011, Rho Kinase Proteins – Pleiotropic Modulators of Cell Survival and Apoptosis, *Anticancer Research*, **31:** 3645-3657.

Suarez Y, Wang C, Manes TD, Pober JS, 2010, Cutting-Edge: TNF-Induced Micro RNAs Regulate TNF-Induced Expression of E-Selectin and Intercellular Adhesion Molecule-1 on Human Endothelial Cells: Feedback Control of Inflammation, *The Journal of Immunology*, **184:** 21-25.

Suen JY, Gardiner B, Grimmond S, Fairlie DP, 2010, Profiling Gene Expression Induced by Protease-Activated Receptor 2 (PAR2) Activation in Human Kidney Cells, *PlosOne*, 5: e13809.

Sun J, Li Y, Graziani GM, Filion L, Allan DS, 2013, E-Selectin Mediated Adhesion and Migration of Endothelial Colony Forming Cells is Enhanced by SDF-1α/CXCR4, *Plos One*, **8**: e60890.

Sung H, Yee A, Eskin SG, McIntyre LV, 2007, Cyclic Strain and Motion Control Produce Opposite Oxidative Responses in Two Human Endothelial Cell Types, *American Journal of Physiology*, 293: C87-C94.

Szotowski B, Antoniak S, Poller W, Schultheiss H, Rauch U, 2005, Procoagulant Soluble Tissue Factor is Released from Endothelial Cells in Response to Inflammatory Cytokines, Circulation Research, *Journal of the American Heart Association*, **96**: 1233-1239.

Takahashi K, Sawasaki Y, Hata J, Mukai K, Goto T, 1990, Spontaneous Transformation and Immortalization of Human Endothelial Cells, *In Vitro Cellular and Developmental Biology*, **25**: 265-274.

Taraboletti G, D'Ascenzo S, Borsotti P, Giavazzi R, Pavan A, Dolo V, 2002, Shedding of the Matrix Metalloproteinases MMP-2, MMP-9 and MT1-MMP as Membrane Vesicle-Associated Components by Endothelial Cells, *American Journal of Pathology*, **160**: 673-680.

Tayal V, Kalra BS, 2008, Cytokines and Anti-Cytokines as Therapeutics, *European Journal of Pharmacology*, **579:** 1-12.

Teysseire N, Arnoux D, George F, Sampol J, Raoult D, 1992, Von Willebrand Factor Release and Thrombomodulin and Tissue Factor Expression in *Rekettsia conorii* –Infected Endothelial Cells, *Infection and Immunity*, **60**: 4388-4393.

Thiyagarajan M, Cheng T, Zlokovic BV, 2007, Endothelial Cell Protein C Receptor: Role Beyond Endothelium?, Circulation Research, *Journal of the American Heart Association*, 100: 155-157.

Tramontano AF, O'Leary J, Black AD, Muniyappa R, Cutaia MV, El-Sherif N, 2004, Statin Decreases Endothelial Microparticle Release from Human Coronary Artery Endothelial Cells: Implication for the Rho-Kinase Pathway, *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, **320**: 34-38.

Trummer A, Birschmann I, Werwitzke S, Ganser A, Tiede A, 2011, Endothelial Microparticles Improve Primary and Secondary Hemostasis in Patients with Von-Willebrand Disease, *American Society of Haematology Annual Meeting and Exposition,* Abstract only, *American Society of Heamatology,* S2287.

Tsai AW, Cushman M, Rosamond WD, Heckbert SR, Tracy RP, Aleksic N, Folsom AR, 2002, Coagulation Factors, Inflammation Markers and, Venous Thromboembolism: The Longitudinal Investigation of Thromboembolism Etiology (LITE), *American Journal of Medicine*, **113**: 636-642.

Turner N, Nolasco L, Tao Z, Dong JF, Moake J, 2006, Human Endothelial Cells Synthesise and Release ADAMTS-13, *Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis*, **4:** 1396-1404.

Tushuizen ME, Diamant M, Sturk A, Nieuwland R, 2011, Cell-Derived Microparticles in the Pathogenesis of Cardiovascular Disease: Friend or Foe?, Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis and Vascular Biology, *Journal of the American Heart Association*, **31:** 4-9.

Urbanija J, Tomšič N, Lokar M, Ambrožič A, Cučnik S, Rozman B, Kandušer M, Iglič A,Krajl-Iglič V, 2007, Coalescence of Phospholipid Membranes as a Possible Origin of Anicoagulant Effect of Serum Proteins, *Chemistry and Physics of Lipids*, **150**: 49-57.

Utgaard JO, Jahnsen FL, Bakka A, Brandtzaeg P, Haraldsen G. ,1998, Rapid Secretion of Prestored Interleukin 8 from Weibel-Palade Bodies of Microvascular Endothelial Cells, *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, **188**: 1751–1756.

Valentijn KM, Van Driel LF, Mourik MJ, Hendriks G, Arends TJ, Koster AJ, Valentijn JA, 2010, Multigranular Exocytosis of Weibel-Palade Bodies in Vascular Endothelial Cells, *Blood*, **116**: 1807-1816.

Van den Biggelaar M, Bouwens E, Kootstra NA, Hebbel RP, Voorberg J, Mertens K, 2008, Storage and Regulated Secretion of Factor VIII in Blood Outgrowth Endothelial Cells, *Haematologica*, 94: 670-678.

Van der Pol E, Hoekstra AG, Sturk A, Otto C, Van Leeuwen TG, Nieuwland R, 2010, Optical and Non-Optical Methods for Detection and Characterisation of Microparticles and Exosomes, *Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis*, **8**: 2596-2607.

Van der Poll T, 2008, Tissue Factor as an Initiator of Coagulation and Inflammation in the Lung, *Critical Care*, **12:** S3.

Van Nieuw Amerongen GP, Draijer R, Vermeer MA, van Hinsbergh VWM, 1998, Transient and Prolonged Increase in Endothelial Permeability Induced by Histamine and Thrombin: Role of Protein Kinases, Calcium, and Rho A, Circulation Research, *Journal of the American Heart Association*, **83**: 1115-1123.

Van Walraven C, Mamdani M, Cohn A, Katib Y, Walker M, Rodger MA, 2003, Risk of Subsequent Thromboembolism for Patients with Preeclampsia, *British Medical Journal*, **326**: 791-792.

Van Wijk MJ, Nieuwland R, Boer K, Van der Post JAM, Van Bavel E, Sturk A, 2002, Microparticle Subpopulations are Increased in Preeclampsia: Possible Involvement in Vascular Dysfunction?, *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, **187**: 450-456.

Van Wijk MJ, Van Bavel E, Sturk A, Nieuwland R, 2003, Microparticles in Cardiovascular Diseases, *Cardiovascular Research*, **59**: 277-287.

Velzing-Aarts FV, Van der Dijs FPL, Muskiet FAJ, Duits AJ, 2002, High Serum Interleukin-8 Levels in Afro-Caribean Women with Preeclampsia. Relations with Tumour Necrosis Factor-α, Duffy Negative Phenotype and Von Willebrand Factor, American *Journal of Reproductive Immunology*, **48:** 319-322.

Vestweber D, 2008, VE-Cadherin: The Major Endothelial Adhesion Molecule Controlling Cellular Junctions and Blood Vessel Formation, Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis and Vascular Biology, *Journal of the American Heart Association*, **28**: 223-232.

Vince RV, McNaughton LR, Taylor L, Midgley AW, Laden G, Madden LA, 2009, Release of VCAM-1 Associated Endothelial Microparticles Following Stimulated SCUBA Dives, *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, **105**: 507-513.

Vindis C, Elbaz M, Escargueil-Blanc I, Augé N, Heniquez A, Thiers J, Nègre-Salvayre A, Salvayre R, 2005, Two Distinct Calcium-Dependent Mitochondrial Pathways are Involved in Oxidized LDL-Induced Apoptosis, Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis and Vascular Biology, *Journal of the American Heart Association*, **25**: 639-645.

Wada H, Kaneko T, Ohiwa M, Tanigawa M, Tamaki S, Minami M, Takahashi H, Deguchi K, Nakano T, Shirakawa S, 1992, Plasma Cytokine Levels in Thrombotic Thrombocytopenic Purpura, *American Journal of Hematology*, **40**: 167-170.

Wang J, Manly D, Kirchhofer D, Pawlinski R, Mackman N, 2009, Levels of Microparticle Tissue Factor Activity Correlate with Coagulation Activation in Endotoxemic Mice, *Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis*, **7**: 1092-1098.

Wang Y, Gu Y, Zhang Y, Lewis DF, 2004, Evidence of Endothelial Dysfunction in Preeclampsia: Decreased Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase Expression is Associated with Increased Cell Permeability in Endothelial Cells from Preeclampsia, *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, **190**: 817-824.

Wang Y, Jin G, Miao H, Li JYS, Usami S, Chien S, 2005, Integrins regulate VE-Cadherin and Catenins: Dependence of this Regulation on Src but not RAS, *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, **103**: 1774-1779.

Wassmer SC, Moxon CA, Taylor T, Grau GE, Moleyneux ME, Craig AG, 2011, Vascular Endothelial Cells Cultured from Patients with Cerebral or Uncomplicated Malaria Exhibit Differential Reactivity to TNF, *Cellular Microbiology*, **13**: 198-209.

Waxman AB, Mahboubi K, Knickelbein RG, Mantell LL, Manzo N, Pober JS, Elias JA, 2003, Interleukin-11 and Interleukin-6 Protect Cultured Human Endothelial Cells from H₂O₂-Induced Death, *American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology*, **29**: 513-522.

Weerheim AM, Kolb AM, Sturk A, Nieuwland R, 2002, Phospholipid Composition of Cell-Derived Microparticles Determined by One-Dimensional High-Performance Thin-Layer Chromatography, *Analytical Biochemistry*, **302**: 191-198.

Wolf P, 1967, The Nature and Significance of Platelet Products in Human Plasma, *British Journal of Haematology*, 13: 269-288.

Wolff B, Burns AR, Middleton J, Rot A, 1998, Endothelial Cell "Memory" of Inflammatory Stimulation: Human Venular Endothelial Cells Store Interleukin 8 in Weibel-Palade Bodies, *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, **188:** 1757-1762.

Woywodt A, Kirsch T, Haubitz M, 2008, Circulating Endothelial Cells in Renal Disease: Markers and Mediators of Vascular Damage, *Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation*, **1:** 7-10.

Xiaoyong Q, Yingxin P, Jian G, Shuren L, Shiling Z, Jianqing Z, Tianhong W, 2002, Inflammatory Cytokine Release in Patients with Unstable Angina After Coronary Angioplasty, *Japanese Heart Journal*, **43**: 103-15.

Xu J, Tseng Y, Wirtz D, 2000, Strain Hardening of Actin Filament Networks, Regulation by the Dynamic Cross-Linking Protein, α-Actinin, *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **275:** 35886-35892.

Yamashita A, Sumi T, Goto S, Hoshiba Y, Nishihira K, Kawamoto R, Hatakeyama K, Date H, Imamura T, Ogawa H, Asada Y, 2006, Detection of Von Willebrand Factor and Tissue Factor in Platelets-Fibrin Rich Coronary Thrombi in Acute Myocardial Infarction, *American Journal of Cardiology*, **97**: 26-28.

Yong PJA, Koh CH, Shim WSN, 2013, Endothelial Mcroparticles: Missing Link in Endothelial Dysfunction?, *European Journal of Preventive Cardiology*, 20: 496.

Yoon B, Choi N, Lee H, Cho K, Roh H, 2010, Induction of Interleukin-8 from Nasal Epithelial Cells During Bacterial Infection: The Role of IL-8 for Neutrophil Recruitment in Chronic Rhinosinusitus, *Mediators of Inflammation*, **2010**: 813610.

Yoshimura T, Matsushima K, Oppenheim JJ, Leonard EJ, 1987, Neutrophil Chemotactic Factor Produced by Lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-Stimulated Human Blood Mononuclear Leukocytes: Partial Characterization and Separation from Interleukin1 (IL 1), *The Journal of Immunology*, **139**: 788-793.

Yuan L, Nikolova-Krstevski V, Zhan Y, Kondo M, Bhasin M, Varghese L, Yano K, Carman CV, Aird WC, Oettgen P, 2009, Antiinflammatory Effects of the ETS Factor ERG in Endothelial Cells are Mediated Through Transcriptional Repression of the Interleukin-8 Gene, Circulation Research, *Journal of the American Heart Association*, **104**: 1049-1057.

Zampetaki A, Kiechl S, Drozdov I, Willeit P, Mayr U, Prokopi M, Mayr A, Wegel S Oberhollenzer F, Bonora E, Shah A, Willeit J, Mayr M, 2010, Plasma MicroRNA Profiling Reveals Loss of Endothelial MiR-126 and Other MicroRNA's in Type 2 Diabetes, Circulation Research, *Journal of the American Heart Association*, **107**: 810-817.

Zhang J, DeFeliceAF, Hanig JP, Colatsky T, 2010, Biomarkers of Endothelial Cell Activation Serve as Potential Surrogate Markers for Drug-Induced Vascular Injury, *Toxicologic Pathology*, **38**: 856-871.

Zhang W, Liu J, Sun R, Zhao L, Du J, Ruan C, Dai K, 2011, Calpain Activator Dibucaine Induces Platelet Apoptosis, *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, **12**: 2125-2137.

Zhao R, Chen X, Yao Q, Chen C, 2005, TNF-α Induces Interleukin-8 and Endothelin-1 Expression in Human Endothelial Cells with Different Redox Pathways, *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, **327**: 985-992.

Zhou Q, Zhao Y, Xu C, Yu Z, Yao D, Gao Y, Ruan C, 1992, Increase in Plasma Thrombomodulin and Decrease in Plasma Von Willebrand Factor After Regular Radiotherapy of Patients with Cancer, *Thrombosis Research*, **68**: 109-118.

Zhou C, Chen H, Lu F, Sellak H, Daigle JA, Alexeyef MF, Xi Y, Ju J, van Mourik JA, Wu S, 2007, Cav3.1 (a1G) Controls Von Willebrand Factor Secretion in Rat Pulmonary Microvascular Endothelial cells, *The American Journal of Lung Cell and Molecular Physiology*, 292: L833-844

Addendum

Measurement of relative endothelial microparticle numbers after stimulation of HUVEC's with inflammatory/coagulation agents

| | Repe | at 1 | Repea | at 2 | Repe | at 3 | | | Standard |
|---------------------|-----------|---------|-----------|---------|-----------|---------|---------|--------|-----------|
| _ | untreated | treated | untreated | treated | untreated | treated | r-value | Mean | deviation |
| IL-6 | 540 | 514 | 552 | 653 | 280 | 235 | 0,8475 | -0,863 | 17,521 |
| ΤΝΕ-α | 450 | 828 | 540 | 761 | 411 | 876 | *0,0382 | 79,355 | 36,330 |
| Thrombin | 1139 | 767 | 547 | 768 | 802 | 591 | 0,6197 | -6,189 | 40,474 |
| ΤF | 475 | 618 | 361 | 746 | 367 | 785 | 0,068 | 83,550 | 46,426 |
| TNF-α & thrombin | 773 | 672 | 1165 | 957 | 573 | 587 | 0,2648 | -9,492 | 10,610 |
| TNF-α & TF | 534 | 642 | 831 | 1301 | 342 | 762 | 0,099 | 66,530 | 52,013 |





SS INT

SS INT

SS INT

SS INT

SS INT

SS INT

10

The SS vs. FS dot-plot for Thrombin control HUVEC The SS vs. FS dot-plot for Thrombin treated HUVEC





The SS vs. FS dot-plot for TNF α & TF control HUVEC

SS INT

SS INT

Measurement of VWF levels in microparticles after stimulation of HUVEC's with Inflammatory/ coagulation agents

| | | | | Number o | f repeats | | | | | | - |
|-----------------------|-----------|---------|-----------|----------|-----------|---------|-----------|---------|---------|---------|----------|
| Treatment | Run | 1 | Run | 2 | Run | 3 | Run | 4 | P-value | Mean | Standard |
| | untreated | treated | untreated | treated | untreated | treated | untreated | treated | | | |
| IL6 | 0,139 | 0,262 | 0,537 | 0,231 | 0,211 | 0 | 0,418 | 0 | 0,1801 | -42,100 | 89,405 |
| TNF vial A | 1,325 | 2,143 | 2,219 | 2,601 | 4,764 | 6,049 | 0,035 | 7,954 | 0 0522 | 51 800 | 38 137 |
| TNF vial B | 0,446 | 3,903 | 2,066 | 4,159 | | | | | 0,0322 | 000,10 | 201,00 |
| thrombin | 1,099 | 0,477 | 0,984 | 0,867 | 0,176 | 0,141 | 0,141 | 0,070 | 0,2232 | -34,700 | 22,093 |
| ΤF | 0,778 | 1,571 | 0,925 | 1,241 | 0,211 | 1,132 | 0,280 | 1,421 | 0,0199* | 312,900 | 151,916 |
| TNF vial A | | | | | | | | | | | |
| A H H H H | | | | | | | | | | | |
| I nrombin | 2,041 | 2,194 | 3,736 | 2,96 | 5,836 | 3,071 | 6,401 | 3,134 | 0 0775 | -27 200 | 38,537 |
| TNF vial B | | | | | | | | | 0 | 20,20 | 50,00 |
| જ | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Thrombin | 2,601 | 0,598 | 1,463 | 1,834 | | | | | | | |
| TNF vial A | | | | | | | | | | | |
| & TF | 0,718 | 1,597 | 1,27 | 3,847 | 0,682 | 2,277 | 0,809 | 2,216 | 0.0016* | | E7 0E7 |
| TNF vial B | | | | | | | | | 0,00,0 | 100,402 | 100,10 |
| & TF | 0,778 | 1,782 | 0,658 | 2,423 | | | | | | | |
| IL-8 | | | | | 0,28 | 0,552 | 0,418 | 0,485 | 0,3462 | 56,644 | 57,357 |
| Thrombin | | | | | | | | | | | |
| & IL-8 | | | | | 1,727 | 2,399 | 1,793 | 2,358 | 0,0549 | 35,211 | 5,233 |
| TF & IL-8 | | | | | 1,16 | 2,459 | 1,372 | 2,419 | 0,0681 | 94,1475 | 25,223 |

*Red indicates noticeable outliers

<u>Measurement of ADAMTS-13 levels in microparticles after stimulation of HUVEC's with Inflammatory/coagulation agents</u> (ng/ml)

| ean Standard deviation | | ,900 26,386 | 97112 8712 | | 800 26,165 | 800 6,306 | | | ,200 Z2,933 | | | ,400 23,203 | ,000 36,933 | |
|------------------------|-----------|-------------|-----------------|-----------------|------------|-----------|---------|---------------|-------------|---------------|-----------------|-----------------|-------------|--------------------|
| P- value | | ,7418 6 | 1 2207 | | ,2748 17 | ,3739 -2 | | | ,3939 12 | | *970 | ,040 19 | ,8702 16 | |
| 5 in Icy | treated | 0,068 0 | 0,065 | > | 0,068 0 | 0,065 0 | | 0,068 | > | | 0,065 | > | 0,066 0 | 0 040 |
| Repeat frequer | untreated | 0,068 | 0,068 | | 0,065 | 0,065 | | 0,068 | | | 0,064 | | 0,064 | |
| 4 in Jcy | treated | 0,586 | 1,500 | | 1,950 | 1,500 | | 1,950 | | | 1,500 | | 1,500 | 061 0 |
| Repeat frequer | untreated | 0,067 | 1,950 | | 1,500 | 1,500 | | 1,950 | | | 1,500 | | 1,720 | υσα ς |
| 3 in Dcy | treated | 0,067 | 1,102 | | 0,331 | 0,396 | | 0 | | | 0 | | 0,826 | 100 0 |
| Repeat frequei | untreated | 0 | 0,331 | | 0,396 | 0,461 | | 0 | | | 0,200 | | 0,524 | 0 161 |
| lm/gn r | treated | 0,205 | 0,390 | 0,465 | 0,427 | 0,242 | | 0,279 | | 0,316 | 0,242 | 0,353 | | |
| Repeat 2 ii | untreated | 0,242 | 0,427 | 0,427 | 0,279 | 0,242 | | 0,353 | | 0,279 | 0,427 | 0,427 | | |
| lm/gn n | treated | 0,279 | 0,205 | 0,279 | 0,242 | 0,353 | | 0,353 | | 0,316 | 0,167 | 0,205 | | |
| Repeat 1 ii | untreated | 0,205 | 0,242 | 0,205 | 0,205 | 0,353 | | 0,279 | | 0,205 | 0,390 | 0,205 | | |
| Treatment | | IL-6 | TNF-α vial A | TNF-α vial B | thrombin | TF | TNF-α A | & Thrombin | TNF-α B | & Thrombin | TNF-α A & TF | TNF-α B & TF | IL-8 | IL-8 & thrombin |

*Red indicates data not used due to limit of detection or noticeable outliers